Exploring Vulnerabilities in Malignant Glioblastoma

Pauliina Filppu

Translational Cancer Medicine Research Program Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Programme in Biomedicine University of Helsinki Finland

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation, to be presented for public discussion with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, in Auditorium 3, Biomedicum Helsinki, on the 13th of December, 2021 at 13 o'clock.

Supervisor

Professor Pirjo Laakkonen Translational Cancer Medicine Research Program, Faculty of Medicine, and Laboratory Animal Centre, Helsinki Institute of Life Science (HiLIFE), University of Helsinki, Finland

Reviewers appointed by the Faculty

Professor Anna-Liisa Levonen A.I. Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

PhD, Group Leader, Giorgio Seano Institut Curie Research Center, Paris-Saclay University, PSL Research University, Inserm, Orsay, France

Opponent appointed by the Faculty

PhD, Group Leader, Anna Golebiewska NORLUX Neuro-Oncology Laboratory, Department of Oncology, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

ISBN 978-951-51-7688-2 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-7689-9 (PDF) ISSN 2342-3161 (print) ISSN 2342-317X (online) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi

Dissertationes Scholae Doctoralis Ad Sanitatem Investigandam Universitatis Helsinkiensis

Cover layout by Anita Tienhaara Unigrafia Oy Helsinki 2021

The Faculty of Medicine uses the Urkund system (plagiarism recognition) to examine all doctoral dissertations.

To my family

ABSTRACT

Glioblastoma (GBM), the most common and malignant primary brain tumor in adults, is among the most difficult cancers to treat with a median survival of only 15 months. GBMs are highly complex tumors with several unique features explaining the lack of effective therapies: infiltrative growth of the tumor cells prevents complete surgical removal of the tumor, the blood-brain barrier (BBB) effectively inhibits drug delivery to the tumor site, and identification of subpopulations of glioma stem cells (GSCs) that are an important source of cellular heterogeneity and therapeutic resistance. Novel therapeutic approaches for treatment of these devastating tumors are urgently needed. In this study, we investigated the molecular mechanisms underlying tumor initiation, progression, and therapy resistance of malignant human GBM. We aimed at identifying vulnerabilities that could potentially provide novel therapeutic targets for treatment of GBM. We utilized patient-derived GSC cultures and patient-derived xenograft tumors as models to study GBM.

In the first study, we demonstrated that mammary-derived growth inhibitor (MDGI), also known as heart-type fatty acid binding protein 3 (H-FABP/*FABP3*), was not only highly expressed but also played a significant role in GBM invasion. We identified a novel function for MDGI in maintaining the lysosomal membrane integrity. Unexpectedly, GBM cells were extremely vulnerable to silencing of MDGI expression. We demonstrated that MDGI silencing caused lysosomal membrane permeabilization (LMP), which is an alternative cell death pathway leading to irreversible apoptosis. LMP can be induced by pharmacological agents such as antihistamines. Interestingly, we demonstrated that treatment of patient-derived xenograft tumors with antihistamine clemastine effectively eradicated the invasive tumor cells and prolonged animal survival in a preclinical study in vivo. In the most invasive patient-derived GBM model, treatment with clemastine led to a complete eradication of the tumor. Our results encourage testing clemastine in a clinical trial of patients with GBM.

In the second part of this study, we provided important insight into GSC plasticity driving tumorigenesis and therapy resistance of GBM. We identified a molecular mechanism where CD109 physically interacts with glycoprotein 130 (GP130) to regulate the interleukin-6/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (IL-6/STAT3) signaling pathway. We further demonstrated that the CD109/STAT3 axis was essential for the maintenance of stemness and plasticity of GSCs. When CD109 was silenced, GSCs differentiated into astrocytic-like cells and were unable to dedifferentiate into the stem-like state. Moreover, the CD109/STAT3 axis was needed for the tumorigenicity of patient-derived xenograft models in vivo. Importantly, genetic targeting of CD109 and pharmacologic inhibition of STAT3 both sensitized the GSCs to chemotherapy. These results suggest that therapeutic targeting of CD109/STAT3 axis in combination with chemotherapy might potentially increase the effect of chemotherapy in patients with GBM and help to overcome the therapy resistance. This study provides important insight into novel disease mechanisms with potential therapeutic implications for GBM patients.

TIIVISTELMÄ

Glioblastooma on aikuisten yleisin ja pahanlaatuisin aivokasvain. Nykyisillä hoitomenetelmillä glioblastoomaa ei useimmissa tapauksissa saada parannettua ja potilaiden ennuste on erittäin huono. Glioblastooman huonon ennusteen taustalla vaikuttaa monta eri tekijää. Onnistunut leikkaushoito on hankalaa, koska kasvainsolut tyypillisesti levittäytyvät eli infiltroituvat laajalle alueelle aivoissa. Lisäksi aivoissa oleva veri-aivoeste rajoittaa tehokkaasti monien lääkeaineiden kulkeutumista aivoihin. Glioblastoomissa on myös havaittu olevan kantasoluominaisuuksia omaavia kasvainsoluja. Nämä kantasolujen kaltaiset kasvainsolut ovat plastisia eli mukautuvat mikroympäristöönsä ja ovat tärkeässä osassa kasvaimen heterogeenisyyden ja lääkeresistenttiyden kehittymisessä. Uusien kohdennettujen hoitomenetelmien kehittäminen glioblastoomaan on tärkeää. Tässä tutkimuksessa selvitettiin molekyylitason mekanismeja, jotka edistävät aivokasvainten kasvua, infiltroitumista ja lääkeresistenttiyttä. Tarkoituksena oli löytää uusia haavoittuvuuksia, joita vastaan voitaisiin tulevaisuudessa kehittää kohdennettua hoitoa. Tutkimuksessa hyödynnettiin relevantteja potilaista peräisin olevia solumalleja.

Tutkimuksen ensimmäisessä osassa havaitsimme, että mammary-derived growth inhibitor (MDGI) proteiini, joka tunnetaan myös nimellä heart-type fatty acid binding protein 3 (H-FABP/FABP3), ilmentyy voimakkaasti erityisesti infiltroituvissa aivokasvainsoluissa. MDGI:n hiljentäminen johti yllättäen aivokasvainsolujen kuolemaan. Tutkiessamme solukuolemaan liittyviä molekyylimekanismeja osoitimme, että MDGI:llä on tärkeä rooli lysosomien kalvon rakenteen ylläpitämisessä ja sen läpäisevyyden säätelyssä. MDGI:n hiljentäminen aktivoi lysosomi-välitteisen solukuolemamekanismin aivokasvainsoluissa. Lysosomivälitteinen solukuolema on mahdollista aktivoida myös farmakologisesti. Osoitimme, että aivokasvainsolut olivat herkkiä antihistamiini klemastiinille. Eläinkokeissa klemastiini osoittautui erittäin tehokkaaksi keinoksi päästä eroon infiltroituvista aivokasvainsoluista. Tuloksemme tukevat klemastiinin vaikutuksen tutkimista aivokasvainpotilailla kliinisessä lääketutkimuksessa.

Tutkimuksen toisessa osassa tunnistimme uuden signalointimekanismin, jonka avulla aivokasvainsoluissa ylläpidetään kantasoluominaisuuksia ja plastisuutta. Havaitsimme, että aivokasvainsolujen pinnalla ilmentyvä CD109-proteiini on vuorovaikutuksessa glykoproteiini 130:n (GP130) kanssa ja säätelee interleukiini-6/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (IL-6/STAT3) signalointireitin aktivoitumista. Osoitimme, että CD109:n ilmentymisen hiljentäminen lisäsi aivokasvainsolujen erilaistumista astrosyyttien kaltaisiksi soluiksi, mikä vähensi merkittävästi solujen tuumorigeenisyyttä eläinkokeissa sekä altisti solut kemoterapialle. Tulostemme perusteella CD109/STAT3 signalointireitin estämisellä aivokasvainsoluissa voisi tulevaisuudessa olla mahdollista parantaa aivokasvaimen kemosensitiivisyyttä. Tämä tutkimus on tuonut uutta ymmärrystä aivokasvaimen pahanlaatuisuuteen liittyvistä mekanismeista, jota voidaan mahdollisesti hyödyntää tulevaisuudessa tehokkaampien hoitomuotojen kehityksessä glioblastoomaan.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	
ABBREVIATIONS	9
INTRODUCTION	11
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	12
1. Central nervous system tumors – classification and epidemiology	12
1.1 Gliomas	12
1.2. Other central nervous system tumors	
1.3. Glioblastoma	13
1.3.1. Molecular heterogeneity of glioblastoma	16
2. The microenvironmental landscape of glioblastoma	18
2.1. Brain tumor vasculature and the blood-brain barrier	
2.2. Invasion	20
2.3. Immunosuppression	
2.4. Crosstalk with normal brain cells	
2.4.1. Tumor-associated macrophages.	
2.4.2. Astrocytes	22
2.4.3. Neurons	23
2 Clickle store store all	22
2.1. Identification and anrichment of alichlastome stem calls	
3.1. Identification and enrichment of glioblastoma stem cells	23
2.2. Functional characterization and chinical relevance of gnoolastonia stem cens	
2.4. Models of glieblastoma baterogeneity	23
3.5. Plasticity in glioblastoma stem cell networks	20
5.5. I lasticity in globiastonia stem cen networks	
4. Therapeutic strategies in glioblastoma	29
4.1. Emerging therapies	29
4.1.1. Targeting oncogenic signaling pathways	29
4.1.2. Targeting tumor microenvironment	
4.1.3. Immunotherapy approaches	31
4.2. Drug repurposing	32
4.3. Therapeutic targeting of cancer stem cells	33
5. Experimental models to study glioblastoma	34
6. Novel glioblastoma-associated biomarkers	
6.1. Mammary-derived growth inhibitor	
6.2. CD109	37
AIMS OF THIS STUDY	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	40
1. Materials	40
1.1. Cell lines	40
1.2. Reagents	40
1.3. Lentiviral shRNA-constructs	41
1.4. Antibodies	41
2 Methods	12
2.1 Cell culture (I_II)	۲5 12
2.1. Con culture (1, 11)	·····+J

2.3. Lentiviral-shRNA vectors (I, II)	43
2.4. Western blot analysis (I, II)	44
2.5. Immunoprecipitation (II)	44
2.6. qRT-PCR (I, II)	45
2.7. MTT and drug sensitivity assays (I, II)	45
2.8. Cell viability and apoptosis assays (I, II)	46
2.9. Colony forming assays (I, II)	46
2.10. Immunofluorescence staining of cells (I, II)	47
2.11. Analysis of lysosomal membrane permeabilization (I)	47
2.12. Cytoplasmic cathepsin B activity (I)	47
2.13. Mass spectrometric analysis of lysosomal extracts (I)	48
2.14. 3D fibrin cultures (II)	48
2.15. Immunofluorescence staining of 3D fibrin cultures (II)	48
2.16. Proximity ligation assay (II)	49
2.17. Tumor microarrays (I, II)	49
2.18. Ex vivo organotypic culture (I)	50
2.19. In vivo intracranial xenografts (I, II)	50
2.20. Immunofluorescence staining of xenograft tissue sections (I, II)	51
2.21. RNA sequencing (II).	51
2.22. Ethics statement (I. II)	51
2.23. Statistical analyses (I, II)	52
DEGLI TO AND DISCUSSION	
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	53
1. Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (1, 11)	
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II) MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II) 	53 54
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II) MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II) Targeting lysosomal membrane integrity by antihistamine impairs glioblastoma inva 	53 54 Ision
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II) MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II) Targeting lysosomal membrane integrity by antihistamine impairs glioblastoma inva and prolongs animal survival in a preclinical study (I) 	53 54 ision 55
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II) MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II) Targeting lysosomal membrane integrity by antihistamine impairs glioblastoma inva and prolongs animal survival in a preclinical study (I)	53 54 ision 55 56
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II) MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II) Targeting lysosomal membrane integrity by antihistamine impairs glioblastoma inva and prolongs animal survival in a preclinical study (I)	53 54 ision 55 56 57
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II) MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II) Targeting lysosomal membrane integrity by antihistamine impairs glioblastoma inva and prolongs animal survival in a preclinical study (I)	53 Ision 55 56 57 in the
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II) MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II) Targeting lysosomal membrane integrity by antihistamine impairs glioblastoma inva and prolongs animal survival in a preclinical study (I)	53 54 usion 55 56 57 in the 57
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II) MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II) Targeting lysosomal membrane integrity by antihistamine impairs glioblastoma inva and prolongs animal survival in a preclinical study (I)	53 54 usion 55 56 57 in the 57 57
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II) MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II) Targeting lysosomal membrane integrity by antihistamine impairs glioblastoma inva and prolongs animal survival in a preclinical study (I)	53 ision 55 56 57 in the 57 59 62
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II) MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II) Targeting lysosomal membrane integrity by antihistamine impairs glioblastoma inva and prolongs animal survival in a preclinical study (I)	53 ision 55 56 57 in the 57 59 62 ce
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II) MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II) Targeting lysosomal membrane integrity by antihistamine impairs glioblastoma inva and prolongs animal survival in a preclinical study (I)	sion sion 55 56 57 in the 57 59 62 ce 63
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II)	53 54 ision 55 56 57 in the 57 59 62 ce 63 63
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II)	53 ision 55 56 57 in the 57 59 62 ce 63 64 64
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II)	53 ision 55 56 57 in the 57 59 62 ce 63 64 64 64
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II)	53 54 usion 55 56 57 in the 62 ce 63 64 64 66 64
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II)	53 54 ision 55 56 57 in the 57 59 62 ce 63 64 64 64 64 66 69
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II)	53 54 ision 55 56 57 in the 59 62 ce 63 64 64 64 64 69 69 61
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II)	53 54 ision 55 56 57 in the 57 59 62 ce 64 64 64 66 67
 Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II)	53 54 usion 55 56 57 in the 62 ce 63 64 64 64 64 69 71 73

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications which are referred in the text by their Roman numerals (I, II). Original publications have been reproduced at the end of the thesis with the permission of the copyright holders.

- I Le Joncour V*, Filppu P*, Hyvönen M, Holopainen M, Turunen SP, Sihto H, Burghardt I, Joensuu H, Tynninen O, Jääskeläinen J, Weller M, Lehti K, Käkelä R, and Laakkonen P. Vulnerability of invasive glioblastoma cells to lysosomal membrane destabilization. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2019) 11(6):e9034
- II Filppu P, Tanjore Ramanathan J, Granberg KJ, Gucciardo E, Haapasalo H, Lehti K, Nykter M, Le Joncour V, and Laakkonen P. CD109-GP130 interaction drives glioblastoma stem cell plasticity and chemoresistance through STAT3 activity. JCI Insight (2021) 6(9):e141486

* Equal contribution

ABBREVIATIONS

AC-like	Astrocytic-like cell state
Akt	Protein kinase B
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
CAD	Cationic amphiphilic drug
CL	Classical subtype glioblastoma
CNS	Central nervous system
CSC	Cancer stem cell
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
FA	Fatty acid
FABP3	Fatty acid binding protein 3
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
GBM	Glioblastoma
GEMM	Genetically engineered mouse model
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GP130	Glycoprotein 130
GPI	Glycosylphosphatidylinositol
GSC	Glioma stem cell
H-FABP	Heart-type fatty acid binding protein 3
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
IDH1/2	Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1/2
IL-6	Interleukin 6
JAK	Janus kinase
LMP	Lysosomal membrane permeabilization
MDGI	Mammary-derived growth inhibitor
MES	Mesenchymal subtype glioblastoma
MES-like	Mesenchymal-like cell state
MGMT	O ⁶ -methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase
MUFA	Monounsaturated fatty acid
NF1	Neurofibromin 1
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa B
NPC-like	Neural-progenitor-like cell state
NSC	Neural stem cell
OPC-like	Oligodendrocyte-progenitor-like cell state
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
PDGFRA/B	Platelet derived growth factor receptor alpha/beta
PDX	Patient-derived xenograft
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PLA	Proximity ligation assay
PN	Proneural subtype glioblastoma
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acid

RB1	Retinoblastoma transcriptional corepressor 1
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
TAM	Tumor-associated macrophage
TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas Program
TERT	Telomerase reverse transcriptase
TMZ	Temozolomide
TP53	Tumor protein 53
TTF	Tumor-treating fields
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WHO	World Health Organization

INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a leading cause of death, and the incidence of cancer is rising worldwide. The global cancer statistics estimated that there were 19.3 million new cancer cases and almost 10.0 million cancer deaths worldwide in 2020 (Sung et al., 2021). Among all cancers, brain and nervous system tumors were predicted to account for 1.6% of the number of new cases and 2.5% of the number of deaths (Sung et al., 2021). Although the incidence of malignant primary brain tumors is relatively low, these tumors are among the most difficult cancers to treat (Lapointe et al., 2018). Glioblastoma (GBM) is the most common malignant primary brain tumor in adults with very limited therapeutic options and dismal patient survival (Ostrom et al., 2020).

Over the past decade, GBM has been widely profiled at the molecular level (Verhaak et al., 2010; Brennan et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2017; Neftel et al., 2019). However, this increased understanding of the genomic, epigenetic, and transcriptomic landscapes of GBM has not translated into effective therapies and most targeted therapies have failed to improve patient survival (Le Rhun et al., 2019). Surgery followed by radiotherapy and temozolomide (TMZ) chemotherapy has been the standard of care already since 2005 and the survival of patients remains only about 15 months (Stupp et al., 2005; Stupp et al., 2009).

Novel effective therapies are needed to improve the extremely poor survival of GBM patients. Identification of specific vulnerabilities in tumor cells might provide means for development of more effective therapies in the future. In this study, we investigated the molecular mechanisms underlying GBM invasion and the glioma stem cell (GSC) maintenance, both associated with poor survival and therapy resistance; the invasive tumor cells evade surgical removal, and the plastic GSCs display intrinsic therapy resistance and promote the development of intratumoral heterogeneity (Gimple et al., 2019; Neftel et al., 2019).

We show that the invasive tumor cells were unexpectedly vulnerable to inhibition of their lysosomal membrane integrity. Our preclinical study demonstrated that antihistamine clemastine induced lysosome-mediated cell death and eradicated the invasive tumor cells in vivo. Our results suggest repurposing of clemastine in treatment of GBM. Furthermore, we demonstrate that CD109/STAT3 axis is essential for the maintenance of GSC plasticity, tumorigenicity, and chemoresistance suggesting that therapeutic targeting of CD109/STAT3 axis might improve the efficacy of chemotherapy in GBM patients. Our results provide insight into the molecular mechanisms underlying therapy resistance in GBM.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1. Central nervous system tumors – classification and epidemiology

Primary brain tumors comprise a heterogenous group of tumors arising in the central nervous system (CNS). The annual overall incidence rate in the United States between 2013-2017 for all primary brain and other CNS tumors was 23.79 per 100 000 people and the median age at the time of diagnosis was 60 years (Ostrom et al., 2020). About one third (29.7%) of all primary brain and other CNS tumors were malignant (Ostrom et al., 2020). Meningioma was the most common non-malignant tumor (38.3% of all tumors), whereas glioblastoma (GBM) was the most common malignant brain and other CNS tumor (14.5% of all tumors) (Ostrom et al., 2020).

Primary brain tumors are classified according to the World Health Organization (WHO) Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System (Louis et al., 2021). Until recently, the classification of the primary CNS tumors has largely relied on histopathology and the tumors have been graded from 1 to 4 based on their malignancy (Louis et al., 2007). In 2016, molecular parameters were incorporated in the WHO classification of the CNS tumors (Louis et al., 2016). The 2021 fifth edition has simplified the classification of adult-type diffuse gliomas and further advanced the role of molecular diagnostics in CNS tumor classification (Louis et al., 2021).

Tumors that arise from the neuroepithelial tissue of the brain are known as gliomas. Gliomas include several types of tumors for example adult- and pediatric-type diffuse gliomas, ependymal tumors, choroid plexus tumors, and pineal tumors. Embryonal tumors include medulloblastomas which occur most often in children. Other CNS tumors that do not arise from the neuroepithelial tissue but grow in the CNS include for example tumors of the cranial and paraspinal nerves, meningiomas, lymphomas, germ cell tumors, tumors of the sellar region, and metastases to the CNS (Louis et al., 2021).

1.1 Gliomas

Gliomas are one of the most common types of primary brain tumors that arise from glial cells in the CNS. According to the 2016 WHO classification of the CNS tumors, pilocytic astrocytoma is graded as grade 1 and is a non-malignant tumor that can be cured by surgical resection. Relative five-year survival rate for pilocytic astrocytoma was 94.5% (Louis et al., 2016; Ostrom et al., 2020). Grade 2-4 tumors are classified as diffuse gliomas and these tumors include WHO grade 2 and 3 astrocytic tumors, grade 2 and 3 oligodendrogliomas, and grade 4 GBMs (Louis et al., 2016).

WHO grade 2 diffuse astrocytomas and grade 3 anaplastic astrocytomas are malignant diffusely infiltrating tumors. These tumors are diagnosed at the median age of 46 and 53 years, and they have relative five-year survival estimates of 53.0% and 31.1%, respectively (Ostrom et al., 2020). Most of the grade 2 and 3 tumors have isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 or 2 (*IDH1/2*) mutation, which is associated with more favorable

prognosis (Louis et al., 2016). WHO grade 2 oligodendrogliomas and grade 3 anaplastic oligodendrogliomas are diagnosed based on the *IDH* mutation and additional codeletion of chromosomes 1p and 19q (Figure 1). Both mutations are associated with more favorable prognosis (Louis et al., 2016; Lapointe et al., 2018). The five-year survival estimates for the WHO grade 2 oligodendrogliomas and grade 3 anaplastic oligodendrogliomas were 83.4% and 64.0%, respectively (Ostrom et al., 2020). However, in the 2021 WHO classification of the CNS tumors, classification of adult-type diffuse gliomas has been simplified and these tumors are now classified only into three different tumor types: astrocytoma, *IDH*-mutant; oligodendroglioma, *IDH*-mutant and 1p/19q-codeleted; and glioblastoma, *IDH*-wildtype (Louis et al., 2021).

1.2. Other central nervous system tumors

Ependymal tumors such as ependymoma are tumors of the brain and spinal cord. Median age at the time of diagnosis was 45 years and the relative five-year survival rate for ependymomas was 90.6% (Ostrom et al., 2020). RELA gene fusion is typical to ependymomas, and this gene fusion is associated with poor prognosis (Lapointe et al., 2018). Meningiomas arise from the meninges that surround the brain and spinal cord. Most meningiomas are benign and grow slowly (DeAngelis, 2001). Incidence rates of meningioma increased with age and median age at diagnosis was 66 years. Meningioma was more common in females and relative five-year survival rate for meningioma was 94.2% (Ostrom et al., 2020). The most common tumor of the cranial and paraspinal nerves, also known as nerve sheath tumor, is non-malignant schwannoma (Ostrom et al., 2020). Primary CNS lymphoma accounted for 1.9% of all brain and other CNS tumors and were diagnosed at a median age of 67 years (Ostrom et al., 2020). A well-known risk factor that markedly increases the risk of primary CNS lymphoma include a compromised immune system for example due to an autoimmune disorder. Most primary CNS lymphomas are B-cell lymphomas (Buckner et al., 2007). Relative five-year survival rate for lymphomas was 37.6% (Ostrom et al., 2020).

Brain metastases are a common complication of several systemic cancers and are approximately 10 times more common than primary brain tumors. Brain metastases occur in 20-40% of patients with solid cancer and most typically originate from non-small cell lung cancer, breast cancer, and melanoma (Nguyen and DeAngelis, 2007). The incidence of brain metastases is increasing probably due to better survival of patients who have received systemic treatment for the primary tumor. The development of brain metastases has been associated with poor prognosis and treatment options are limited. Typically, treatment with surgery and radiation provides only a modest survival benefit. Relative two-year survival rate for patients with brain metastases is only about 8% (Chamberlain et al., 2017).

1.3. Glioblastoma

GBM (WHO grade 4) is the most commonly occurring primary malignant brain and other CNS tumor (48.6% of malignant tumors) (Figure 1). Annual incidence rate for

GBM was 3.2 per 100 000 people with 12011 cases reported annually in the United States. Median age at diagnosis was 65 years and incidence of GBM increased with age. The highest incidence rate 15.3 was in the age group of 75-84 years. Interestingly, GBM was also reported to be 1.59 times more common in males compared to females (Ostrom et al., 2020). GBM is the most lethal and incurable tumor with a median survival of approximately 15 months after diagnosis (Stupp et al., 2009). Relative five-year survival estimate for patients with GBM was only about 7.2% (Ostrom et al., 2020).

Based on the data from the Finnish Cancer Registry, a total of 2045 patients with GBM were diagnosed in Finland between 2000 and 2013. The incidence of GBM is increasing in Finland, especially among patients >70 years. Increased incidence of GBM can be at least partly explained by higher life expectancy and aging of the population. The median survival of all GBM patients in Finland has slightly improved from 2000-2006 to 2007-2013 from 7.5 months to 9.6 months, respectively. However, median survival times varied substantially between different age groups and survival among the elderly patients remains extremely poor (Korja et al., 2019).

The majority of grade 4 GBMs (90%) develop rapidly de novo without any evidence of lower grade tumor and are thus called primary GBMs. Secondary GBMs (10%) progress from low-grade astrocytomas (grades 2 and 3) (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2013). Patients diagnosed with secondary GBM were significantly younger than patients with primary GBMs: mean age at the time of diagnosis was 33 and 59 years, respectively (Yan et al., 2009). Primary and secondary GBMs are histologically indistinguishable. Their characteristic pathological features include highly proliferative tumor cells, necrotic areas that are surrounded by perinecrotic pseudopalisading tumor cells, and high microvascular proliferation (Preusser et al., 2011). Primary and secondary GBMs, however, differ in their genetic and epigenetic profiles and have distinct clinical characteristics and prognosis (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2013). IDH1/2 mutation is a diagnostic molecular marker of secondary GBM. The mutation was observed in 85% of secondary GBMs, but only 5% of primary GBMs (Figure 1). IDH1/2 mutation has a significant survival advantage in patients with glioblastoma. The median survival was 31 months for the GBM patients with IDH1/2 mutation compared to 15 months for the patients with wild-type tumors (Yan et al., 2009).

In addition to IDH1/2-mutation, only a few prognostic biomarkers for GBM have been identified. Hypermethylation of O⁶-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (*MGMT*) promoter has been reported in approximately 40% of *IDH* wild-type GBMs and 90% of *IDH*-mutant GBMs (Molinaro et al., 2019). Hypermethylation of the *MGMT* promoter leads to epigenetic silencing of *MGMT* gene that encodes for a DNA-repair protein and is associated with decreased DNA-repair activity after chemotherapy. In a randomized trial, *MGMT* promoter hypermethylation was an independent favorable prognostic factor and predicted benefit from temozolomide (TMZ) chemotherapy (Hegi et al., 2005). Both *IDH*-mutant astrocytoma and *IDH*-mutant GBM typically have high proportions of mutations in telomere maintenance gene *ATRX* (63% and 78%, respectively). However, *ATRX* mutation was not associated with survival advantage in these subgroups of gliomas (Molinaro et al., 2019).



Figure 1. A simplified classification of adult diffuse gliomas based on histological and molecular features according to the 2016 WHO classification of tumors of the CNS. In addition to histological evaluation and grading, diffuse gliomas are evaluated for the IDH-mutation status. IDH-mutant gliomas are usually further tested for the 1p/19q codeletion to refine the diagnosis. The graph is modified from Louis et al., 2016; Reifenberger et al., 2017; and Molinaro et al., 2019.

The current standard of care for GBM includes maximal surgical resection of the tumor followed by radiotherapy and concomitant and adjuvant TMZ chemotherapy (Stupp et al., 2009). TMZ is an orally available and blood-brain barrier (BBB) permeable DNA-alkylating agent that induces DNA damage and cytotoxicity (Strobel et al., 2019). A randomized phase III clinical trial conducted by the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) and the National Cancer Institute of Canada (NCIC) compared radiotherapy alone with radiotherapy combined with TMZ chemotherapy in patients with GBM. The study reported median overall survival of 14.6 months for patients treated with combination of radiotherapy alone (Stupp et al., 2005). Although improvement in median survival was only 2.5 months, an increase in two-year survival was approximately 16% (Stupp et al., 2009).

Tumor-treating fields (TTF) is a treatment device that delivers alternating electric fields to the scalp and causes mitotic arrest and apoptosis of rapidly dividing tumor cells (Stupp et al., 2017). TTF device has been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) as an adjuvant treatment for patients with newly diagnosed GBM (Fabian et al., 2019). The effect of TTF alone or in combination with TMZ chemotherapy was investigated in a randomized phase III clinical trial of patients with GBM who had received initial standard therapy. The study reported a significant increase in median progression-free survival of patients who received TTF plus TMZ compared to patients who received TMZ alone (6.7 versus 4.0 months, respectively). In addition, median overall survival increased from 16.0 months to 20.9 months in the

combination treatment group. No significant side effects were observed in patients who had received TTF treatment except for localized skin irritation at the treatment sites (Stupp et al., 2017).

1.3.1. Molecular heterogeneity of glioblastoma

GBM has been long observed to possess significant heterogeneity at histological level (Wen and Kesari, 2008). GBM has been extensively profiled at genomic and transcriptional levels and was the first cancer systematically characterized by the Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network (TCGA) (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, 2008). More recently, technological advancements have allowed even more comprehensive profiling of these tumors and it has become increasingly more evident that GBMs are extensively heterogeneous tumors, and the heterogeneity exhibits at multiple levels: genetic, epigenetic, and molecular (Lauko et al., 2021).

The TCGA has performed extensive profiling and molecular classification of large cohorts of GBM tumor biopsy specimens. Collectively, these studies identified some common genetic alterations among patients with GBM including tumor suppressor protein p53 (TP53), retinoblastoma transcriptional corepressor 1 (RB1), phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), neurofibromin 1 (NF1), telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT), IDH1, plateletderived growth factor receptor alpha (PDGFRA), and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) important in driving GBM tumorigenesis (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, 2008; Verhaak et al., 2010; Brennan et al., 2013). These frequent genetic alterations affect several core signaling pathways that are critical for GBM. Majority (66%) of the tumors had genetic alterations affecting at least one receptor tyrosine kinase (EGFR, PDGFRA, MET, or fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR)) and 25% of the tumors had alterations in the PI3K. Collectively these alterations affect the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and PI3K/protein kinase B (Akt) signaling pathways. Furthermore, 85% of the tumors showed deregulated p53 signaling pathway to resist apoptosis and 79% of the tumors had alterations affecting retinoblastoma signaling leading to deregulated cell cycle control via cyclin-dependent kinases (Figure 2) (Brennan et al., 2013). The best-known epigenetic alteration in GBM with prognostic value is the above-discussed MGMT promoter methylation (Hegi et al., 2005).

A following study classified *IDH* wild-type GBMs into three transcriptional subtypes based on their bulk RNA-sequencing profiles: mesenchymal (MES), proneural (PN), and classical (CL) (Wang et al., 2017). Moreover, each subtype is associated with specific genetic alterations: The CL subtype is characterized by high-level *EGFR* amplification and lack of *TP53* mutations whereas *NF1* deletions are typical to the MES subtype. Two major genetic features of the PN subtype include alterations in *PDGFRA* and *IDH1* point mutations (Verhaak et al., 2010). PN subtype typically occurs in younger patients and has a survival advantage likely due to the high frequency of *IDH* mutation. MES subtype is associated with the worst survival and higher percentage of necrosis and inflammation-associated genes, as well as increased infiltration of tumor-associated glial cells and microglia/macrophages. CL subtype

tends to be more responsive to intensive therapy (Verhaak et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2017).



Figure 2. The most central genetic alterations in GBM and associated signaling pathways. Mutations in receptor tyrosine kinases (*EGFR*, *PDGFRA*, *MET*, and *FGFR*) and tumor suppressor genes *TP53* and *RB1* are frequent in GBM and lead to dysregulated signaling pathways that promotes cell proliferation and inhibits apoptosis. Modified from Brennan et al., 2013.

Sottoriva et al. were the first to demonstrate intratumoral heterogeneity in GBM. They developed a surgical multisampling approach and collected several spatially distinct tumor fragments from GBM patients. By comparing gene expression levels, they reported that different GBM subtypes were present within a single tumor as evidence of extensive intratumoral heterogeneity (Sottoriva et al., 2013). Advancements in the single-cell RNA-sequencing technology have allowed transcriptional profiling of single cells which provides a powerful tool to study intratumoral heterogeneity (Patel et al., 2014; Neftel et al., 2019). Recent single-cell RNA-sequencing study showed that GBM cells exist in four main cell states: mesenchymal-like (MES), oligodendrocyte-progenitor-like (OPC-like), neural-progenitor-like (NPC-like), and astrocyte-like (AC-like). Moreover, these cell states are dynamic and tumor cells have a capacity to transition between different cell states (Neftel et al., 2019). Cell state transition is also known as cellular plasticity and this topic will be discussed in more detail later. Extensive intratumoral heterogeneity is considered as one of the key factors underlying therapeutic resistance of GBM.

2. The microenvironmental landscape of glioblastoma

Tumors are seen as complex ecosystems where the tumor microenvironment is an integral component and plays a critical role in promoting tumor progression and therapy resistance (Figure 3) (Prager et al., 2019). There are several unique characteristic features that make GBMs as one of the most difficult types of tumors to treat with currently no effective therapies. GBMs are characterized by diffuse infiltration of tumor cells into the normal brain parenchyma, which prevents complete surgical removal of the tumor (Cuddapah et al., 2014). GBMs are highly hypoxic tumors with prominent necrotic regions that are surrounded by pseudopalisading areas and hypoxic tumor cells. GBMs are also among the most angiogenic tumors with high microvascular proliferation (Hambardzumyan and Bergers, 2015). Furthermore, presence of the BBB effectively inhibits the delivery of chemotherapeutic drugs into the brain (Cuddapah et al., 2014). The brain as an organ also provides many highly unique features that are important for tumor growth: the presence of the BBB, distinctive composition of the extracellular matrix, unique brain-resident cells including microglia, neurons, and astrocytes, and generally high degree of immunosuppression (Quail and Joyce, 2017). Another important aspect is the modulation of the tumor microenvironment by reciprocal communication between tumor cells and normal brain cells through secreted cytokines, chemokines, or direct cell-cell interactions (Broekman et al., 2018).



Figure 3. GBM tumor microenvironment. In addition to the tumor cells, the tumor microenvironment consists of immune cells, brain-resident cells, blood vessels, and extracellular matrix (ECM). GBM cells are highly invasive, and the tumors are characterized by hypoxic regions and high degree of angiogenesis. The graph is modified from Quail and Joyce, 2017 and Broekman et al., 2018.

2.1. Brain tumor vasculature and the blood-brain barrier

The brain is a very highly vascularized organ. Blood vessels maintain normal tissue homeostasis by providing oxygen and nutrient supply to tissues and clearing waste products (Nagy et al., 2010). Similarly, tumor cells require blood vessels to support tumor growth and progression. Brain vasculature is structurally and functionally highly unique. Endothelial cells form the walls of the blood vessels and are connected by tight junctions. Pericytes cover the abluminal surface of the vessels. Endothelial cells and pericytes are surrounded by basement membrane that is composed of extracellular matrix proteins such as type IV collagen, laminins, fibronectin, and proteoglycans (Baluk et al., 2005; Daneman and Prat, 2015). Moreover, astrocytic endfeet cover almost the entire cerebrovascular surface (Watkins et al., 2014). Endothelial cells, pericytes, and their basement membrane together with astrocytes comprise the BBB.

The BBB is a physiological barrier and critical regulator of CNS homeostasis (Daneman and Prat, 2015). It provides unique protection of CNS tissue for example from pathogens and inflammation and specifically controls the uptake of molecules. The BBB has low passive permeability to cells, pathogens, toxic substances, and many other macromolecules. However, endothelial cells express specific transporters for uptake of essential solutes and nutrients and ion channels to maintain optimal ionic composition (Abbott et al., 2010). At the same time the BBB represents a major therapeutic challenge for treatment of GBM since it effectively limits the delivery of chemotherapeutics into the brain (Quail and Joyce, 2017).

Tumor blood vessels are structurally highly aberrant, hierarchically disorganized, and functionally abnormal (Nagy et al., 2010). Tumor blood vessels vary in size and shape and are irregularly branched. Moreover, tumor blood vessels typically lack the tight endothelial junctions that together with defective pericyte coverage result in increased permeability, leakiness, and hemorrhages (Baluk et al., 2005). Tumor growth is highly dependent on adequate blood supply. Angiogenesis, sprouting of new vessels from the pre-existing ones, is essential for normal physiological processes such as embryogenesis and wound healing, but also an important mechanism for tumors to acquire their vasculature (Figure 3) (Baluk et al., 2005). In many tumors, angiogenesis is the primary source of vessel formation and mechanism to acquire vascular supply (Donnem et al., 2018).

Tumor growth pressure combined with highly glycolytic tumor cells and dysfunctional blood vessels generates a microenvironment that is acidic and hypoxic which consequently leads to formation of necrotic regions (Figure 3) (Nagy et al., 2010). Hypoxia stabilizes the transcription factor hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF1), which induces angiogenesis by upregulating vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression. VEGF is required for the maintenance of endothelial cells and is a central stimulator of angiogenesis and signals via its receptors expressed on endothelial cells (Nagy et al., 2010). VEGF is upregulated in GBM and expressed by multiple cell types including glioma cells to induce angiogenesis. VEGF also increases vascular permeability, which leads to increased interstitial pressure and edema and decreased delivery of chemotherapeutic drugs (Tate and Aghi, 2009). In highly vascularized tissues such as brain, an alternative way for tumor cells to get access to

blood vessels instead of angiogenesis is vessel co-option. In a process of vessel co-option, tumor cells migrate towards and along the pre-existing blood vessels. Importantly, vessel co-option is also a strategy for diffusively infiltrating glioma cells to invade into the normal brain parenchyma (Seano and Jain, 2020).

Alternative neovascularization mechanisms in tumors are vascular mimicry and transdifferentiation of tumor cells into endothelial cells (Soda et al., 2013). In vascular mimicry, tumor cells establish vascular-like networks. In GBM, vascular mimicry has been demonstrated in both mouse models (Shaifer et al., 2010) and in patients (El Hallani et al., 2010) and mechanistically might involve VEGFR2 (Soda et al., 2013). Transdifferentiation of GBM cells into endothelial cells in human GBM have been reported in a few studies (Ricci-Vitiani et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010), but this requires further investigation. It has been suggested that both alternative neovascularization mechanisms are mediated by GSCs and may contribute to antiangiogenic therapy resistance in GBM (Soda et al., 2013).

2.2. Invasion

Diffusively infiltrative growth is one of the main causes of poor therapeutic outcome of patients with gliomas (Figure 3). In contrast to other advanced-stage tumors that rely on blood vessels and lymphatics for systemic dissemination and metastasis formation, gliomas rarely metastasize outside the brain. This might be possibly due to inability of glioma cells to enter the vasculature or survive outside the CNS tissue. Another limiting factor might be the very short overall survival of glioma patients as metastasis formation as the final stage of cancer takes time (Cuddapah et al., 2014).

The brain extracellular matrix (ECM) is highly unique and differs from other organs (Figure 3). The brain ECM can be divided into two groups: the parenchymal ECM and the basal membranes that surround blood vessels. The parenchymal ECM consists mainly of glycosaminoglycans such as hyaluronic acid and proteoglycans that form a three-dimensional (3D) network. The basal membranes are rich in collagens, especially collagen IV, glycoproteins such as laminin, and other adhesion molecules (Ferrer et al., 2018). Mechanical rigidity of the ECM regulates GBM cell invasion. For example, GBM cells invaded extensively in more rigid ECM compared to less rigid ECM (Ulrich et al., 2009).

Glioma cells have two preferential pathways for invasion: perivascular space and white matter tracts of the brain parenchyma (Cuddapah et al., 2014). Glioma cells infiltrate the brain in different growth patterns: single cell infiltration, co-optive infiltration, and collective infiltration. Gliomas can also grow as a non-infiltrating pattern with a discrete border of tumor-brain parenchyma. Moreover, tumor growth requires access to the blood supply. Glioma cells can utilize either angiogenesis or vessel co-option, which is a non-angiogenic mechanism to access the vasculature, or sometimes even a combination of both mechanisms (Donnem et al., 2018).

Single cell infiltration of glioma cells resembles the migration of normal neural stem cells (NSCs) that often exploit the pre-existing structures of the brain such as nerve tracts of the white matter or blood vessels (Cuddapah et al., 2014). In co-optive or

perivascular infiltration glioma cells bind to the abluminal surface of existing blood vessels and migrate along it (Kuczynski et al., 2019). In general, single cell infiltration and vessel co-option, the non-angiogenic glioma growth patterns, preserve the existing tissue structures in the brain including the BBB (Donnem et al., 2018; Griveau et al., 2018). Co-optive tumor cells can, however, cause limited alterations to the properties of the BBB by displacing pericytes and astrocytes covering the vessels during migration (Watkins et al., 2014; Kuczynski et al., 2019).

Collective infiltration and non-infiltrating growth usually require activation of angiogenesis, which damages the tissue structures in the microenvironment including the BBB. The BBB breakdown has severe consequences to the tissue such as increase of vascular permeability, induction of chronic inflammation in the tumor stroma, activation of inflammation-related signaling pathways and resident microglia, and recruitment of immune cells (Abbott et al., 2010; Donnem et al., 2018; Griveau et al., 2018). Invasion mechanism and interactions of glioma cells with the vasculature are plastic. Glioma cells employ different strategies depending on the properties of their microenvironment, stage of the disease, and/or in response to treatment (Griveau et al., 2018; Kuczynski et al., 2019).

2.3. Immunosuppression

GBMs are among the most immunosuppressive tumors and have several mechanisms to suppress immune responses (Grabowski et al., 2021). GBM cells themselves upregulate and secrete several immunosuppressive cell surface factors and cytokines including for example transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), IL-1, IL-10, and fibrinogen like 2 (FGL2), all of which suppress effector activities of immune cells (Nduom et al., 2015). Moreover, GBM cells promote local immune dysfunction by attracting tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) to the tumor microenvironment and promoting their polarization toward the anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype to suppress adaptive immune responses (Figure 3). Both described immunosuppressive mechanisms support tumor progression (Medikonda et al., 2021).

In addition to the immunosuppressive effects, GBM cells also promote various modes of T cell dysfunction. Previous studies have demonstrated that particularly a subset of immunosuppressive regulatory T cells (Tregs) is expanded in patients with gliomas (Figure 3). A characteristic feature of Tregs is their ability to suppress effector T cell activation and function (Grabowski et al., 2021). Fecci and colleagues detected an increased fraction of Tregs in the blood samples of patients with gliomas (Fecci et al., 2006). Another study reported a prominent infiltration of immunosuppressive Tregs within glioma tumor tissue suggesting that Tregs may contribute to the lack of effective immune activation against gliomas (Hussain et al., 2006).

Among the various mechanisms of T cell dysfunction in GBM, T cell exhaustion is particularly severe. T cell exhaustion results from a prolonged antigen exposure and as a consequence, increased expression of several coinhibitory receptors such programmed cell-death protein 1 (PD-1) and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein (CTLA4) on the surface of T cells leading to their dysfunction (Woroniecka et al., 2018).

2.4. Crosstalk with normal brain cells

2.4.1. Tumor-associated macrophages

Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) comprise the majority of immune cells within the brain, even up to 30% of the tumor mass (Graeber et al., 2002). GBM microenvironment contains TAMs at least from two different sources: brain-resident microglia and bone marrow-derived infiltrating monocytes that differentiate into macrophages (Figure 3) (Broekman et al., 2018). TAMs have been traditionally classified based on their activation states into pro-inflammatory and tumor suppressive (M1) or tumor promoting (M2) phenotypes. The traditional model of TAM activation was based on in vitro studies and has now been questioned. Accumulating evidence demonstrates that TAM polarization is far more complex and context-dependent than previously thought (Ransohoff, 2016; Broekman et al., 2018).

Glioma cells can release several factors, including monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1) and MCP-3, colony-stimulating factor 1 (CSF-1), and granulocytemacrophage colony stimulatory factor (GM-CSF), stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1), and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), to attract TAMs to infiltrate the tumor. On the other hand, TAMs can release a wide range of growth factors and cytokines in response to signals from tumor cells and also have immune functions (Hambardzumyan et al., 2016). TAMs support tumor progression by induction of angiogenesis, tumor cell proliferation and invasion. TAMs secrete several cytokines and pro-angiogenesis. Alternatively, CSF-1 secreted by GBM cells induces insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 1 (IGFBP1) release by TAMs which also promotes angiogenesis. GBM cells secrete inactive pro-MMP2 whereas microglia in the tumor microenvironment release MT1-MMP, which then cleaves the pro-MMP2 into active form and promotes GBM cell invasion (Hambardzumyan et al., 2016).

2.4.2. Astrocytes

Astrocytes are glial cells and represent one of the most abundant cell populations in the CNS (Figure 3) (Sofroniew, 2020). Astrocytes are essential for supporting several normal physiological functions in the healthy CNS including for example formation of synapses, providing metabolic support to neurons, contribution to CNS metabolism, modulation of blood flow, and formation and maintenance of the BBB (Sofroniew and Vinters, 2010). An intriguing finding that brain tumor cells can form specialized membrane protrusions called microtubes and utilize them as routes for invasion and formation of malignant multicellular networks was groundbreaking in the field (Osswald et al., 2015). Specifically, Osswald and colleagues demonstrated that glioma cells form specialized and functional gap junctions with astrocytes composed of connexin 43 within the brain TME to mediate their resistance to radiotherapy (Osswald et al., 2015). Similar specialized gap junctions between tumor cells and astrocytes were later demonstrated in brain metastases. Paracrine signaling between astrocytes and brain metastatic cells activated STAT1 and nuclear factor kappa B (NF-

 κ B) signaling in tumor cells, which promoted tumor growth and chemoresistance (Chen et al., 2016).

In response to CNS injury or disease, astrocytes undergo a profound phenotypic transformation known as reactive astrocytosis where they become activated (Liddelow et al., 2017). More specifically, two different types of reactive astrocytes have been identified, A1 and A2, induced by neuroinflammation and ischemia, respectively. The A1 reactive astrocytes were shown to be harmful to neural cells whereas the A2 reactive astrocytes associated with neuroprotective functions (Liddelow et al., 2017). The functions of reactive astrocytes have only recently begun to emerge and therefore the current understanding about the roles of reactive astrocytes in cancer development and tumor progression is very limited. Recently, reactive astrocytes were demonstrated to promote formation of brain metastases via a mechanism involving activation of STAT3 (Priego et al., 2018). In GBM, reactive astrocytes were shown to promote formation of immunosuppressive TME (Henrik Heiland et al., 2019).

2.4.3. Neurons

Interactions between glioma cells and normal neural cells (Figure 3) have been relatively unexplored until recent groundbreaking discoveries that have emerged in the field. A recent study reported that neuronal activity promotes glioma growth via paracrine signaling mechanisms involving the synaptic adhesion molecule neuroligin-3 (Venkatesh et al., 2015). In the follow-up study, exposure of glioma cells to neuroligin-3 induced expression of several synaptic genes in glioma cells (Venkatesh et al., 2017). Furthermore, two independent studies demonstrated for the first time that gliomas formed neuron-glioma synapses, which promoted tumor progression (Venkataramani et al., 2019; Venkatesh et al., 2019). Genetic or pharmacologic inhibition of neuron-glioma synapses impaired proliferation and invasion of glioma cells. To conclude, these two studies provide the first evidence of direct synaptic glioma-neuron communication which holds potential for clinical implications (Venkataramani et al., 2019; Venkatesh et al., 2019).

3. Glioblastoma stem cells

3.1. Identification and enrichment of glioblastoma stem cells

The first scientific evidence of existence of cancer stem cells (CSCs) was published in 1997, when Dick and colleagues described the isolation of a specific cell population capable of initiating acute myeloid leukemia (AML) in mice and named them as leukemia-initiating cells (Bonnet and Dick, 1997). They reported that these tumorigenic CSCs also possessed proliferative and differentiative capacities and were able to self-renew, thus forming a basis for functional characterization of CSCs (Bonnet and Dick, 1997). Soon after, CSCs were reported in many solid tumors including breast (Al-Hajj et al., 2003), prostate (Collins et al., 2005), colorectal (O'Brien et al., 2007; Ricci-Vitiani et al., 2007), and pancreatic (Li et al., 2007) cancers as well as brain tumors (Hemmati et al., 2003; Singh et al., 2003). CSCs in GBM have been accordingly named as glioma or glioblastoma stem cells (GSCs). Initial work in GBM identified CD133 as a marker to enrich GSCs and demonstrated that CD133+ GSCs enriched by flow cytometry have the ability to selfrenew and initiate tumors when transplanted into the animal brain. The authors also demonstrated that injection of as few as 100 CD133+ GSCs gave rise to tumors whereas injection of 10⁵ CD133- non-GSCs failed to initiate tumors in xenograft studies (Singh et al., 2004). Subsequent studies, however, demonstrated that also CD133- tumor cell population isolated from primary GBM showed stem cell-like characteristics in vitro, such as sphere-forming ability, were able to differentiate into different neural lineage cells, and were tumorigenic when transplanted into the animal brain suggesting that brain tumors contain multiple different populations of GSCs (Beier et al., 2007; Joo et al., 2008). Moreover, another study by Wang and colleagues demonstrated that CD133- GSCs were tumorigenic when transplanted into the rat brain and further analysis showed that the formed tumors contained CD133+ tumor cells suggesting that CD133+ population was generated during the tumor progression (Wang et al., 2008).

Since CD133 is also expressed by hematopoietic stem cells, NSCs, and endothelial progenitor cells, several studies have questioned its relevance as a marker for GSCs (Brescia et al., 2012). Moreover, it has been proposed that only the glycosylated cell surface protein rather than mRNA expression of CD133 gene, *PROM1*, would be a marker for GSCs. Despite the controversies, CD133 remains the most used cell surface marker for GSC enrichment (Lathia et al., 2015). Other markers used for GSC enrichment include both cell surface molecules and intracellular transcription factors such as NESTIN (Tunici et al., 2004), CD15 (Son et al., 2009), SOX2, Olig2, NANOG (Ligon et al., 2007; Suva et al., 2014), L1 cell adhesion molecule (L1CAM) (Bao et al., 2008), CD44 (Liu et al., 2006), and integrin α 6 (Lathia et al., 2010). Since a single marker or a combination of markers that would specifically enrich GSCs do not exist, functional assays demonstrating the GSC properties such as self-renewal, differentiation potential, and tumorigenicity are essential in characterizing GSCs.

3.2. Functional characterization and clinical relevance of glioblastoma stem cells

It has been generally accepted in the field that expression of CSC markers is not enough to characterize the existence of CSCs and their functional validation is essential to assess stem cell characteristics of isolated cell populations. The functional validation includes assays testing cell proliferation and self-renewal, differentiation potential, tumorigenicity in vivo (Lathia et al., 2015). To summarize, functionally defined GSCs should be able to self-renew, differentiate into multiple different cell types, be tumorigenic upon orthotopic injection, and capable of recapitulating the cellular heterogeneity present in the original tumor (Lee et al., 2006).

GSCs have been reported to play important roles in mediating tumor progression and therapy resistance in GBM. Hypoxia has been shown to regulate survival and self-renewal of both NSCs and GSCs, but hypoxia also promotes tumorigenicity of GSCs via a mechanism involving HIF-2 α (Clarke and van der Kooy, 2009; Heddleston et

al., 2009; Li et al., 2009). Hypoxia has also been shown to upregulate stemness markers as an indication of increased self-renewal of GSCs (Heddleston et al., 2009). GSCs have been shown to promote angiogenesis by secreting VEGF and grow in a highly infiltrative pattern in xenograft models of GBM (Wakimoto et al., 2009).

Another clinically relevant feature of GSCs is their therapeutic resistance. GSCs have intrinsic therapy resistance mainly due to their quiescence, but also mechanisms to resist radiation and chemotherapy (Saygin et al., 2019). It has been previously demonstrated that GSCs activate the DNA damage checkpoint kinases in response to radiation and have increased capacity to repair DNA damages (Bao et al., 2006). Another study demonstrated that CD133+ GSCs were significantly more resistant to several chemotherapeutic agents including TMZ compared to CD133- non-GSCs (Liu et al., 2006). Furthermore, a study using a genetically engineered mouse model of glioma demonstrated that GSCs repopulate brain tumors after therapy suggesting that GSCs promote tumor recurrence (Chen et al., 2012).

3.3. Glioblastoma stem cells reside in specific niches

GSCs reside in specific niches throughout the tumor: the leading edge, the perivascular niche, and the hypoxic-necrotic core region (Prager et al., 2020). In the stem cell niche GSCs interact with different tissue resident cells via secreted factors or direct cell-cell contacts which maintains their stemness. GSCs in the leading edge represents a clinical challenge because these cells cannot be surgically resected and therefore are a potential source for tumor recurrence. GSCs in the leading edge have been demonstrated to upregulate L1CAM and ephrin B2 signaling pathways to promote invasion (Prager et al., 2020). Moreover, GSCs have been shown to express several mediators of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), such as twist family BHLH transcription factor 1 (TWIST1), STAT3, and NF- κ B, to acquire a migratory phenotype required for invasion (Prager et al., 2020).

In the perivascular niche, GSCs are in close contact with tumor-associated vasculature. Endothelial cells promote the maintenance of GSC stemness phenotype through activation of various signaling pathways such as NOTCH, sonic hedgehog, and nitric oxide (NO). Endothelial cells have been shown to release NO, which activates the NOTCH signaling in GSCs and promotes their stemness and tumorigenicity in vivo (Charles et al., 2010). Interactions within the perivascular niche are not unidirectional, since GSCs have been demonstrated to secrete VEGF to promote angiogenesis in xenograft models of GBM (Bao et al., 2006). Some interesting yet controversial evidence suggests that GSCs could give rise to endothelial-like cells (Ricci-Vitiani et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010) or even transdifferentiate into vascular pericytes to support tumor growth (Cheng et al., 2013).

The hypoxic and necrotic regions are a hallmark of GBM and associated with increased stemness and resistance to therapies (Heddleston et al., 2011). The hypoxic response in cells is mostly mediated by the HIF1 and HIF2. HIF1 is a key mediator of acute hypoxia and activates pro-survival effects in tumor cells through the PI3K/Akt and the extracellular signaling related kinase (ERK) 1/2 signaling pathways. HIF1 also upregulates the expression of VEGF in endothelial cells to promote angiogenesis. In

contrast, HIF2 levels are elevated during chronic hypoxia, which has been shown to upregulate expression of stemness factors including SOX2, OCT-4, and NANOG. Importantly, hypoxia has been suggested to promote a quiescent GSC phenotype that could significantly enrich chemo- and radioresistant GSC populations (Heddleston et al., 2011; Prager et al., 2020). To summarize, the tumor stem cell niches are dynamic and provide specific microenvironmental cues and cell-cell communication to support GSCs maintenance and to promote therapy resistance.

3.4. Models of glioblastoma heterogeneity

GBMs are characterized by extensive cellular heterogeneity. Phenotypic and functional heterogeneity among cancer cells can arise from different sources including genetic changes, microenvironmental differences, and reversible changes in cell properties also known as cellular plasticity (Meacham and Morrison, 2013). Previous studies suggest that intratumoral heterogeneity is an important contributor to treatment failure and therapeutic resistance in GBM (Sottoriva et al., 2013; Piccirillo et al., 2015).

Two models have been predominating in explaining the high cellular heterogeneity that is observed in GBM: the clonal evolution model and the cancer stem cell (CSC) model (Figure 4). According to the clonal evolution model, also known as the stochastic model, genetic and epigenetic mutations accumulate over time, which give a selective growth advantage to certain cells. As a result, any cell may have tumorigenic potential in theory and the selective pressure drives the tumor heterogeneity. The CSC model, also known as the hierarchical model, proposes that a small subpopulation of cells with stem-like properties drive tumor initiation and cancer progression. The CSC model also proposes that tumors are hierarchically organized like normal tissues and that the CSCs give rise to a variety of cell types including intermediate progenitor cells (transit amplifying cells) and more differentiated progeny, and therefore, the CSCs are the source of cellular heterogeneity in tumors. The clonal evolution model and the CSC model are not mutually exclusive (Rich, 2016).

An alternative model based on cellular plasticity has been proposed to link the clonal evolution and the CSC models. The plasticity model proposes that differentiated cancer cells can de-differentiate to cancer stem-like cells by dynamic cell state transitions, thus adding one more layer of complexity (Figure 4) (Rich, 2016). Two recently published studies provide strong evidence that supports the plasticity model in explaining GBM cell heterogeneity. Neftel et al. demonstrated by single-cell RNA-sequencing that GBM cells exist in four main cell states and exhibit a high level of cellular plasticity between the different states (Neftel et al., 2019). Dirkse et al. showed that the phenotypic heterogeneity observed in GBM results from reversible cell state transitions that are driven by the tumor microenvironment (Dirkse et al., 2019). GBM cell plasticity will be discussed in more detail in the following section.



Figure 4. Clonal evolution and cancer stem cell models in tumor development and progression. According to the clonal evolution model, mutations accumulate over time and any cell in each cell population may have tumorigenic potential. In the CSC model, only tumorigenic CSCs can initiate tumor growth. The clonal evolution and CSC models are not mutually exclusive. According to the Plasticity model, differentiated tumor cells can dedifferentiate to a CSC state and acquire tumorigenic properties. The graph is modified from Rich, 2016.

3.5. Plasticity in glioblastoma stem cell networks

A cell state transition or alternatively a phenotypic switch in cell fate is also known as cellular plasticity. Cellular plasticity is typical to stem cells and highly essential during normal physiological processes like tissue regeneration and wound healing. However, also more differentiated cells can retain potential to switch their cell fate for example through reacquisition of stemness properties or transdifferentiating into other cell types (Gupta et al., 2019). An example of reacquisition of stem cell state was the groundbreaking discovery that a combination of only four transcription factors (Oct3/4, Sox2, Klf4, and c-Myc) could reprogram differentiated adult mouse or human fibroblasts to an embryonic stem cell-like state (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006; Takahashi et al., 2007). Another example of cellular plasticity is the EMT, which is associated with normal developmental processes like embryogenesis, tissue regeneration as well as cancer progression and metastasis (Kalluri and Weinberg, 2009). Activation of EMT in cancer has been linked to acquisition of stem-like properties such as increased self-renewal and expression of stem cell markers (Mani et al., 2008).

Cellular plasticity has been increasingly recognized as a source of cellular heterogeneity and therapy resistance in cancer. Cancer stem-like cells have the highest potential for adaptation due to their high degree of cellular plasticity. CSCs can respond to various stimuli such as cell-cell interactions, tumor microenvironmental cues, or therapy by dynamic cell state transitions likely explaining their therapeutic resistance. In contrast, differentiated cells have more restricted transcriptional programs and therefore less potential for adaptation (Prager et al., 2020).

Several studies have demonstrated cellular plasticity among GSCs and its importance in tumorigenicity and therapy resistance. Expression of bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), particularly BMP4, in GSCs have been shown to inhibit tumorigenic potential of GSCs by inducing cell differentiation (Piccirillo et al., 2006). More recently, overexpression of a defined set of neurodevelopmental transcription factors (POU3F, SOX2, SALL2, and OLIG2) reprogrammed non-tumorigenic differentiated glioma cells into tumorigenic stem-like state (Suva et al., 2014). Furthermore, treatment of differentiated tumor cells with TMZ chemotherapy induced a phenotypic shift of the non-GSCs population to a GSC-like state (Auffinger et al., 2014).

Single-cell RNA-sequencing provides a powerful strategy to characterize cellular heterogeneity, model tumor evolution, and to study interactions with the tumor microenvironment. Indeed, recent single-cell studies have provided significant amounts of data and increased our understanding about this complex disease and its underlying heterogeneity and plasticity. First single-cell RNA-sequencing studies focused on *IDH*-mutant gliomas (oligodendrogliomas and astrocytomas) and identified cellular hierarchy with three main subpopulations: proliferative stem-like cells resembling NPC-like cells and two subpopulations of more differentiated cells resembling (AC-like) and oligodendrocytes (OC-like) cells (Tirosh et al., 2016; Venteicher et al., 2017). Thus, these results support that *IDH*-mutant gliomas would be driven by NPC-like cells that differentiate into OC-like and AC-like cells. These studies therefore are consistent with the CSC model (the hierarchical model) of tumorigenesis, described above, where the small subpopulation of stem-like cells drive tumor propagation and heterogeneity (Suva and Tirosh, 2020).

In contrast to *IDH*-mutant gliomas, in *IDH*-wild type GBMs such hierarchical organization was less clear. The first single-cell RNA-sequencing study in *IDH*-wild type GBM confirmed the previous finding and demonstrated that multiple different cell states that correspond to different GBM subtypes are present within a single tumor (Patel et al., 2014). A more recent single-cell RNA-sequencing study demonstrated that GBM cells exist in four primary cell states: MES-like, OPC-like, NPC-like, and AC-like and observed a high degree of cellular plasticity between the different cell states (Neftel et al., 2019). Moreover, upon xenotransplantation of tumor cells of a given cell state, the diversity of cell states present in the original tumors was re-established in the xenografts as the tumors were formed (Neftel et al., 2019).

An active role of tumor microenvironment has been increasingly noted as a source of cellular plasticity promoting intratumoral heterogeneity (Dirkse et al., 2019; Neftel et al., 2019). A recent study demonstrated that GSCs exist in cell states and such cell states were not hierarchically organized. Moreover, phenotypic heterogeneity in GSCs resulted from the reversible state transitions that were guided by the tumor microenvironment (Dirkse et al., 2019). Taken together, the CSC model in GBM has extensive experimental evidence. However, recent studies have challenged the hierarchical CSC model in GBM, and growing evidence supports the plasticity model (Dirkse et al., 2019; Neftel et al., 2019; Suva and Tirosh, 2020). This remains an active

area of investigation and the field is currently shifting towards identifying therapies that would target the GBM cellular plasticity (Prager et al., 2020).

4. Therapeutic strategies in glioblastoma

4.1. Emerging therapies

Increased understanding and recent groundbreaking discoveries in GBM biology have not translated into effective therapeutics. The standard of care for GBM still mostly relies on surgery with radiotherapy and TMZ chemotherapy, and patient survival remains very poor (Stupp et al., 2009). Despite significant efforts, no therapeutic intervention that would be more efficient than TMZ chemotherapy currently exists and most of the clinical trials have unfortunately failed to demonstrate increased overall survival of patients. Phase III clinical trials in patients with newly diagnosed or recurrent GBM have been reviewed recently (Stepanenko and Chekhonin, 2018). Moreover, molecular biomarkers that would reliably predict response to therapy are largely missing except for the MGMT promoter methylation that associates with benefit from chemotherapy in the newly diagnosed GBMs (Le Rhun et al., 2019). Development of targeted therapies has mostly focused on inhibition of aberrant oncogenic signaling, cell-cell communication, and interactions within the microenvironment. Recently, immunotherapy has gained a lot of interest in treatment of cancer. Another interesting area of investigation is drug repurposing aiming at testing already approved drugs for different indications (Le Rhun et al., 2019). Furthermore, efforts to directly target CSCs have mostly failed to demonstrate clinical benefit, whereas targeting the stem cell niche or CSC plasticity represent potential ways to eradicate CSCs (Saygin et al., 2019) (Figure 5). The future treatment of GBM most likely combines different treatment strategies that are individualized according to the precise molecular features of each tumor (Reifenberger et al., 2017).

4.1.1. Targeting oncogenic signaling pathways

Most targeted therapy efforts have focused on aberrant signaling via receptor tyrosine kinases such as EGFR, PDGFRA, MET, and FGFR, and their associated signaling pathways such as PI3K/Akt/mTOR and RAS/MAP kinase that promote tumor cell proliferation and survival (Prados et al., 2015; Le Rhun et al., 2019). EGFR has been widely studied as a therapeutic target since it is the most prominent oncogene in GBM (Brennan et al., 2013). Also, identification of the EGFRvIII, which is a constitutively active oncogenic variant of EGFR arising from deletions of exons 2-7, has been a target of active drug development (Figure 5A) (Prados et al., 2015).

Most studies investigating the potential of small molecule inhibitors targeting EGFR, such as gefinitib and erlotinib, have failed to show efficacy in phase II clinical trials of GBM (Rich et al., 2004; van den Bent et al., 2009; Yung et al., 2010). Other approaches including for example rindopepimut, a peptide-based vaccine targeting the EGFRvIII, failed to increase survival in a phase III trial of patients with newly diagnosed GBM (Weller et al., 2017). Other selected phase II and III clinical trials of

targeted therapies in GBM have been recently reviewed (Le Rhun et al., 2019). Taken together, targeting the oncogenic signaling pathways has not demonstrated efficacy in randomized controlled trials of patients with GBM (Reifenberger et al., 2017).

Disappointing efficacy with small molecule inhibitors demonstrates the challenge of clinical translation. One critical feature is the intratumoral heterogeneity of tumor cells that is characteristic to GBM (Prados et al., 2015). Another important mechanism underlying resistance to small molecule inhibitors is the presence of alternative compensatory signaling pathways (Roth and Weller, 2014). In addition, treatment can drive clonal evolution of the tumor meaning that the proportion of tumor cells responsive to specific targeted therapy can vary, thus complicating the efforts to develop effective therapies (Aldape et al., 2019).



Figure 5. Therapeutic strategies in GBM. Several different strategies have been developed to improve survival of patients with GBM: A) Targeted therapy, B) targeting tumor microenvironment (TME), C) immunotherapy, D) drug repurposing, and E) targeting CSC.

4.1.2. Targeting tumor microenvironment

GBMs are highly vascularized tumors and the vascular supply is essential for tumor growth. VEGF is the central regulator of angiogenesis and has been the key target for development of antiangiogenic therapies. Bevacizumab (Avastin, Roche, Germany) is a humanized anti-VEGFA antibody (Figure 5B) which was demonstrated to improve progression-free survival of patients with recurrent GBM in two phase II clinical trials (Friedman et al., 2009; Kreisl et al., 2009). Based on these promising trials, bevacizumab was approved by the FDA for treatment of recurrent GBM in 2009 (Kim et al., 2018). Two phase III clinical trials evaluated the benefit of bevacizumab in combination with the standard treatment in patients with newly diagnosed GBM. Unfortunately, both studies failed to improve overall survival of patients (Chinot et al., 2014; Gilbert et al., 2014).

Traditional antiangiogenic therapy aims to block tumor's blood supply by inhibiting formation of new blood vessels and by depleting the existing ones to starve the tumor which would slow down tumor progression and improve patient survival. However, impaired blood perfusion in tumors results in TME that is hypoxic and acidic and has been shown to have several adverse effects. Hypoxia and acidosis fuel tumor progression by promoting tumor cell invasion, metastasis, and immune evasion and increases resistance to radio- and chemotherapy (Jain, 2014). In contrast, lower doses of antiangiogenic therapy might improve patient outcome. This concept is known as vessel normalization which aims to normalize the abnormal tumor vasculature, resulting in improved blood perfusion, decreased hypoxia and more efficient drug delivery to the tumor (Jain, 2014).

Several approaches have been developed to target communication between tumor cells and the tumor microenvironment. Targeting integrins, that are essential for mediating cell adhesion, migration, and invasion, was considered a highly promising strategy to block interactions between tumor cells and the ECM (Figure 5B). However, a phase III clinical trial that investigated the efficacy of a selective integrin inhibitor, cilengitide (Merck EMD 121974, Germany), combined with the standard therapy in patients with GBM failed to improve clinical outcomes of patients (Stupp et al., 2014). Another interesting strategy to inhibit communication between tumor cells and the innate immune system was to inhibit the CSF-1 receptor (CSF-1R), which is expressed on the surface of TAMs (Figure 5B). A selective inhibition of CSF-1R significantly increased survival of animals of a genetically engineered mouse model of proneural GBM and inhibited tumor growth of patient-derived xenografts (Pyonteck et al., 2013). Unfortunately, CSF-1R inhibitor showed no efficacy in phase II clinical trial in patients with recurrent GBM (Butowski et al., 2016).

4.1.3. Immunotherapy approaches

Immunotherapy holds high expectations as a future standard of care for cancer. Ideally immunotherapy harnesses the patient's own immune system to attack tumor cells. As glioma tumor microenvironment is highly immunosuppressive, strategies that exploit activation of antitumor immune responses to overcome immunosuppression have been suggested as potential therapeutic approaches in patients with gliomas. Several different strategies are available including for example vaccination, immunecheckpoint blockade, and chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy (Reifenberger et al., 2017). For example, a peptide-based vaccination against mutant IDH protein was developed and it induced antitumor immune response in a preclinical study of GBM suggesting that anti-IDH vaccine could have potential as immunotherapy approach in treatment of IDH-mutated GBMs (Schumacher et al., 2014). Alternative approach for vaccination therapy is the dendritic cell vaccines where patient's own dendritic cells, also known as antigen presenting cells, are loaded ex vivo with tumor-associated antigens or RNAs encoding such antigens and then injected back into patient as an immunotherapy to induce an anti-tumor immune response. One such example study used dendritic cells loaded with cytomegalovirus phosphoprotein 65 (pp65), which is often expressed in GBM but not in normal brain tissue and demonstrated suppressed tumor growth in animals and improved clinical outcomes in a small cohort of patients (Mitchell et al., 2015).

Immune checkpoint inhibitors such as PD-1 and CTLA-4 have proven efficient in other cancers, but their potential benefit in GBM patients is still under investigation (Figure 5C) (Reifenberger et al., 2017). Currently, phase II and phase III clinical trials on PD-1 blockade in combination with standard radiation and/or chemotherapy are ongoing (Broekman et al., 2018). Oncolytic virotherapy has been proposed to increase the effect of immune-checkpoint blockade. In a preclinical study using immunocompetent mouse GBM models, treatment with a combination of oncolytic virus and immune checkpoint inhibitors PD-1 and CTLA-4 was highly effective and eradicated tumors and prolonged the animal survival (Saha et al., 2017). Another immunotherapy approach is the CAR T cell therapy (Figure 5C), which involves adoptive transfer of genetically engineered chimeric antigen receptor against tumorspecific targets such as EGFRvIII. Treatment with CAR T cells directed against EGFRvIII significantly reduced tumor growth in immunocompetent mouse model of glioma (Sampson et al., 2014). However, a recent phase I clinical trials using CAR T cells targeting EGFRvIII failed to demonstrate marked clinical benefit in small cohorts of patients with recurrent GBM (O'Rourke et al., 2017; Goff et al., 2019).

4.2. Drug repurposing

Drug discovery and development is a highly complex and long-lasting process that requires huge investments with low success rates. Due to limited success with current therapies, there is a need to develop more effective and safe drugs for treatment of cancer. Drug repurposing, which gains growing interest, aims to reposition already clinically approved drugs for treatment of a disease(s) other than the original indication (Figure 5D). Major advantages of this approach include reduced time, cost, and risks, because safety and pharmacokinetic profiles of these drugs have been previously characterized (Ashburn and Thor, 2004). Potential drugs under investigation or already tested in clinical trials with a goal to be repurposed in treatment of GBM have been recently reviewed (Basso et al., 2018; Siegelin et al., 2021).

One such example is metformin, which is the most used drug for treatment of type 2 diabetes and has been extensively studied as a possible therapy option in cancer and especially in GBM. Several studies have reported inhibition of cell proliferation and migration of GBM cells as well as induction of apoptotic cell death (Isakovic et al., 2007; Wurth et al., 2013; Seliger et al., 2016). A recent study using pooled data from three randomized clinical trials of patients with newly diagnosed GBM reported that metformin alone or in a combination therapy was not associated with improved overall survival and concluded that additional studies are needed to identify specific tumor characteristics that would indicate potential benefit from treatment with metformin (Seliger et al., 2020).

Another extensively studied and potential drug for repurposing in treatment of GBM is a well-known antimalarial drug chloroquine. Chloroquine is an autophagy inhibitor and can enhance the efficacy of chemotherapy (Basso et al., 2018; Weyerhauser et al., 2018). Studies investigating the combination of TMZ and chloroquine in GBM cells reported reduced cell proliferation and induced apoptotic cell death in response to the treatment (Hori et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015). A recent study demonstrated that combination treatment with triarylpyridine compounds and chloroquine causes cell death in several different cancer cell lines via induction of lysosomal membrane permeabilization (LMP), which is an alternative pathway leading to apoptotic cell death (Beauvarlet et al., 2020). However, a phase I/II clinical trial studying hydroxychloroquine in combination with radio- and chemotherapy failed to demonstrate significant improvement in overall survival of patients with newly diagnosed GBM (Rosenfeld et al., 2014).

Drugs affecting the nervous system such as antipsychotics, antidepressants, and antihistamines represent a large group of drugs known as cationic amphiphilic drugs (CADs). CADs are well characterized and tolerated drugs with a long clinical history in treatment of various psychiatric disorders and allergies. Due to their ability to cross the BBB, these drugs are being increasingly tested in treatment of cancer and especially GBM (Ellegaard et al., 2016; Siegelin et al., 2021). Interestingly, some epidemiological studies have reported significantly lower incidences of cancer among patients with schizophrenia and allergy compared to the general population (Barak et al., 2005; Chou et al., 2011; Turner, 2012). Antipsychotics typically inhibit dopamine receptors or alternatively block histamine, serotonine, or adrenergic receptors (Siegelin et al., 2021). The phenothiazines, a class of antipsychotics, that antagonize dopamine signaling has been demonstrated to have anti-glioma effect as detected by decreased cell proliferation and induced apoptosis of rat glioma cells. The glioma cells were more sensitive to the treatment compared to primary mouse brain cells (Gil-Ad et al., 2004). Another study demonstrated that combined treatment with quetiapine and TMZ significantly suppressed tumor growth and prolonged animal survival in orthotopic xenografts of murine GBM possibly via differentiation of GSCs into a less aggressive oligodendrocyte-like cells, that sensitized the cells to chemotherapy (Wang et al., 2017).

4.3. Therapeutic targeting of cancer stem cells

A rationale behind targeting CSCs is that although therapies targeting proliferating tumor cells might lead to significant tumor shrinkage, it may allow the survival of CSCs, that are rather resistant to therapies, and sufficient to cause tumor relapse (Zhou et al., 2009). In principle, eradication of CSCs might provide clinical benefit for patients (Suva and Tirosh, 2020). Potential strategies for targeting CSCs include for example targeting stem cell maintenance pathways, CSC-associated cell surface markers, interactions within the stem cell niche, and the plasticity of CSCs (Gimple et al., 2019; Saygin et al., 2019). Selected emerging therapies specifically targeting CSCs that are currently in clinical trials have been recently reviewed (Saygin et al., 2019).

Significant attempts to target CSCs have focused on development of small molecule inhibitors targeting the signaling pathways critical for the maintenance of CSCs

(Figure 5E) such as Notch, Hedgehog, and Wnt pathways (Zhou et al., 2009). Other signaling pathways important for the maintenance of CSCs and thus, potential therapeutic targets are TGF- β , PI3K, janus kinase (JAK)/STAT3, and NF- κ B. A major concern with this strategy is that most stem cell signaling pathways in CSCs are shared with normal stem cells, which causes limitations and safety issues about possible toxicity to normal stem cells (Saygin et al., 2019). Cell surface markers expressed by CSCs have been a target for antibody-based therapeutics. However, due to cellular heterogeneity and plasticity of CSCs, the expression of the cell surface markers can vary between patients, tumor types, or even within the same tumor. Since most of the cell surface markers expressed by CSCs are also shared with normal stem cells, finding a potential therapeutic window might be challenging (Zhou et al., 2009).

Targeting the CSC-niche interactions or alternatively CSC plasticity represent potential ways to eradicate CSCs (Figure 5E). Targeting the C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) and the focal adhesion kinase (FAK) with specific inhibitors to block the CSC-niche interaction are currently in phase II clinical trials of patients with hematological malignancies and ovarian cancer, respectively (Saygin et al., 2019). Antiangiogenic therapy represents a potential strategy to indirectly target GSCs via disruption of the perivascular niche where the GSCs typically reside. Interestingly, antiangiogenic treatment with bevacizumab depleted GSCs and suppressed tumor growth in xenograft models of GBM (Bao et al., 2006; Calabrese et al., 2007). Another study investigating the effects of bevacizumab in patient-derived GBM xenografts demonstrated that significant reduction in the tumor blood supply in response to treatment with bevacizumab was, however, accompanied with increased tumor cell invasion caused by induced hypoxia (Keunen et al., 2011).

Targeting CSC plasticity could suppress the tumor growth or sensitize the tumor cells to treatment (Figure 5E). This could be achieved by induction of a specific cell state that is known to be less tumorigenic, less plastic, or more vulnerable for therapeutic targeting (Suva and Tirosh, 2020). However, more studies are needed to better understand the relationship and dynamics between different cell states and their therapeutic potential. A study investigating the therapeutic potential of BMP4 showed that treatment of patient-derived GSCs with BMP4 induced cell differentiation in vitro and treatment of orthotopic patient-derived glioblastoma xenografts with BMP4loaded heparin acrylic beads in vivo significantly prolonged the survival of animals suggesting that induction of cell differentiation could potentially target the GSCs (Piccirillo et al., 2006). A recent study showed that treatment of patient-derived GBM cells with BMP4 induced specific cell state transitions as demonstrated by lineagetracing and single-cell RNA-sequencing of barcoded GBM cells (Larsson et al., 2021). Importantly, this new strategy allows measurement of transcriptional states of single GBM cells over time and in response to treatment which could be useful for development of therapies targeting tumor cell plasticity in the future (Larsson et al., 2021).

5. Experimental models to study glioblastoma

It is generally accepted in the field that established classic GBM cell lines, such as U87MG, U251, and T98G that have been extensively passaged in serum-

supplemented growth medium in vitro, do not represent reliable models of GBM (Robertson et al., 2019). Due to long-term culture in the presence of serum, these cells are genetically unstable and tumors that develop upon xenotransplantation have lost their invasiveness and therefore do not resemble GBM (Lee et al., 2006). Moreover, a recent study performed authentication analysis of glioma cell lines and showed that the U87MG distributed by the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) does not match the original cell line established in Uppsala nearly 50 years ago, suggesting an unknown origin of these cells (Allen et al., 2016).

Patient-derived primary GBM cells provide a disease-relevant model to study GBM. These patient-derived cells are cultured in serum-free medium supplemented with essential growth factors, which enriches the GSCs and cells grow in suspension as gliospheres. The gliosphere cultures are more stable and better recapitulate the genotype and transcriptional state of the parental tumor. Upon orthotopic xenografting into the mice brain, patient-derived gliospheres are highly tumorigenic and more closely recapitulate the growth characteristics and tumor cell heterogeneity present in the original human GBM (Lee et al., 2006). These patient-derived xenografts (PDX), however, propagate in immunodeficient mice, resulting in the tumor microenvironment that is significantly different from the actual microenvironment and more importantly devoid of the immune system (Linkous et al., 2019).

Brain organoids and brain slice cultures provide more complex ex vivo models. Brain organoids are simplified laboratory-grown 3D cultures typically derived from human embryonic stem cells or induced pluripotent stem cells (Lancaster et al., 2013; Linkous et al., 2019). Protocols for patient-derived GBM organoids have also been recently established (Linkous et al., 2019; Jacob et al., 2020). GBM organoids recapitulate the cellular heterogeneity present in the original tumor and are highly tumorigenic when transplanted into the animal brain but lack certain essential interactions with the microenvironment. GBM organoids are suitable for example for biobanking, xenograft studies, and high-throughput drug screenings, which likely facilitates the development of personalized therapies (Jacob et al., 2020). An advantage of the brain slice cultures is the possibility to investigate cell-cell interactions between tumor cells and host cells and to perform microscopic imaging in real time (Robertson et al., 2019).

Other approaches to model GBM are to use genetically engineered mouse models (GEMMs) or syngeneic mouse models. GEMMs with specifically engineered mutations in oncogenes such as *PDGFR* and *EGFR* or tumor suppressor genes such as *NF1* to drive spontaneous tumor formation have widely increased our understanding of the genetic drivers of GBM tumorigenesis (Hambardzumyan et al., 2011). As the tumor formation in GEMMs is spontaneous and cannot be controlled, it can be time consuming with some animal-to-animal variation. In syngeneic mouse models for example carcinogen-induced murine glioma cells are transplanted back into mouse brains to induce tumor formation in syngeneic hosts. The commonly used GL261 murine glioma model does not, however, genetically, or histologically resemble an authentic GBM (Robertson et al., 2019). Both GEMMs and syngeneic mouse models have the important advantage of modeling cellular and immune interactions in their native environment. On the other hand, murine tumors do not fully recapitulate human tumors. Taken together, none of these experimental models is a

perfect representation of human GBM and inefficient improvements in treatment of GBM may have suffered from the limitations of the clinically relevant study models. Advances in gene editing will likely facilitate the development of relevant models (Aldape et al., 2019).

6. Novel glioblastoma-associated biomarkers

6.1. Mammary-derived growth inhibitor

Mammary-derived growth inhibitor (MDGI), also known as the heart-type fatty acid binding protein (H-FABP/*FABP3*) is a small 13-kDa cytoplasmic protein expressed at high levels at least in the heart, skeletal muscle, kidney, lung, and brain tissues (Veerkamp et al., 1990). At least nine different FABPs have been identified and named according to the tissue where they were first identified, although their expression is more ubiquitous (Glatz and van der Vusse, 1996; Borchers et al., 1997). H-FABP was purified and characterized from rat heart tissue (Fournier et al., 1978; Said and Schulz, 1984) while MDGI was originally purified from the bovine mammary gland. The molecular mass was predicted to be between 12-14 kDa and MDGI was reported to inhibit proliferation of mammary carcinoma cells and was therefore named as mammary-derived growth inhibitor (Bohmer et al., 1984).

In a following study, MDGI was reported to have extensive sequence homology to the FABPs and retinoic acid-binding proteins with the highest homology with the rat H-FABP (Bohmer et al., 1987). Moreover, based on biochemical studies, mammary FABPs were reported to be very similar to the FABP isolated from the rat heart (Jones et al., 1988). Finally, these studies led to a conclusion that H-FABP and MDGI are functionally indistinguishable (Clark et al., 2000).

MDGI inhibits cell proliferation and promotes differentiation of the normal mouse mammary epithelial cells (Yang et al., 1994). In addition to growth inhibitory function, MDGI is involved in intracellular transport of fatty acids (FAs) and lipid metabolism. Most FABPs bind long-chain fatty acids with high affinity and exhibit additional preference towards polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) (Glatz and van der Vusse, 1996; Richieri et al., 2000). In addition to FA binding properties, FABPs have been proposed to be involved in the transport of lipids to specific cellular compartments. FABPs transport lipids for example to lipid droplets for storage, to the endoplasmic reticulum for membrane biosynthesis and signaling, to the mitochondria for energy production, and to the nucleus for regulation of gene expression (McKillop et al., 2019). Studies in H-FABP knock-out animals demonstrated elevated levels of long-chain FAs in plasma indicating impaired uptake and utilization of FAs by cardiac myocytes (Binas et al., 1999; Schaap et al., 1999).

MDGI becomes overexpressed in several types of cancer, but regulation of its expression as well as its role in cancer remains controversial. MDGI expression in gastric cancer associated with tumor aggressiveness, metastasis, and poor patient survival (Hashimoto et al., 2004). MDGI expression was significantly increased in metastatic uveal melanomas compared to non-metastatic tumors (Linge et al., 2012; Crabb et al., 2015). In non-small cell lung cancer, high MDGI expression predicted
poor survival supporting tumor promoting function for MDGI (Tang et al., 2016). MDGI has been suggested, however, to function as a tumor suppressor in breast cancer. Overexpression of MDGI in human breast cancer cells reduced cell proliferation, colony formation and tumorigenicity in vivo, suggesting a tumor suppressor function for MDGI in breast cancer (Huynh et al., 1995). A tumor suppressor role was further supported by a study demonstrating that MDGI expression is downregulated in breast cancer cell lines and primary breast tumors by hypermethylation (Huynh et al., 1996). Moreover, MDGI was reported to inhibit integrin activity via direct interaction with the cytoplasmic tails of several integrin α subunits, which suppressed invasion of breast cancer cell lines (Nevo et al., 2010). In glioma cells, MDGI expression was induced by hypoxia in a HIF-1 α -dependent manner and MDGI-mediated FA uptake and lipid droplet formation were essential for cell growth and survival under hypoxia (Bensaad et al., 2014). Our research group previously identified overexpression of MDGI in tumor cells and tumor-associated vasculature of orthotopic GBM xenografts and clinical glioma samples (Hyvonen et al., 2014).

6.2. CD109

CD109 is a 180-kDa glycoprotein of the α 2-macroglobulin/complement family expressed at the cell surface of activated T cells and platelets, hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells, and endothelial cells (Sutherland et al., 1991; Murray et al., 1999; Lin et al., 2002). CD109 is bound to the cell surface via its C-terminal glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchor. CD109 is synthesized as a 155-kDa core protein that after glycosylation and maturation in the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi complex becomes a 205-kDa glycoprotein. The mature CD109 is cleaved in the trans-Golgi network into 180-kDa and 25-kDa subunits by furin and finally expressed at the cell surface as a complex of two subunits (Hagiwara et al., 2010). The large 180-kDa CD109 can be released from the cell surface and is capable of thioester-mediated covalent binding whereas the small 25-kDa GPI-anchor containing subunit remains bound to the plasma membrane (Lin et al., 2002; Hagiwara et al., 2010).

CD109 was characterized as a TGF- β co-receptor that negatively regulates the TGF- β signaling pathway in human keratinocytes in vitro (Finnson et al., 2006). A followup study demonstrated that CD109 promoted internalization and degradation of the TGF- β receptor as a regulatory mechanism to inhibit activation of the TGF- β signaling (Bizet et al., 2011). Moreover, treatment of human keratinocytes with soluble recombinant CD109 downregulated TGF- β signaling, but at the same time upregulated STAT3 phosphorylation and Bcl-2 expression, which increased cell survival of human keratinocytes in vitro (Litvinov et al., 2011). *CD109* knockout animals were generated to study the physiological function of CD109 in vivo. *CD109*deficient mice were viable with only minor defects in the hair growth. A closer histological analysis revealed abnormalities in the skin, especially hyperplasia of the epidermis in the *CD109*-deficient animals was evident compared to the wild-type animals. Interestingly, increased levels of STAT3 phosphorylation were reported in the *CD109*-deficient animals whereas no effect on TGF- β signaling was observed (Mii et al., 2012). Despite these important findings that describe CD109 as a regulator of various signaling pathways, the physiological function of CD109 remains still largely unknown.

CD109 is also highly expressed in several cancers and has been recently widely studied in the context of cancer. High expression of CD109 has been detected in several cancer cell lines including skin, lung, and esophageal squamous cell carcinomas and GBM whereas most normal tissues showed no CD109 expression (Hashimoto et al., 2004). High CD109 has also been reported in surgically resected human lung tumors (Sato et al., 2007), basal-like breast carcinomas (Hasegawa et al., 2008), and brain tumors (Shiraki et al., 2017). In a previous study from our research group, a proteomic analysis of biotinylated cell surface proteins was performed to analyze differentially expressed proteins between metastatic and non-metastatic isogenic tumor cell lines. Several cell surface proteins were identified to be overexpressed in the metastatic cell lines including CD109 (Karhemo et al., 2012). More recently, CD109 expression was reported to be associated with poor survival of patients with lung cancer and CD109 was demonstrated to promote lung cancer metastasis via a signaling mechanism involving activation of the JAK/STAT3 pathway (Chuang et al., 2017).

AIMS OF THIS STUDY

GBM is among the deadliest cancers and remains a therapeutic challenge with practically no cure. The aim of this study was to elucidate mechanism underlying GBM tumor initiation and progression, identify vulnerabilities as possible novel targets for therapies, and test the efficacy of such targeted therapies in relevant preclinical models of GBMs.

Specific aims of this study were the followings:

- i. To study the functional roles and molecular mechanisms of the GBMassociated proteins MDGI and CD109 in tumor initiation and progression
- ii. To investigate the potential of an antihistamine clemastine as a lysosometargeted therapy in a preclinical study of glioblastoma
- iii. To understand the mechanisms how CD109 maintains the glioblastoma cell stemness

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The most important materials and methods used in this study are briefly described here. Detailed description can be found in the original publications (I, II).

1. Materials

1.1. Cell lines

Cell line	Origin	Source	Used in
BT3	Human GSCs	Generated in the lab	I, II
BT3 CD133**	Human GSCs	Generated in the lab	II
BT5	Human gliosarcoma cells	Generated in the lab	I
BT5R	Human recurrent gliosarcoma/GBM cells	Generated in the lab	Ι
BT11	Human GSCs	Generated in the lab	I, II
BT12	Human GSCs	Generated in the lab	I, II
BT13	Human GSCs	Generated in the lab	I, II
BT18	Human GSCs	Generated in the lab	Ш
ZH161	Human GSCs	Prof. M. Weller, Zürich	I
ZH305	Human GSCs	Prof. M. Weller, Zürich	I, II
S24	Human GSCs	Prof. M. Weller, Zürich	I, II
LN229	Human GBM cells	Prof. M. Weller, Zürich	I
LN308	Human GBM cells	Prof. M. Weller, Zürich	I
U87MG	Human GBM cells	ATCC	I
293FT	Human embryonic kidney cells	ATCC	I, II
bEnd.3	Immortalized murine brain endothelial cells	ATCC	I
HuAR2T	Immortalized human umbilical vein endothelial cells	Prof. P. Ojala, Helsinki	I
iNHA	Immortalized human brain astrocytes	Lonza	I
H2	Human GBM, giant cell variant	Prof. S. Meri, Helsinki	Ш

Table 1. The following cell lines were used in this study.

* BT3 CD133+ is a FACS-sorted CD133+ cell population derived from the parental BT3.

1.2. Reagents

Table 2. The most important reagents used in this study.

Reagent	Description	Reference	Used in
Cathepsin B substrate	Enzyme activity measurement	Calbiochem	Ι
Clemastine fumarate	LMP induction	Sigma-Aldrich	I

Fibrinogen	3D culture matrix	Calbiochem	II
Fugene 6	Transfection reagent	Promega	I, II
Gefinitib	EGFR inhibition	InvivoGen	I
K777	Pan-Cathepsin inhibitor	AdipoGen Life sciences	Ι
Laminin	Coating of surface for cell adhesion	Invitrogen	=
LLOMe*	LMP induction	Santa Cruz	I
Methylcellulose stock solution	Colony forming assay	R&D Systems	I, II
MTT*	Cell viability measurement	Sigma-Aldrich	I, II
Poly-D-Lysine	Coating of surface for cell adhesion	Sigma-Aldrich	I, II
rhCD109	Recombinant human CD109	R&D Systems	П
rhEGF	Recombinant human EGF	Peprotech	I, II
rhFGF-basic	Recombinant human FGF-basic	Peprotech	I, II
rhIL-6	Recombinant human IL-6	Peprotech	П
Stattic	STAT3 inhibitor V	Sigma-Aldrich	II
Temozolomide	DNA alkylating agent	MedChemExpress	II

* LLOMe: L-leucyl-L-Leucine O-methyl ester; MTT: Thiazolyl Blue Tetrazolium Bromide.

1.3. Lentiviral shRNA-constructs

Lentivirus	Description	Construct ID	Used in
ShControl	Non-targeting control	SHC002	I, II
shMDGI#1	Human FABP3 silencing	TRCN0000059680	I
shMDGI#2	Human FABP3 silencing	TRCN0000059681	I
shCD109#1	Human CD109 silencing	TRCN0000073649	П
shCD109#2	Human CD109 silencing	TRCN0000073648	II
shGP130#1	Human IL6ST silencing	TRCN0000058287	П
shGP130#2	Human IL6ST silencing	TRCN0000058285	II

Table 3. Lentiviral shRNA-constructs in pLKO.1 vector.

1.4. Antibodies

Table 4. Primary antibodies and antibody conjugates used in this study.

Antigen	Source	Reference	Used in
α -SMA Cy3 conjugate	Mouse monoclonal	Sigma-Aldrich	II
β -actin	Rabbit polyclonal	Cell Signaling Technology	I
β -tubulin	Mouse monoclonal	BD Pharmingen	I, II
Annexin V conjugate	Alexa Fluor [™] 488	Molecular Probes	I
pAkt (Thr308)	Rabbit polyclonal	Cell Signaling Technology	Ι

Akt	Rabbit polyclonal	Cell Signaling Technology	
BAD	Mouse monoclonal	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	I
Calnexin 1	Mouse monoclonal	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	I
Caspase-3	Rabbit monoclonal	Cell Signaling Technology	I
Cleaved Caspase-3 (Asp175)	Rabbit monoclonal	Cell Signaling Technology	I, II
CD31	Rat monoclonal	BD Pharmingen	I, II
CD109	Sheep polyclonal	R&D Systems	Ш
CD109 (C-9)	Mouse monoclonal	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	=
CD109	Mouse monoclonal	R&D Systems	=
CD109 11H3	Mouse monoclonal	IBL America	=
Collagen IV	Rabbit polyclonal	Sigma-Aldrich	II
pEGFR (Tyr1068)	Rabbit polyclonal	Cell Signaling Technology	I
EGFR	Rabbit polyclonal	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	I
pERK1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204)	Mouse monoclonal	Cell Signaling Technology	I
ERK1	Rabbit polyclonal	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	I
Galectin-1	Rabbit polyclonal	Abcam	I
GAPDH	Mouse monoclonal	Europa Bioproducts	I
GP130 (E-8)	Mouse monoclonal	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	П
GP130	Goat polyclonal	R&D Systems	II
HIF-1α	Rabbit polyclonal	Cell Signaling Technology	I
Ki-67	Mouse monoclonal	Dako	II
Lamin A/C	Rabbit monoclonal	Abcam	II
LAMP2	Rabbit polyclonal	Abcam	I
MDGI	Mouse monoclonal	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	I
MDGI	Rat monoclonal	R&D Systems	I
NG2	Rabbit polyclonal	R&D Systems	П
NUMA Cy3 conjugate	Mouse monoclonal	Sigma-Aldrich	I, II
Olig2	Goat polyclonal	R&D Systems	П
p27	Rabbit polyclonal	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	I
pP53 (Ser15)	Rabbit polyclonal	Cell Signaling Technology	I
P53	Mouse monoclonal	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	I
PDGFRα	Mouse monoclonal	R&D Systems	П
PDGFRβ	Rabbit polyclonal	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	II
Phalloidin-TRITC* (F- actin)	Peptide	Sigma-Aldrich	Ш
Podocalyxin	Rat monoclonal	R&D Systems	I, II
SOX2	Goat polyclonal	R&D Systems	П
pSTAT3 (Tyr705)	Rabbit polyclonal	Cell Signaling Technology	II
STAT3	Mouse monoclonal	Cell Signaling Technology	II
Vimentin Cy3 conjugate	Mouse monoclonal	Sigma-Aldrich	I, II

* TRITC: Tetramethylrhodamine B isothiocyanate, a fluorescently labelled peptide that stains filamentous Actin (F-Actin).

2. Methods

2.1. Cell culture (I, II)

The cell lines and their origin used in this study are described in Table 1. All the patient-derived GBM cell lines (referred as BT) were maintained as gliosphere cultures in serum-free DMEM/F-12 medium supplemented with 1x B-27 supplement, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin, 15 mM HEPES, 0.02 µg/ml EGF, and 0.01 µg/ml FGF-basic (Table 2). ZH161, ZH305, and S24 were cultured in Neurobasal medium supplemented with 1x B-27 minus vitamin A supplement, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin, 0.02 µg/ml EGF, and 0.02 µg/ml FGF-basic (Table 2). LN229, LN308, and the commercial U87MG and bEnd.3 cell lines were cultured according to manufacturer's instructions in DMEM 1.0 g/l glucose supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 2mM Lglutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin. The commercial 293FT cell line was cultured according to manufacturer's instructions in DMEM 4.5 g/l glucose supplemented with 10% FBS, 2mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin. H2 cell line was cultured in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 2mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin. Immortalized human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HuAR2T) were maintained in endothelial cell growth medium 2 (EBM2) supplemented with growth medium 2 supplement pack (PromoCell) and 2.0 µg/ml doxycycline. Immortalized normal human astrocytes (iNHA) were maintained in astrocyte basal medium (ABM) with SingleQuots supplement pack (Lonza). All the cell lines were maintained at +37°C in a humidified incubator with 5% CO₂.

2.2. Cell stimulations and treatments (I, II)

For serum-induced cell differentiation experiments, GSCs were dissociated as single cells and plated in complete DMEM medium supplemented with 10% FBS for indicated times (II). For hypoxia treatment, cells were incubated in complete growth medium O/N and then in a hypoxia chamber (Ruskinn Technology Limited) in the presence of 1% of O₂ and 5% CO₂ for 24h (I). To demonstrate that clemastine induces LMP, several GSCs or normal cells (iNHA, HuAR2T, 293FT, and bEnd.3) (Table 1) were treated with 1µg/ml of clemastine fumarate (Sigma-Aldrich) or DMSO O/N at +37°C followed by immunofluorescence staining with the galectin-1 antibody (I). For experiments studying the activation of STAT3 signaling pathway, CD109-silenced or non-targeted control GSCs were cultured in complete growth medium without growth factors O/N at +37°C and then stimulated with recombinant human IL-6 (50 ng/ml) for 15 and 30 min (Table 2). The cells were then lysed and analyzed by Western blotting (II).

2.3. Lentiviral-shRNA vectors (I, II)

The specific shRNA constructs in pLKO.1 vector were obtained from the RNAi Consortium shRNA library (Broad Institute of MIT and Harvard) (Table 3). To

produce the lentivirus, the specific shRNA-containing plasmid or non-targeting control plasmid (scrambled) and the lentiviral packaging plasmids pCMVg and pCMV Δ 8.9 (Addgene) were co-transfected into the 293FT cells (Table 1) by using the Fugene 6 transfection reagent (Promega). The lentiviral supernatants were collected 48h and 72h after transfection and sterile filtered. Target cells were transduced with the lentiviral supernatant together with 8 µg/ml of Polybrene (Sigma-Aldrich) for O/N. The silencing efficiency was assessed by qRT-PCR and/or Western blot analysis. Experiments were started at day 4-6 post-transduction. Complete sequences of the shRNA constructs are provided in the respective original publication (I, II).

2.4. Western blot analysis (I, II)

For preparation of the protein extracts, cells were first washed with ice-cold PBS and then lysed in SDS-lysis buffer containing 150 mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.8), 1.2% SDS, 30% glycerol, and 15% β-mercaptoethanol or in RIPA buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, and 0.5 mM DTT together with protease and phosphatase inhibitors (both from Roche) for 30 min on ice. The samples were cleared by microcentrifugation at 14 000g for 20 min at +4°C (I). In the study II, the cells were lysed in RIPA buffer containing 150 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), 150 mM NaCl, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 1% SDS, 2% octyl-β-Dglucopyraniside, 0.5 mM DTT together with protease and phosphatase inhibitors. The protein extracts were sonicated and then cleared by microcentrifugation as described above. Protein concentrations of the cell extracts were measured by using the Pierce BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The samples were boiled in 2 x Laemmli sample buffer + 5% β mercaptoethanol. Equal amounts of protein per sample (10-20 µg) were separated on Tris-Glycine Mini Gels (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific) and transferred to PVDF membranes using the Trans-Blot Turbo Transfer system (Bio-Rad Laboratories). The membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk or 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in TBS with 0.1% Tween 20 (TBS-T) at RT for 1h and then incubated with appropriate primary antibodies (Table 4) O/N at +4°C. The membranes were washed and subsequently incubated with the horseradish peroxidade (HRP)conjugated secondary antibodies (Dako) for 30 min at RT. After washes, the signal was detected by using the SuperSignal West Pico ECL substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific) or Clarity Western ECL substrate (Bio-Rad Laboratories) and exposed to FUJIFILM Super RX-N.

2.5. Immunoprecipitation (II)

For the immunoprecipitation assay, cells were first washed with ice-cold PBS and then lysed in IP-lysis buffer containing 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1 mM β -glycerophosphate, 2.5 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 1 µg leupeptin together with protease and phosphate inhibitors (Roche). The samples were lysed for 5 min on ice and then microcentrifuged at 14 000g for 10 min at +4°C. Protein concentrations were determined using a Pierce

BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The lysates were precleared for 30 min at RT by incubating with prewashed Dynabeads Protein G (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Then 700 μ g of protein was used for immunoprecipitation together with 7.5 μ g of anti-GP130 antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) (Table 4) for O/N at +4°C. Appropriate IgG control antibody served as a negative control. The immunocomplexes were incubated with pre-washed Dynabeads Protein G magnetic beads for 1.5 h at RT, then pulled down, washed several times, and finally eluted in 4 x Laemmli sample buffer (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Samples were further analyzed by Western blotting as described above.

2.6. qRT-PCR (I, II)

Total RNA was isolated from cells using the Nucleospin RNA II kit (Macherey-Nagel). 1.0 μ g of RNA was used for cDNA synthesis via reverse transcription using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories) according to manufacturer's instructions. qRT-PCR was performed using KAPA SYBR fast qPCR master mix (2X) (Kapa Biosystems) and the CFX96 real-time PCR detection system (Bio-Rad Laboratories). The human ADP-ribosylation factor 1 (*ARF1*) was used as a housekeeping gene to normalize the gene expression levels. Relative gene expression levels were quantified by using the Delta Ct method (Δ Ct). Complete primer sequences are provided in the respective original publication (I, II).

2.7. MTT and drug sensitivity assays (I, II)

MTT assay was used to measure cell proliferation and viability in vitro. Cells $(5x10^3)$ in 100 µl of complete growth medium were plated in 3-10 replicates in 96-well plates. At the indicated time points, 10 µl of 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT; 5 mg/ml in PBS) (Table 2) was added to the cells. The plates were incubated for 2h at +37°C. Cells were then lysed with 10% SDS and 10 mM HCl in H₂O for O/N at +37°C. The absorbances were measured at 540 nm using the FLUOstar Omega microplate reader (BMG Labtech).

For the EGFR inhibition experiments (I), GSCs were treated with 0.1-10 μ M of gefinitib (InvivoGen) (Table 2) for 48h followed by cell viability measurement by the MTT assay. For the pan-cathepsin inhibition studies (I), the cells were treated with 0, 1, or 2 μ M of K777 (pan-cathepsin inhibitor) (AdipoGen Life Sciences) (Table 2). At indicated time points, cell viability was measured by the MTT assay. Fresh K777 inhibitor was added every other day. For measurement of clemastine cytotoxicity (I), the cells were treated with 1 μ g/ml, 2 μ g/ml, or 5 μ g/ml of clemastine fumarate (Sigma-Aldrich) (Table 2). At indicated time points, the cell viability was measured by the MTT assay as described above. For TMZ sensitivity experiments (II), the cells were treated with 250 μ M of TMZ (MedChemExpress) (Table 2) for four days. Fresh TMZ was added after two days of culture. Cells treated with DMSO served as negative controls. The cell viability was measured by the MTT assay as described above. For a combination therapy with Stattic (specific STAT3 inhibitor, Sigma-Aldrich) (Table 2) and TMZ (II), the cells were first treated with 1 μ M of Stattic for O/N and then with

 $250~\mu M$ of TMZ for an additional two days. Cells treated with DMSO served as negative controls. The cell viability was measured by the MTT assay as described above

2.8. Cell viability and apoptosis assays (I, II)

Cell viability was assessed either by using trypan blue exclusion method (study I) or CellTiter-Glo luminescent cell viability assay (study II). Briefly, for determination of cell viability by the trypan blue assay, cells were dissociated as single cells, diluted 1:2 in 0.4% trypan blue (Sigma-Aldrich), and counted. Cell viability was determined based on the dye uptake: clear cytoplasm (viable cells) versus blue cytoplasm (nonviable cells). The cell viability formula: (number of viable cells / total number of cells) x 100. Viability of cells or colonies embedded in the 3D fibrin matrix was measured based on the released ATP levels. At indicated time points, CellTiter-Glo reagent (Promega) was mixed 1:1 with complete growth medium in a 96-well plate. The plate was mixed vigorously for 5 min at RT and incubated for 25 min at RT to stabilize the luminescent signal. Finally, the luminescent signal was measured by using the FLUOstar Omega microplate reader (BMG Labtech). Cellular apoptosis was determined by a flow cytometric assay based on Annexin V staining (study I). Annexin V staining identifies apoptosis by binding to phosphatidylserine residues exposed at the outer cell membrane at early stages of apoptosis. Single cell suspensions of control and MDGI-silenced GSCs were stained with Annexin V, Alexa FluorTM 488 conjugate (Thermo Fisher Scientific) (Table 4) for 15 min at RT. Cells were washed with binding buffer containing 10 mM HEPES, 140 mM NaCl, and 2.5 mM CaCl₂ and then fixed with 4% PFA containing 2.5 mM CaCl₂ for 10 min at +4°C. Cells were suspended into the binding buffer and the fluorescence signal was detected by flow cytometry (BD Accuri C6). Data analysis was performed using FlowJo v10.1 software (Tree Star Inc.).

2.9. Colony forming assays (I, II)

For a colony forming assay in semi-solid methylcellulose matrix, 1×10^4 control or shRNA-silenced patient-derived GSCs were suspended as single cells in complete growth medium supplemented with the growth factors and then mixed with methylcellulose stock solution (R&D Systems) (Table 2). The final concentration of methylcellulose was 1.3%. The mixtures were carefully applied on 35-mm cell culture plates in triplicates using a syringe and a needle. The cultures were incubated for three weeks at +37°C with 5% CO₂. At the experimental endpoint, the colonies were imaged using Nikon Eclipse Ti-E inverted microscope. Quantification of the colonies was performed bv using the CellProfiler image analysis software (http://cellprofiler.org/citations/). For soft agar colony forming assay, 1x10³ cells were suspended in complete growth medium containing 0.35% agarose. The mixtures were added on top of a 2-ml layer of pre-solidified 0.7% agar in complete medium in 6-well plates. Complete growth medium was added twice weekly. At indicated time points, the colonies were imaged using inverted Zeiss Axiovert 200 microscope. Quantification of the colonies was performed by using the ImageJ software (National Institute of Health, USA).

2.10. Immunofluorescence staining of cells (I, II)

Cells were first detached as single cell suspensions and then plated on coverslips and incubated for O/N at +37°C. Patient-derived GSCs that grow as gliospeheres were plated on coverslips coated with poly-D-lysine (Sigma-Aldrich) (Table 2). Coverslips were washed with PBS, fixed with 4% PFA in PBS for 10 min at RT, and then permeabilized with 0.5% NP-40 in PBS or 0.3% Triton-X100 in PBS for 5 min at RT. After washes with PBS the coverslips were blocked with 3% BSA in PBS or in 10% FBS containing 0.03% Triton-X100 in PBS and incubated with appropriate primary antibodies (Table 4) for 1h at RT. The coverslips were then incubated with specific fluorescence-conjugated secondary antibodies (Alexa Fluor, Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 30 min at RT. Finally, after washes with PBS, the coverslips were mounted with Vectashield mounting medium containing DAPI (Vector Laboratories).

2.11. Analysis of lysosomal membrane permeabilization (I)

LMP can be visualized in cells by a galectin puncta-staining assay that has been described previously (Aits et al., 2015). For analysis of LMP in non-targeted control and MDGI-silenced patient-derived GSCs, the cells were plated on poly-D-lysinecoated (Table 2) coverslips as single cells and incubated for O/N at +37°C. Cells were stained according to the immunofluorescence staining protocol of cells described above using a specific antibody detecting galectin-1 (LGALS1, Abcam) (Table 4). GSCs treated with 2 mM of L-leucyl-L-leucine O-methyl ester (LLOMe, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) (Table 2) for 4h to induce LMP served as a positive control. To demonstrate that clemastine induces LMP, several GSCs and normal cells were treated with 1µg/ml of clemastine fumarate (Table 2) for 24h at +37°C followed by immunofluorescence staining with the anti-galectin-1 antibody (Table 4). Cells treated with DMSO served as a negative control. The coverslips were scanned for digital image analysis using a 3DHISTECH slide scanner. The cytoplasmic galectin punctastaining was quantified using Panoramic viewer software (3DHISTECH). Representative microscopic images were acquired with Zeiss LSM 880 confocal microscope.

2.12. Cytoplasmic cathepsin B activity (I)

A protocol for measurement of cytoplasmic cathepsin B activity was obtained and modified from (Jaattela and Nylandsted, 2015). Briefly, patient-derived GSCs (2x10⁴) in 100 μ l of complete growth medium with growth factors were plated in 96-well plate coated with poly-D-lysine (Sigma-Aldrich) (Table 2) as four replicates and incubated for O/N at +37°C. Cytosolic and total cell extracts were prepared by lysing the cells in lysis buffer containing digitonin at concentrations of 20 μ g/ml and 200 μ g/ml, respectively. Cells were lysed on ice for 15 min after which the extracts were collected and transferred on new 96-well plates. To measure the cathepsin B enzyme activity, 50 μ l of cytosolic and total cell extracts were mixed with 50 μ l of cathepsin B substrate (Calbiochem) (Table 2) diluted in reaction buffer. After incubation for 5 min at +30°C, the kinetics of cathepsin B activity was measured using the FLUOstar Omega

microplate reader (BMG Labtech). The cathepsin B enzyme activity in the cytosol was calculated by normalizing the measured values to the total protein concentration of the corresponding well, determined by the Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and then by comparing to the measured total cellular activity.

2.13. Mass spectrometric analysis of lysosomal extracts (I)

Lysosomal extracts were prepared from non-targeted control and MDGI-silenced patient-derived GSCs at 6d post-transduction by using the Lysosome Enrichement Kit for Tissue and Cultured cells (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instruction. To obtain enough sample material, six independent cultures were pooled together for one readout. After the lysosomal extraction by gradient ultracentrifugation, the purity of the collected sample fractions was confirmed by Western blot analysis using specific antibody against lysosomal protein LAMP2 (Table 4). Extracted lysosomal pellets were stored at -80°C until mass spectrometric analysis. For mass spectrometric analysis, lipids were extracted from the lysosomal extracts and identified and quantified by direct infusion electrospray ionization-tandem mass spectrometry using Agilent 6490 Triple Quad LC/MS with iFunnel technology (Agilent Technologies Inc.) at the Helsinki University Lipidomics Unit. A more detailed protocol of the mass spectrometric analysis is provided in the respective original publication (I).

2.14. 3D fibrin cultures (II)

For the 3D fibrin cultures, 6 mg/ml of fibrinogen (Calbiochem) (Table 2) was dissolved in Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) for 2h at +37°C. Patient-derived GSCs ($3x10^3$) transduced with control or CD109 targeting shRNAs were suspended in 15 µl of fibrinogen. Polymerization was initiated by addition of 15 µl of Thrombin (4 U/ml, Sigma-Aldrich) and 15 µl of Aprotinin (400 µg/ml, Sigma-Aldrich) in HBSS to the mixtures. The mixtures were pipetted on 24-well plates and allowed to polymerize for 1h at +37°C. Complete growth medium supplemented with growth factors and Aprotinin (100 µg/ml) were added to the cultures. Fresh growth medium and the supplements were added twice a week. Cell growth in the 3D fibrin matrix was followed by microscopic imaging using EVOS FL inverted epifluorescence microscope (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The 3D fibrin cultures were fixed with 4% PFA in PBS for 1h at RT and then stored at +4°C in PBS until immunofluorescence stainings.

2.15. Immunofluorescence staining of 3D fibrin cultures (II)

Before the immunofluorescence staining, the 3D fibrin cultures were post-fixed in icecold acetone-methanol (1:1) followed by washes with PBS. The 3D fibrin cultures were then blocked in 15% FBS and 0.3% Triton X-100 in PBS for 2h at RT. After washes with PBS, the 3D fibrin cultures were then incubated with appropriate primary antibodies (Table 4) for O/N at $+4^{\circ}$ C. The 3D fibrin cultures were washed extensively first with 0.45% Triton X-100 in PBS and then with PBS followed by incubation with specific fluorescence-conjugated secondary antibodies (Alexa Fluor, Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 4h at RT. After washing with PBS, the 3D fibrin cultures were finally mounted with Vectashield containing DAPI. Zeiss AxioImager.Z1 upright epifluorescence microscope equipped with Apotome and Hamamatsu Orca R2 1.3-megapixel monochrome CCD camera was used for imaging.

2.16. Proximity ligation assay (II)

Proximity ligation assay (PLA) was performed using the Duolink In Situ Red Starter Kit (Mouse/Goat; MilliporeSigma) and according to the manufacturer's instructions. Patient-derived GSCs were plated as single cells on Laminin-coated (1 µg/cm²; Invitrogen) (Table 2) Lab-Tek II chamber slides (Nunc, Thermo Fisher Scientific) and incubated O/N at +37°C. Cells were fixed with 4% PFA in PBS for 10 min at RT and then blocked with a specific blocking reagent for 1h at RT. Cells were incubated with specific primary antibodies against CD109 (mouse monoclonal, R&D Systems), CD109 11H3 (mouse monoclonal, IBL America), and GP130 (goat polyclonal, R&D Systems) (Table 4) diluted 1:200 in the antibody diluent for O/N at +4°C. Subsequently steps including PLA probe incubation, ligation, and amplification were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Slides were mounted in mounting medium with DAPI, provided in the kit, and imaged using a Zeiss LSM880 confocal microscope. To study whether the soluble CD109 can interact with GP130, CD109-silenced patient-derived GSCs were treated with 500 ng/ml of recombinant CD109 (R&D Systems) for 4h prior the fixation and analysis of the PLA signal as described above.

2.17. Tumor microarrays (I, II)

MDGI expression was analyzed in glioma tumor microarrays obtained from surgically operated patients at the Helsinki University Hospital (I). Low grade glioma tumor microarrays were prepared from tumor biopsies of 112 patients and has been described previously (Puputti et al., 2006). GBM tumor microarray consisted of 36 tumor biopsies and has been described previously (Joensuu et al., 2005). For immunohistochemical analysis, formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissues were deparaffinized and rehydrated and stained using the Tyramide Signal Amplification kit (TSA) kit (Perkin Elmer) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The antigen was retrieved in a citrate buffer (1.8 mM citric acid, 8.2 mM sodium citrate, pH 6.0) with heat treatment. Endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched with 3% H₂O₂ in methanol and non-specific binding was blocked with a TNB blocking buffer for 30 min. The sections were incubated with an anti-MDGI antibody (R&D Systems) (Table 4) O/N at +4°C followed by incubation with biotinylated secondary antibody (Dako) and then with HRP-conjugated streptavidin. The specific signal was amplified by using a biotinylated tyramide and HRPconjugated streptavidin. The staining was visualized with 3-amino-9-ethylcarbatzole (AEC). Finally, the sections were counterstained with Mayer's hematoxylin and mounted.

Clinical patient material for evaluation of CD109 expression was obtained from surgically operated patients at the Tampere University Hospital. Tumor classification and grading was performed by a neuropathologist according to the WHO criteria published in 2007 (Louis et al., 2007). The tumor microarrays consisted of 385 primary human astrocytomas and 120 recurrences. The CD109 immunostaining protocol was optimized for Lab Vision Autostainer 480 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) using the HRP/DAB detection system (Dako). FFPE sections (5 µm) were deparaffinized and antigen was retrieved in Tris-HCl (pH 8.5) with heat treatment using a Lab vision PT-module (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The tumor microarray slides were blocked with Dako REAL antibody diluent followed by incubation with an anti-CD109 antibody (R&D Systems) (Table 4) diluted 1:400 in the Dako REAL antibody diluent for 1h. The slides were then incubated with a specific HRPconjugated secondary antibody (Dako) and the staining was visualized with the Dako REAL DAB+ substrate. Finally, the slides were counterstained with Mayer's hematoxylin, mounted and scanned for digital image analysis using a 3DHISTECH slide scanner.

2.18. Ex vivo organotypic culture (I)

Five- to eight-week-old female FVB mice were anesthetized using ketamine and xylazine and the brains were collected. The cerebellum was excised into two hemispheres, which were then embedded in 4% low melting point agarose (Thermo Fisher Scientific) in PBS. The brain tissue was cut into 500 μ m thick sections using a vibratome (HistoLab). Brain tissue slices were incubated on a 0.4- μ m filter membranes (Millipore) placed in 6-well plates containing complete Neurobasal A medium (Gibco) supplemented with 1 mM L-glutamine, 1x B-27, and 1% penicillin/streptomycin at +37°C with 5% CO₂. Fresh culture medium was supplied every other day to the tissue slice cultures. Gliospheres were formed from the stably transfected GFP or MDGI-GFP expressing U87MG cells by incubating 4x10³ cells in 0.6% agarose-coated 96-well plates with U-bottom O/N at +37°C. The gliospheres were carefully transferred on the brain tissue slices and their growth was followed ex vivo by imaging at indicated time points using Leica TCS SP2 confocal microscope.

2.19. In vivo intracranial xenografts (I, II)

Six-week-old immunocompromised Rj:NMRI-Foxn1nu/Foxn1nu (Janvier Labs) mice were anesthetized using a mixture of ketamine and xylazine or under 2.5% isoflurane and placed on a stereotaxic injector (World Precision Instruments). Patient-derived GSCs $(1x10^5)$ in 5 µl of PBS were intracranially injected at +2 mm right, -1 mm anteroposterior from the bregma, and at +2.5 mm depth. Post-operative analgesia (temgesic) was administered locally for an additional two days. For clemastine preclinical study, tumor cells were intracranially transplanted as described above and after two weeks of tumor formation animals were randomized into two cohorts: vehicle and clemastine. Clemastine was administered intraperitoneally for 12 days at a dose of 100 mg/kg on the first day followed by 50 mg/kg daily. For the survival study, clemastine treatment was continued until physical signs of tumor burden. PBS was administered intraperitoneally as a control in the vehicle group. At the experimental endpoints, animals were sacrificed, the brain tissues were collected, and snap-frozen in -50°C isopentane (Honeywell). Tissue samples were stored at -80°C until processing and immunofluorescence stainings.

2.20. Immunofluorescence staining of xenograft tissue sections (I, II)

Snap-frozen brain tissues were cut into 9 μ m thick coronal sections by using a cryotome (Leica CM1950). For immunofluorescence staining the tissue sections were thawed, then washed with PBS, and fixed in 4% PFA in PBS for 20 min at RT. Tissue sections were then blocked with 5% FBS and 0.03% Triton X-100 (MilliporeSigma) in PBS for 1h at RT and then incubated with appropriate primary antibodies for O/N at +4°C. Tissue sections were washed with 0.03% Triton X-100 in PBS and then incubated with specific Alexa Fluor-conjugated secondary antibodies (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 1h at RT. After several washes, nuclei were counterstained with DAPI and the tissue sections were mounted with Mowiol mounting medium (MilliporeSigma). The slides were scanned for digital image analysis using a 3DHISTECH slide scanner.

2.21. RNA sequencing (II)

Total RNA was extracted from the patient-derived GSCs using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's instructions. RNA quality was confirmed by using a Tapestation (Agilent). Total RNA (10 ng) was used for preparation of cDNA libraries for the next-generation sequencing by using NEBNext Ultra II Directional RNA Library Prep Kit for Illumina (New England Biolabs). Finally, RNA was sequenced by using an Illumina NextSeq500 High Output (1x75bp) sequencer (Functional Biology Unit, Finland) followed by data processing and data analysis. A more detailed protocol of the RNA sequencing is provided in the respective original publication (II).

2.22. Ethics statement (I, II)

The use of clinical patient material for tumor microarrays were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa (study I) and Tampere University Hospital (study II). The use of glioma tissue biopsies for generation of patient-derived cell lines was approved by the ethics committee of the Pohjois-Savo Health Care District municipalities (53/2009). Before the study, the written informed consent was obtained from all the patients. All animal experiments were approved by the National Animal Experiment Board in Finland and Regional State Administrative Agency of Southern Finland. All animal experiments were performed under a license (ESAVI/6285/04.10.07/2014 and ESAVI/403/2019) and in accordance with Finnish legislation regarding animal experiments.

2.23. Statistical analyses (I, II)

Data are representative of at least three independent experiments unless stated otherwise. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation or \pm standard error mean, as indicated. Fisher's exact test and Chi-squared tests were used to analyze distribution of categorical variables. Log-rank test was used to compare survival distributions of the groups. Unpaired two-tailed student's t-test or nonparametric Mann-Whitney U-test was used to compare means between two groups. Analysis of multiple comparisons were performed by using one-way ANOVA with the Kruskal-Wallis test, or two-way ANOVA with Tukey's or Sidak's multiple comparisons tests. For all statistical tests P values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed with the IBM SPSS (22.0) and GraphPad Prism (8.0) softwares.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1. Profiling transcriptome and tumorigenic potential of patient-derived GSCs (I, II)

Patient-derived GSCs represent a widely accepted model to study GBM. Unlike traditional serum-cultured GBM cell lines, GSC cultures are more stable in vitro and better recapitulate the growth pattern present in the original human GBM such as invasive growth pattern and tumor cell heterogeneity upon xenotransplantation into the animal brain (Lee et al., 2006). Then, in order to have a comprehensive set of patient-derived GSCs covering all GBM subtypes, we generated stable GSC cultures from surgical samples of several patients with high grade gliomas (Le Joncour et al., 2019). GSCs grew as gliospheres in serum-free culture conditions, expressed GSC markers such as SOX2 and Olig2, and were able to form colonies from single cells as studied by colony forming assays. These GSCs were also able to differentiate into astrocytic-like cells for example in the presence of serum and importantly, were highly tumorigenic upon intracranial injection into the brain of immunocompromised mice. This functional characterization demonstrated that GSCs generated in the lab fulfill the functional criteria of GSCs, and therefore represent a relevant model to study GBM (Lathia et al., 2015).

Interestingly, each GSC line displayed a distinct and characteristic tumor growth pattern in vivo that was highly reproducible between the experiments. Two major and distinct phenotypes were identified: formation of a tumor bulk with varying degree of invasion and satellite tumor formation as well as activation of angiogenesis or alternatively highly infiltrative growth pattern with vessel co-option but without a clear tumor bulk or activation of angiogenesis. These observed tumor phenotypes correspond to recently demonstrated growth patterns of mesenchymal (MES) and proneural (PN) clinical GBM subtypes, respectively (Jin et al., 2017).

We profiled the GSCs by performing a bulk RNAsequencing and gene expression analysis. We compared the gene expression profiles to the recently published gene signatures (Neftel et al., 2019). Neftel and colleagues demonstrated that single GBM cells exist in four main cell states: MES-like, AC-like, OPC-like, and NPC-like. Moreover, they compared the cell state signatures to different GBM subtypes and found that enriched MES and AC-like cell state signatures corresponded to the MES and CL GBM subtypes, respectively.





The PN GBM subtype was enriched with OPC and NPC-like cell state signatures (Neftel et al., 2019). Based on the gene expression analysis, our GSCs typically displayed enrichment of two or more cell states which is consistent with the previous studies (Patel et al., 2014; Neftel et al., 2019). We classified our GSCs based on the dominant cell state as follows: H2, BT3 CD133+, BT13, and BT12 as MES-like, and BT18, ZH305, S24, and BT27 as PN-like (Figure 6). We observed that the MES-like signature typically co-occurred with the AC-like signature. Finally, BT11 and BT3 cells were classified as hybrids as they displayed mixed phenotypes. Importantly, the transcriptomic profiles supported the observed in vivo growth patterns of the GSCs. The MES-like BT12 and BT13 formed a large tumor bulk with varying levels of invasion and activation of angiogenesis. The growth pattern of the PN-like BT18, ZH305, and S24 GSCs was highly infiltrative with vessel co-option. These observations were supported by a recent study (Jin et al., 2017).

2. MDGI and CD109 both associate with tumor progression and poor survival (I, II)

In a previous study from our research group, MDGI was discovered to be expressed in human clinical glioma samples in a grade-dependent manner as well as in the tumorassociated vasculature in addition to the tumor cells (Hyvonen et al., 2014). To further study the possible clinical relevance of MDGI in gliomas, we performed immunohistochemical analysis of two cohorts of tumor microarrays consisting of lowgrade gliomas (LGG) and GBMs. These analyses were supported by investigation of *MDGI* mRNA levels in several publicly available datasets all accessed via the GlioVis dataportal (Bowman et al., 2017).

As expected, positive MDGI staining was observed in the tumor cells and in tumorassociated endothelium. Evaluation of the MDGI staining intensities revealed positive correlation with CD117/C-Kit receptor in GBM that has been previously shown to be expressed in the endothelium of perinecrotic and hypoxic regions of GBM (Sihto et al., 2007). We found no significant association between MDGI expression and EGFR or EGFRvIII expression, EGFR phosphorylation (Tyr-1173), or p53 in the tumor microarrays. Moreover, *FABP3*/MDGI mRNA levels did not associate with *IDH1* mutation status in the TCGA LGG dataset.

In the tumor microarray cohort consisting of LGGs, moderate to high MDGI expression significantly associated with poor survival and MDGI was an independent prognostic factor. This finding was supported by the analysis of the TCGA dataset for LGGs and GBMs (TCGA GBMLGG) which demonstrated that *FABP3* mRNA levels significantly correlated with increasing tumor grade and poor survival. *FABP3/MDGI* did not however associate with patient survival in GBMs alone neither in the GBM tumor microarray cohort nor in the TCGA GBM dataset. This finding is possibly explained by the very short overall survival of patients with GBM. Interestingly, analysis of the Ivy_Gap dataset showed that the highest *FABP3* expression was in the areas of leading edge and infiltrative tumor cells suggesting a possibility that MDGI would promote glioma cell invasion.

To investigate the expression of CD109 in clinical glioma samples, we analyzed a large cohort of clinical glioma tumor microarray specimens (grades 2-4) by immunohistochemistry. Positive CD109 immunostaining located at the cell surface of tumor cells was observed in most specimens. Evaluation of the CD109 staining intensities revealed that expression of CD109 significantly associated with increasing tumor grade. CD109 was not significantly associated with *IDH1* mutation, p53, or EGFR expression. Interestingly, CD109 significantly associated with STAT3 phosphorylation (pSTAT3, Tyr705) and increased number of Ki-67 positive tumor cells. A distinct statistical analysis of LGGs (grades 2 and 3) and GBMs (grade 4) alone showed a significant correlation between CD109 and pSTAT3 or Ki-67 only in GBMs suggesting that the CD109-STAT3 association would be specific to GBM. Moreover, CD109 expression associated with significantly poorer survival of patients with grade 2-4 gliomas.

To link our results with publicly available datasets, we studied the CD109 mRNA level expression in multiple datasets using the GlioVis dataportal (Bowman et al., 2017). Consistent with the tumor microarray results, high CD109 mRNA levels in the TCGA LGG and TCGA GBMLGG datasets significantly associated with poorer survival whereas such association was not detected in the TCGA GBM dataset alone. A recent study suggested that CD109 expression is associated with the MES GBM subtype in the TCGA GBM dataset (Minata et al., 2019). To confirm this finding, we analyzed CD109 mRNA expression in a total of 17 individual GBM datasets available in the GlioVis dataportal. The CD109 mRNA levels were highest in the MES subtype tumors and lowest in the PN subtype tumors and the result was consistent between different datasets. The MES subtype of GBM has been previously linked with increased immune cell infiltration (Wang et al., 2017). STAT3 has also been previously linked to MES subtype and poor patient survival in GBM (Carro et al., 2010) thus supporting our findings. CD109 has been demonstrated to promote lung cancer metastasis via activation of STAT3 signaling pathway (Chuang et al., 2017) whereas in GBM the association between CD109 and STAT3 pathway has remained unclear. In a study investigating CD109 in glioma progression, association between CD109 and pSTAT3 was not observed in a genetically engineered mouse model of glioma between tumors that were developed in control or CD109-deficient mice (Shiraki et al., 2017). Taken together, these results demonstrate that both MDGI and CD109 are clinically relevant markers for GBM aggressiveness although with different functions.

3. Targeting lysosomal membrane integrity by antihistamine impairs glioblastoma invasion and prolongs animal survival in a preclinical study (I)

Invasive GBM cells are the major clinical challenge in treatment of GBM. These therapeutically resistant and invasive cells cannot be targeted with current therapies and cause frequent relapse of the tumor. In the study I, we utilized clinical patient samples, patient-derived GSCs, high-throughput lipidomics analyses, and preclinical in vivo xenograft models to explore the nature of invasive GBM cells. Our results demonstrate that MDGI increases glioma cell invasion in vivo and revealed a novel role for MDGI in the maintenance of lysosomal membrane integrity. Moreover,

MDGI silencing induced cell death via induction of LMP. Importantly, we identified LMP as a novel vulnerability of invasive GBM cells that could be targeted by antihistamines for therapeutic interventions. Interestingly, our results support repurposing of LMP inducing agents such as antihistamine clemastine in treatment of invasive GBMs.

3.1. MDGI overexpression promotes glioblastoma invasion

A previous study demonstrated that MDGI expression in GBM cells is induced by hypoxia, which subsequently increased fatty acid uptake and lipid storage and promoted cell survival (Bensaad et al., 2014). Analysis of several GSC cultures and established long-term GBM cell lines revealed that GSCs co-expressed MDGI and HIF-1 α whereas the GBM cell lines expressed neither. Expression levels of MDGI and HIF-1 α were induced in the GBM cell lines by hypoxia. Moreover, GSCs that grow as gliospheres were already hypoxic as demonstrated by detectable HIF-1 α expression which likely explains why MDGI was also upregulated in the GSC cultures. Thus, these results confirm the previous finding that hypoxia induces MDGI expression in a HIF-1 α -dependent manner (Bensaad et al., 2014).

Several studies have demonstrated that hypoxia promotes GBM cell invasion (Zagzag et al., 2006; Joseph et al., 2015; Qiu et al., 2019). To study the possibility that MDGI would promote glioma invasion, we overexpressed MDGI as a GFP-fusion protein (MDGI-GFP) in the U87MG GBM cell line. The U87MG cells express low levels of MDGI and upon intracranial implantation form a large non-invasive bulky tumor mass. Our in vitro studies demonstrated that MDGI-GFP overexpression in the U87MG GBM cells did not affect cell proliferation, but significantly increased anchorage independent growth in a colony forming assay compared to the GFPexpressing control cells. Moreover, MDGI-GFP-overexpression induced an invasive growth pattern in an organotypic slice culture model ex vivo compared to the GFPexpressing control cells. Finally, intracranial implantation of GFP-expressing control and MDGI-GFP-overexpressing U87MG cells demonstrated that tumors derived from the MDGI-overexpressing cells displayed significantly more invasive growth pattern with formation of secondary tumors compared to controls that grew bulky tumors as expected. Similar results were obtained with another MDGI-GFP overexpressing GBM cell line LN229.

The role of MDGI in cancer is not well understood and remains somewhat controversial. Both tumor suppressive and tumor promoting functions for MDGI have been suggested depending on the cancer type (Hashimoto et al., 2004; Nevo et al., 2010). Our results support that MDGI promotes invasion and tumor progression in GBMs. Moreover, we and others have demonstrated that MDGI becomes upregulated by hypoxia in a HIF-1 α -dependent manner (Bensaad et al., 2014). Since GBMs are highly hypoxic tumors and hypoxia promotes glioma cell invasion, we may speculate that hypoxia would be a mediator of the MDGI's invasion promoting function in GBM.

3.2. MDGI silencing induces caspase-independent apoptosis

To further investigate the functional role of MDGI in GBM, we silenced MDGI expression by using lentiviral-mediated shRNAs. Silencing efficiencies of two *FABP3*-targeting shRNAs were confirmed at mRNA and protein levels. MDGI silencing induced rapid and irreversible morphological alterations by disrupting the gliosphere formation in the GSC cultures and significantly inhibited cell proliferation. Colony forming assays demonstrated that MDGI silencing significantly compromised self-renewal and cell growth of GSCs compared to non-targeted control cells. The reduced colony formation was not linked to loss of stemness, but rather substantial loss of cell viability. Indeed, a cell viability assay demonstrated markedly reduced cell viability of MDGI-silenced GSCs failed to form tumors whereas the non-targeted control GSCs were highly tumorigenic. To summarize, MDGI silencing unexpectedly induced a dramatic loss of cell viability in GSCs and compromised their tumorigenicity in vivo.

As an indicator of apoptosis, we analyzed annexin V-binding to non-targeted control and MDGI-silenced GSCs by a flow cytometric analysis. Annexin V binds to phosphatidylserine exposed at the surfaces of apoptotic cells (Koopman et al., 1994). The flow cytometric analysis demonstrated that MDGI silencing significantly increased annexin V-binding when compared to non-targeted control GSCs suggesting that MDGI silencing induces apoptotic cell death. We considered EGFR as a potential inducer of apoptosis, since its inhibition has been demonstrated to induce apoptosis of glioma cells and MDGI has been previously linked to EGFR trafficking (Nevo et al., 2009; Ghildiyal et al., 2013). MDGI silencing decreased EGFR expression both at protein and mRNA levels and GSCs expressing high levels of EGFR were highly sensitive to its inhibition by gefitinib. However, GSCs that expressed low levels of EGFR were resistant to gefitinib inhibition but were as sensitive to cell death induced by MDGI silencing as the EGFR-expressing GSCs, suggesting that cell death was independent of EGFR expression. Moreover, we investigated the levels of several pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins in response to MDGI silencing. Importantly, we did not detect an increase in the expression of cleaved caspase-3, which is a mediator of caspase-mediated apoptosis. From these experiments, we concluded that MDGI silencing induced cell death of GSCs that was independent of EGFR expression or caspases.

3.3. MDGI silencing induces lysosome-mediated cell death due to significant alterations in the lipid composition of their membranes

The finding that MDGI-induced apoptosis was caspase-independent led us to study alternative pathways leading to apoptosis. Lysosomal cell death induced by LMP is an alternative apoptosis pathway. LMP causes leakage of lysosomal hydrolases such as cathepsin proteases into the cytosol and depending on the extent of the leakage induces cell death. LMP can be dependent or independent of caspases (Aits and Jaattela, 2013). Several upstream mechanisms leading to LMP have been identified and reviewed by Aits and Jäättelä. These include for example lysosomotropic detergents, proteases, reactive oxygen species, bacterial toxins, viral proteins, and

some lipids and their metabolites (Aits and Jaattela, 2013). LMP can be visualized in cells with the galectin puncta-staining assay, where localization of diffuse cytoplasmic galectin-1 staining changes into a punctate pattern in response to LMP (Aits et al., 2015).

To study LMP induction in GSCs, we first treated the GSCs with L-Leucyl-L-Leucine O-methyl ester (LLOMe), a lysosomotropic detergent and a known chemical inducer of LMP (Aits et al., 2015), and detected punctate staining pattern of galectin-1 as an indicator of LMP. Interestingly, we detected similar change in the galectin-1 staining pattern in response to MDGI silencing in GSCs. Co-staining with antibodies detecting lysosome-associated membrane protein 2 (LAMP2) and galectin-1 verified the lysosomal localization of galectin-1 punctate staining. Moreover, increased cathepsin B activity was measured in cytoplasmic extracts of MDGI-silenced GSCs compared to non-targeted controls suggesting leakage of lysosomal enzyme into the cytosol thus further verifying that the cell death caused by MDGI silencing was mediated by LMP. The MDGI-induced LMP was extensive since the observed cell death was only partially attenuated by treatment with a pan-cathepsin inhibitor. Taken together, we identified LMP as a novel mechanism of MDGI silencing-induced glioma cell death.

MDGI has been previously demonstrated to bind with high affinity to long-chain FAs and especially PUFAs (Richieri et al., 2000). To understand the mechanism underlying MDGI silencing-induced cell death, we analyzed the lipid composition of lysosomal membranes isolated from non-targeted control and MDGI-silenced GSCs by mass spectrometry. High-throughput lipidomics analyses demonstrated marked compositional differences in phosphatidylcholine (PC) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) lipid classes. Interestingly, within both PC and PE lipid classes, the proportions of diunsaturated lipid species decreased in response to MDGI silencing while the proportions of monounsaturated lipid species increased. This finding is significant, because PC and PE are the most abundant lipid classes that together comprise about 70% of the phospholipids of the lysosomal membranes (Kobayashi et al., 2002). Similar trend was also observed within the ceramide class. The proportions of monounsaturated ceramide species decreased whereas the unsaturated ceramides increased after MDGI silencing. Collectively, we observed a trend towards lower abundance of lipid saturation, which was likely due to impaired uptake of PUFAs into cells. PUFAs are essential fatty acids that contain more than one double bond in their backbone. Mammalian cells can only produce certain FAs whereas others, particularly PUFAs, must be taken up from external sources (Bi et al., 2020). A previous study demonstrated that in the MDGI knockout animals, total phospholipid mass in the brain was reduced by 17% with the highest decrease in the levels of PUFAs choline glycerophospholipids and arachidonic acid, suggesting reduced incorporation of PUFAs into the lipid membranes (Murphy et al., 2005).

Impaired lipid uptake alters the balance between lipid uptake and de novo lipid synthesis. In response to impaired lipid uptake, mammalian cells activate de novo lipid synthesis, which produces saturated and mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) increasing the relative levels of more saturated lipids compared to PUFAs (Ntambi, 1999; Rysman et al., 2010). Membrane lipid saturation has been shown to protect cancer cells from free radicals and chemotherapeutics. On the other hand, it has been demonstrated that saturated lipids pack more densely and changes in the levels of lipid

saturation alter the dynamics of the lipid membranes (Rysman et al., 2010). As demonstrated previously, double bonds in the membrane lipids play a central role in controlling membrane fluidity and its elastic properties (Pan et al., 2009; Bruno et al., 2013). Therefore, increased levels of MUFAs produce more rigid membranes that are prone to leak. Ceramides have also been shown to control membrane permeability by altering the biophysical properties of the membranes. Although the molecular mechanism is poorly understood, ceramide-induced membrane permeabilization could be explained, at least to some extent, by the packing defects (Petersen et al., 2010; Artetxe et al., 2017). We concluded from the lipidomic analyses that impaired FA uptake, particularly essential PUFAs, significantly decreased the elastic properties of the lysosomal membranes, which promoted their leakage and demonstrated an essential role for MDGI in the maintenance of lysosomal membrane integrity.

Lipid synthesis and FA uptake not only regulate synthesis and maintenance of the biological membranes but are also essential for cell metabolism and cancer cell growth since lipids serve as an important energy source and precursors for signaling molecules (Snaebjornsson et al., 2020). Cancer cells modulate their nutrient uptake and metabolism in a process known as metabolic reprogramming to support their growth and survival (Venneti and Thompson, 2017). Lipid metabolism is emerging as an important metabolic alteration in cancer (Snaebjornsson et al., 2020). Glioma cells have increased intracellular stores for lipids due to enhanced synthesis and uptake (Venneti and Thompson, 2017). Hypoxia plays a central role in metabolic reprogramming of cancer cells. In a recent study, HIF-1 α promoted lipid uptake and transport and increased de novo synthesis of FAs via upregulation of adipophilin in colorectal cancer cells. Modulation of fatty acid metabolism by oroxylin A, inactivated the Wnt signaling pathway, promoted cell cycle arrest, and suppressed the growth of human colon carcinoma xenografts (Ni et al., 2017). In a preclinical study of prostate cancer, suppression of FA uptake by monoclonal fatty acid translocase (CD36) antibody reduced tumor growth in PDX models (Watt et al., 2019). Moreover, HIF- 1α enhanced FA uptake and accumulation of lipid droplets which increased glioma cell survival (Bensaad et al., 2014). Treatment of glioma spheroids in the collagen matrix with an essential PUFA, gamma-linolenic acid, increased tumor cell proliferation and invasion (Bell et al., 1999). Hoang-Minh et al. characterized recently fast-cycling and slow-cycling GBM cells with distinct metabolic needs and therapeutic implications. Interestingly, they demonstrated that slow-cycling tumor cells were infiltrative and drug-resistant, had increased lipid contents, and utilized oxidative phosphorylation instead of glycolysis as their main energy source. Moreover, slow-cycling GBM cells were vulnerable to lipid metabolism blockade by pharmacologic inhibition or genetic targeting of FABP7 (Hoang-Minh et al., 2018). Collectively, these studies demonstrate the importance of lipid metabolism in cancer progression, invasion, and drug resistance.

3.4. Antihistamine treatment eradicates invasive glioblastoma cells in vivo

Several drugs have been identified as inducers of LMP among which is a group of CADs that form a large well-tolerated and characterized group of drugs commonly used to treat psychiatric disorders and allergies. Antihistamines and specifically CADs have been suggested to be repurposed for treatment of cancer (Ellegaard et al., 2016;

Faustino-Rocha et al., 2017). CADs were previously reported to induce LMP in nonsmall cell lung cancer cells (NSCLC) and to sensitize multidrug resistant NSCLC, breast, and prostate cancer cells to chemotherapy (Ellegaard et al., 2016). Among the CADs we chose clemastine fumarate, which is an FDA-approved first-generation antihistamine used to relieve allergy symptoms by blocking the H1 histamine receptor. Clemastine has a low molecular weight and high lipid solubility, and it crosses the BBB. It is well tolerated despite the typical sedation effect and fatigue that is typical for the first-generation antihistamines (Schran et al., 1996; Faustino-Rocha et al., 2017). Clemastine is currently under a clinical trial for multiple sclerosis (Green et al., 2017). A recent study investigating the potential of clemastine in treatment of myelination disorder in rats in vivo confirmed that clemastine penetrated the BBB, but unfortunately, failed to improve the phenotype of the disease or myelination in the CNS. Importantly, daily treatment with clemastine (10-30 mg/kg) was well-tolerated in animals and caused neither change in neurological phenotype nor induced apoptotic cell death in the brain. Higher doses (20 and 30 mg/kg) were reported to induce transient sedative effect in animals (Turski et al., 2018).

Treatment of several GSCs and normal cell lines with varying concentrations of clemastine in vitro, revealed that GSCs were markedly more sensitive to clemastine treatment compared to immortalized normal human astrocytes (iNHA), endothelial cells (HuAR2T), and embryonic kidney cells (293FT) or murine brain endothelial cells (bEnd.3). Treatment of cells with 1 μ M of clemastine for three days induced approximately 50% cell death among GSCs without significant cytotoxicity to the normal cells. To verify that clemastine-induced cytotoxicity was mediated by LMP, the cells were treated with 1 μ M of clemastine overnight followed by immunofluorescence staining with the galectin-1 antibody. In accordance with the cytotoxicity tests, galectin-1 puncta staining was detected in clemastine-treated GSCs, but not in normal cells suggesting that GSCs are more sensitive to LMP induction compared to the normal cells.

To investigate the preclinical potential of clemastine treatment in vivo, we generated orthotopic intracranial xenografts derived from three different GSCs with distinct tumor growth patterns. Daily treatment with clemastine (100 mg/kg on the first day followed by 50 mg/kg) or vehicle were started after 15 days of tumor growth with a duration of 12 days. No adverse side effects were observed except transient fatigue of the animals following clemastine administration as anticipated based on the previous report (Schran et al., 1996). Histological analyses of the xenograft tissues revealed that in the non-invasive MES BT13 model, clemastine treatment did not affect the size of the primary tumor bulk whereas in the MES BT12 model, which displays a multimodal growth pattern (Figure 7A), clemastine treatment significantly reduced the number and distance of invasive tumor cells (Figure 7B) and decreased the number of secondary tumors and vessel co-option. Finally, in the PN ZH305 model that grows as a highly infiltrating pattern (Figure 7A), clemastine treatment completely abolished the tumor growth (Figure 7A and C).



Figure 7. Clemastine treatment eradicates the invasive GBM cells in vivo. A) Representative images of BT12 and ZH305 xenografts after treatment with clemastine or vehicle. B) Higher magnification images of the invading GBM cells in BT12 xenografts after treatment with clemastine or vehicle. Tumor cells were visualized with vimentin (red) and nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (white) in both A and B. Scale bars 500 μ m. C) Quantification of the tumor volume/area of the xenograft tumors after treatment with clemastine (white) or vehicle (black). The figure is modified from Le Joncour and Filppu et al., 2019 with the permission from Wiley.

Clemastine treatment induced a significant apoptotic cell death in the xenograft tumor cells as detected by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL). In a survival study, clemastine treatment significantly prolonged the animal survival compared to the vehicle group. Potential explanation why clemastine had no significant effect on the size of the tumor bulk could be the aberrant and poorly functional blood vessels that hamper the delivery of clemastine to the tumor or alternatively the sheltering effect of stromal cells. Considering the potential of lysosomes as therapeutic targets (Appelqvist et al., 2013) and based on our results, we suggest repurposing of clemastine with a new indication and propose clemastine as an adjuvant therapy in treatment of patients with invasive GBMs (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Schematic illustration of the regulation of lysosomal integrity in glioblastoma. MDGI promotes invasive growth of GBM and maintains the lysosomal membrane stability of tumor cells. Silencing of MDGI expression induced GBM cell death via LMP and impaired tumor growth. LMP can be pharmacologically induced in GBM cells by clemastine. Treatment of intracranial xenografts with clemastine eradicated the invasive tumor cells. The schematic illustration is modified from Le Joncour and Filppu et al., 2019.

3.5. Lysosomes as therapeutic targets in cancer

The results of the study I raised an important question, why cancer cells display increased sensitivity to LMP compared to normal cells and more widely what is the potential of lysosome-targeted therapy in treatment of cancer? Lysosomes have been increasingly acknowledged as active organelles involved in various cellular processes and maintenance of cell homeostasis instead of only sites of macromolecule degradation (Appelqvist et al., 2013). Central to the lysosome function are hydrolases such as cathepsins and lysosomal membrane-associated proteins. Interestingly, cancer cells are highly dependent on lysosomes and their effective function and lysosomal alterations are typical in cancer cells. For example, increased lysosomal biogenesis and changes in the lysosomal membrane composition, increased hydrolase activity, and enhanced secretion of the hydrolases have been reported (Kallunki et al., 2013). Changes in the cancer cell lysosomes can promote tumor progression. For example, cancer cells typically have increased expression of cathepsins and the secretion of these proteolytically active enzymes outside the cell promote cancer cell invasion. On the other hand, these same changes sensitize cancer cells to LMP. As an example, increased size of the lysosomes can make the lysosomes more fragile and more prone to leakage (Kallunki et al., 2013).

Although the mechanisms underlying GBM cell sensitivity to LMP were not specifically addressed in this study, it is important to discuss. Based on the literature, the mechanism of how CADs induce LMP first involves accumulation of CADs into the lysosomes and subsequently detachment of acid sphingomyelinase from their membranes, which alters the lipid composition decreasing its stability. Acid sphingomyelinase normally catalyzes hydrolysis of sphingomyelin into ceramide and phosphorylcholine, but increased levels of acid sphingomyelinase within the lysosomes reduces lysosomal membrane integrity and induces cathepsin release via LMP (Kornhuber et al., 2010; Serrano-Puebla and Boya, 2018). Furthermore, in a previous study, reduced acid sphingomyelinase enzyme activity was associated with increased lysosomal volume and decreased stability, which increased sensitivity of cells to LMP (Petersen et al., 2010) potentially explaining the increased sensitivity of cancer cells to treatments with CADs.

Potential of the lysosome-targeted therapies have been investigated in preclinical studies including several types of cancers. Treatment of tumor cells with a lysosomotrophic agent siramesine induced cell death via LMP. Furthermore, treatment of breast and fibrosarcoma xenografts with siramesine significantly suppressed tumor growth in vivo (Ostenfeld et al., 2005). Lysosomal disruption by mefloquine, an antimalarial agent, selectively targeted leukemic cells and demonstrated therapeutic efficacy in subcutaneous xenografts of human and murine acute myeloid leukemia by significantly decreasing the tumor growth (Sukhai et al., 2013). To conclude, alternative cell death pathways capable of causing cytotoxicity in therapy-resistant cancer cells, including GBM, have gained an increased interest as means to target these cells by LMP-inducing agents. Further studies are needed to evaluate their possible clinical potential. We aim to test clemastine in a clinical trial of patients with GBM and a preliminary discussion about the possibility has been initiated with oncologists working in Finland.

4. CD109-GP130 interaction drives glioblastoma stem cell plasticity and chemoresistance through activation of STAT3 (II)

GSC plasticity has recently emerged as an important mediator of intratumoral heterogeneity and therapy resistance in GBM. GSCs are considered as attractive therapeutic targets. However, despite significant efforts, direct therapeutic targeting of GSCs has been challenging whereas targeting the stem cell niche or the GSC plasticity are promising strategies to eradicate the GSCs. In the study II, we investigated the molecular mechanisms underlying GSC plasticity and therapy resistance. We discovered that CD109 physically interacts with glycoprotein 130 (GP130) to regulate activation of the STAT3 pathway. We further demonstrate the importance of the CD109/STAT3 axis in GSCs plasticity and tumorigenicity. Finally, targeting CD109/STAT3 axis has potential to overcome therapy resistance in GBM.

4.1. CD109/STAT3 axis drives the stemness of glioblastoma cells

We investigated the expression of CD109 in our GSCs and detected high expression together with the GSC markers SOX2 and Olig2 (Suva et al., 2014). When the GSC cultures were exposed to serum, the gliospheres rapidly differentiated into adherent cultures. The serum-induced cell differentiation caused a rapid downregulation of the expression of CD109 and the GSC markers SOX2 and Olig2 supporting an association between CD109 expression and maintenance of GSC stemness properties. Moreover, the GSCs expressed constitutively phosphorylated STAT3, which has been previously implicated in the maintenance of GSC stemness (Sherry et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2009).

To investigate the functional role of CD109 on GSC stemness, we silenced CD109 expression by using lentiviral-mediated shRNAs in BT12 and BT13 cells. Silencing efficiencies of the two CD109-targeting shRNAs were confirmed at mRNA and protein levels. The shCD109#1 showed efficient silencing of CD109 expression whereas silencing with the shCD109#2 was partial. To study the association between CD109 and stemness, we first analyzed the expression of several GSC markers in response to CD109 silencing. CD109 silencing decreased SOX2 and Olig2 expression at protein level. Consistent with the decreased protein levels, mRNA level expression of several GSC markers was downregulated in CD109-silenced GSCs compared to the non-targeted controls. Overall, the BT13 cells showed a more profound effect compared to the BT12 cells. Next, we studied the effect of CD109 silencing on other functional properties of GSCs. CD109 silencing significantly decreased cell proliferation and colony formation from single cells in a semi-solid methylcellulose matrix in vitro compared to the non-targeted controls suggesting reduced self-renewal capacity. Moreover, CD109-silenced GSCs demonstrated significantly inhibited growth properties in a 3D fibrin matrix that better models the mechanical properties of the brain tissue. To further investigate the association of CD109 with pSTAT3, we analyzed the pSTAT3 levels in CD109-silenced GSCs and non-targeted control cells. CD109 silencing markedly reduced the pSTAT3 levels in several GSC cultures independent of the GBM subtype. Taken together, these results verify the association between CD109 and pSTAT3 that was observed in the clinical GBM samples and suggests that the CD109/STAT3 axis maintains the stemness properties of GSCs.

4.2. CD109-GP130 interaction regulates the activation of the IL-6/STAT3 pathway

Since the CD109/STAT3 axis had not been previously reported in GBM, we decided to further investigate the association between CD109 and STAT3. STAT3 signaling plays a very central role in cancer as it has been shown to promote cell proliferation, cell survival, invasion, angiogenesis, and stemness (Yu et al., 2014). IL-6/GP130 signaling is the central signaling pathway that activates STAT3 (Jones et al., 2011). In the classic IL-6 signaling pathway, IL-6 binds to the plasma membrane-bound IL-6 receptor- α (IL-6R), which forms a heteromeric complex with the common correceptor and signal transducer GP130. Formation of the signaling complex activates

the intracellular signaling via the JAK/STAT3 signaling pathway (Figure 9) (Johnson et al., 2018). Whereas GP130 is widely expressed in most cells in the human body, the expression of IL-6R is restricted to only a few cell types such as hepatocytes and leukocytes (Jones et al., 2011). However, GSCs have been previously reported to express IL-6R and stimulation of GSCs with IL-6 increased the levels of phosphorylated STAT3 (Wang et al., 2009).

We detected that the non-targeted control GSCs responded IL-6 stimulation to bv phosphorylating STAT3 whereas the CD109silenced GSCs did not. Lack of pSTAT3 activation in CD109-silenced GSCs was likely due to decreased levels of the GP130 coreceptor. To further establish the relationship between CD109 and GP130 and to gain mechanistic insight into the STAT3 signaling pathway, we hypothesized that these proteins, both expressed at the plasma membrane, could physically interact. Based on amino acid sequence analysis, CD109 has a thioester site



Figure 9. IL-6/GP130/STAT3 signaling pathway. IL-6 binds to the IL-6 receptor (IL6R) which then forms a complex with GP130 and activates signal transduction via the JAK/STAT3 pathway. Modified from Johnson et al., 2018.

which has been previously suggested to mediate covalent binding (Lin et al., 2002). Co-immunoprecipitation assay supported a physical interaction between CD109 and GP130. To verify the result, we utilized PLA assay which allows direct detection of protein-protein interactions in situ. Interestingly, the PLA assay confirmed the physical interaction between CD109 and GP130. Our further analyses demonstrated that the physical interaction was specifically mediated by the 180-kDa subunit of CD109 and not by the 25-kDa subunit (Figure 10A and B). Thus, physical interaction between the 180-kDa CD109 and GP130 promotes activation of the STAT3 pathway which maintains the stemness of GSCs.



Figure 10. CD109 physically interacts with GP130. A) Representative images of the PLA experiment. PLA signal is shown in red. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue). Scale bar: 20 μ m. B) Quantification of PLA signal per cell. The figures have been modified from Filppu et al., 2021 with the permission from the American Society for Clinical Investigation.

4.3. Induced astrocytic-like state sensitizes the cells to chemotherapy

A key functional property of GSCs is the ability to differentiate into multiple lineages (Lee et al., 2006). Since CD109-silenced GSCs demonstrated significantly impaired stemness properties, we investigated whether the cells would differentiate. A significant increase in the mRNA level expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (*GFAP*), a marker for mature astrocytes, was detected by qRT-PCR analysis in response to CD109 silencing suggesting that GSCs would differentiate towards astrocytic lineage. A recent study showed that *GFAP* expression was enriched in the astrocytic-like (AC-like) cell state that corresponds to the CL subtype of GBM (Neftel et al., 2019). To get a more comprehensive picture of the gene expression alterations, we performed bulk RNA-sequencing analysis of CD109-silenced GSCs and their non-targeted control cells. Data analysis demonstrated consistent upregulation of the expression of AC-like state genes in response to CD109 silencing. We validated increased expression of selected CL subtype genes using qRT-PCR. Thus, our results demonstrate that CD109 is essential for the maintenance of GSC stemness and plasticity and its silencing induces a phenotypic shift towards the AC-like state.

STAT3 plays a central role in promoting cancer cell survival (Yu et al., 2014). Accordingly, we detected partial apoptosis in response to CD109 silencing in GSCs that was likely mediated by inhibition of STAT3 activity. Especially the proneural ZH305 cells were highly sensitive to CD109 silencing. Our results are consistent with the previous studies that demonstrated both partial cell differentiation and apoptosis in GSCs in response to STAT3 inhibition with small molecule inhibitors or genetic targeting of IL-6R (Sherry et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2009).

Previous studies have demonstrated that GSCs are highly resistant to radiation and chemotherapy (Bao et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2006). GSC plasticity has been recently suggested as an important mediator of therapy resistance since it allows phenotypic adaptation by dynamic state transitions in response to therapy (Prager et al., 2020). To test whether CD109 silencing would sensitize the GSCs to TMZ chemotherapy we treated control and CD109-silenced GSCs with varying concentrations of TMZ. Interestingly, CD109-silenced GSCs were significantly more sensitive to treatment with TMZ during a four-day treatment period in vitro compared to non-targeted control cells. Moreover, combined treatment with STAT3 inhibitor (Stattic) and TMZ similarly sensitized the wild type GSCs to chemotherapy. CD109 has been recently linked to enhanced radiotherapy resistance in GBM (Minata et al., 2019), but studies addressing chemoresistance were lacking. Our results support an important role for CD109 in mediating chemoresistance and suggest that targeting CD109/STAT3 axis sensitizes the GSCs to chemotherapy.

4.4. CD109 is crucial for glioblastoma growth in vivo

To investigate the role of CD109 in tumor formation in vivo, we established intracranial orthotopic xenografts derived from the patient-derived GSCs enriched with MES and PN signatures. As described above, the cells were highly tumorigenic upon xenotransplantation with distinctive characteristic growth patterns between the GBM subtypes. CD109 silencing completely inhibited tumorigenesis of the PN BT18 and ZH305 cells that grow very diffusively, as well as the growth of MES BT13 which forms large and highly angiogenic bulky tumor masses. In contrast, the tumor initiation was not completely inhibited by CD109 silencing in the MES BT12 model, which displays a multimodal growth pattern including formation of large primary tumor, smaller satellite tumors, and collective and single cell invasion (Figure 11A and B).



Figure 11. CD109 silencing markedly impaired GBM growth in vivo. A) Representative images of BT12 xenografts. Tumor cells were visualized with vimentin (green) and nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (white). Scale bar: 2 mm. B) Quantification of the tumor volume of BT12 control and CD109-silenced xenografts. The figures have been modified from Filppu et al., 2021 with the permission from the American Society for Clinical Investigation.

Further characterization of the control and the small tumors derived from the CD109silenced MES BT12 model revealed decreased levels of pSTAT3 and expression of the stem cell markers SOX2 and Olig2 in the CD109-silenced samples compared to the controls as demonstrated by Western blot analyses of the whole tumor extracts. Possible reasons why the tumor growth in the MES BT12 model was not completely inhibited after CD109 silencing could be its highly multimodal growth pattern in vivo that might increase its resistance to CD109 silencing. As noted above, the loss of stemness phenotype was more profound in the BT13 cells compared to the BT12 cells and therefore the BT12 cells might have intrinsic resistance to CD109 silencing possibly due to higher degree of cellular heterogeneity or increased adaptation potential.

Beyond the tumor cells, we observed significant alterations in the vasculature of the CD109-silenced MES BT12 xenografts. Analysis of the tumor blood vessels revealed a significant reduction in both size and density of the blood vessels in the CD109-silenced xenografts compared to the controls. Furthermore, CD109 silencing in GSCs in vitro increased secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Fas ligand, IL-1 β , and TNF- α) to the cell culture medium and increased the mRNA level expression of angiopoietin 2 (*ANGPT2*). Angiopoietin 2 has a well-established role as a promoter of endothelial destabilization, permeability, and pericyte deficiency (Armulik et al., 2011). Immunostainings of the xenograft tumors with pericyte markers α -smooth muscle actin together with NG2 or PDGFR β and NG2 demonstrated lack of pericyte coverage in the vasculature of CD109-silenced xenografts.

OPC-like cells are characterized by PDGFR α and NG2 expression and these cells are the only resident CNS cell population that express NG2 (Dougherty et al., 2012; Nayak et al., 2018). We identified PDGFRa and NG2 positive glioma-associated OPC-like cells adjacent to the tumor endothelium in the xenografts derived from nontargeted control cells consistent with observations by Huang and colleagues (Huang et al., 2014). However, in the CD109-silenced xenografts the number of OPC-like cells was significantly reduced suggesting a loss of these progenitor cells in the GBM perivascular niche. Interestingly, Huang et al. also demonstrated that OPC-like cells promoted tumor vascular remodeling and angiogenesis suggesting that the OPC-like cells contribute to tumor progression (Huang et al., 2014). OPC-like cells have been suggested as the cell of origin in a mouse model of glioma, although their contribution to GBM is still relatively poorly characterized (Liu et al., 2011). Another highly interesting feature of the OPC-like cells is that they have been demonstrated to receive direct synaptic input from neurons (Nayak et al., 2018). To summarize, these results support an important role for CD109 in promoting tumor initiation and progression of GBM (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Schematic illustration of the CD109-mediated plasticity and tumorigenicity in GSCs. CD109 physically interacts with GP130 to promote activation of the IL-6/STAT3 signaling pathway which maintains GSC stemness, plasticity and tumorigenicity. Inhibition of STAT3 activity in GSCs induced astrocytic-like cell differentiation, impaired tumorigenicity, and sensitized the cells to TMZ.

4.5. Potential of targeting CD109/STAT3 axis in glioblastoma

The results of our study indicate that targeting the CD109/STAT3 axis in GBM could have therapeutic potential to inhibit tumor growth and sensitize the tumor cells to chemotherapy. However, strategies to directly target CD109 are currently unavailable. The IL-6/STAT3 pathway has been a target for development of several drugs. Current status of clinical trials targeting the IL-6/STAT3 signaling in cancer using anti-IL-6 or anti-IL-6R antibodies or direct STAT3 inhibitors has been extensively reviewed recently (Johnson et al., 2018). Several agents targeting IL-6, IL-6R, or JAKs have been approved by the FDA for treatment of certain inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis and testing these agents in preclinical models of solid tumors have demonstrated antitumor efficacy (Johnson et al., 2018). For example, an antibody targeting IL-6, siltuximab, demonstrated antitumor efficacy in ovarian (Coward et al., 2011) and lung cancers (Song et al., 2014). Despite the results obtained in preclinical studies, neither of these agents have demonstrated efficacy against solid tumors in clinical trials so far (Johnson et al., 2018).

Due to the central role of STAT3 in promoting tumor cell growth and survival (Yu et al., 2014), there has been a significant effort to develop direct STAT3 inhibitors. However, this task has proven difficult, since STAT3 is an intracellular transcription factor that lacks enzymatic activity. In addition, the BBB present in the brain tumor microenvironment efficiently hampers delivery of potential therapeutic agents to the tumor. In a preclinical study of colorectal cancer, STAT3 inhibition by Stattic sensitized the tumor cells to radio- and chemotherapy in vitro and significantly inhibition of STAT3 activity by a small molecule JAK-1/2 inhibitor momelotinib sensitized the long-term serum cultured U251MG GBM cells to TMZ in vitro and combined treatment with momelotinib and TMZ demonstrated significant growth inhibition of orthotopic xenografts in vivo and enhanced tumor cell apoptosis (Liu et al., 2019). Several phase I/II clinical trials investigating the potential of STAT3 inhibitors on advanced-stage cancers are currently ongoing (Johnson et al., 2018).

IL-6/STAT3 pathway is also an interesting therapeutic target because STAT3 induces the expression of immunosuppressive factors in the tumor microenvironment. Therefore, targeting the IL-6/STAT3 pathway could potentially stimulate antitumor immunity (Johnson et al., 2018). In a preclinical study investigating colorectal cancer, STAT3 inhibition by nifuroxazide impaired metastasis formation and increased antitumor immunity by reducing the number of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and increasing the infiltration of CD8+ T-cells in the tumors (Ye et al., 2017). Another study investigating the potential of a BBB permeable small molecule STAT3 inhibitor WP1066 demonstrated that STAT3 inhibition enhanced immune responses in patients with malignant glioma bv upregulating costimulatory molecules in microglia/macrophages and stimulating effector T cell function (Hussain et al., 2007).

Even though STAT3 is an interesting and promising therapeutic target, there are several concerns regarding its inhibition in treatment of cancer. Although STAT3 is often hyperactivated in cancer, it is essential for normal cell physiology and during development. It has been previously demonstrated that knockdown of *STAT3* leads to embryonic lethality (Jones et al., 2011) demonstrating the essential role for STAT3 in normal development. STAT3 is also crucial for the maintenance of self-renewal and pluripotency of embryonic stem cells (Niwa et al., 1998; Chen et al., 2015). Furthermore, activation of the STAT3 signaling in the developing nervous system promotes differentiation of neural stem/progenitor cells into astrocytes (Bonni et al., 1997; Nakanishi et al., 2007).

Based on our results, targeting CD109/STAT3 axis could reprogram GSCs into a less tumorigenic and drug-sensitive state via induction of astrocytic-like cell differentiation. An interesting idea to potentially target GSCs is to induce their differentiation to inhibit tumorigenicity and reduce therapy resistance. However, a study investigating the therapeutic potential of GSC differentiation towards mature astrocytes reported an important finding that GSCs failed to undergo terminal cell differentiation therapy alone may not be effective in treatment of GBM. Another study showed that a population of GSCs expressing Achaete-scute homolog 1 (ASCL1) differentiated towards neuronal lineage in response to inhibition of Notch signaling which also reduced tumorigenicity of the cells (Park et al., 2017). It should be noted that neuronal signature is commonly upregulated in the PN subtype gliomas and therefore neuronal differentiation may not represent universal strategy across gliomas, but rather in a subset of GBM patients.

One possible approach to target GSC plasticity is an induction of a cell state that is less tumorigenic, and more responsive to therapies. As suggested recently, induction of the AC-like cell state could potentially be therapeutically interesting. The AC-like cell state is common across gliomas and appears to be less proliferative and less tumorigenic, although more studies may be needed to warrant this strategy (Suva and Tirosh, 2020). To summarize, targeted eradication of GSCs represent a clinically relevant strategy to improve patient survival. However, development of such therapies has been difficult. Our results suggest that a combinatorial approach of induction of the AC-like cell state and TMZ chemotherapy could potentially reduce tumorigenicity and overcome therapy resistance of GSCs.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

GBM is one of the most difficult cancers to treat with dismal prognosis. Despite significant research efforts, no pharmacological intervention that would increase the overall survival of patients exist. Most targeted therapies against GBM have failed to demonstrate improved overall survival. While immunotherapy has been a promising treatment option in several solid tumors, clinical trials have not demonstrated efficacy for immunotherapy in GBM (McGranahan et al., 2019). Together these challenges highlight the complexity of this disease and the need for development of more efficient therapeutic strategies. In this study, we investigated the molecular mechanisms underlying GBM progression and therapy resistance. Identification of specific vulnerabilities could lead to development of more efficient therapeutic strategies.

In this study, we first showed that the invasive GBM cells were unexpectedly vulnerable to inhibition of their lysosome membrane integrity. Both silencing of MDGI expression and treatment of GBM cells with clemastine resulted in lysosomemediated cell death. In our preclinical study, clemastine eradicated the highly invasive tumor cells in vivo suggesting that clemastine could be repurposed for treatment of GBM. We aim to test clemastine in a clinical trial of patients with GBM in the near future. A preliminary discussion about the possibility of a clinical trial has been initiated with oncologists working in Finland.

Previous studies have suggested repurposing of antihistamines and specifically CADs for treatment of cancer (Ellegaard et al., 2016; Faustino-Rocha et al., 2017) thus supporting our findings. Since it was suggested by the previous studies that CADs could revert multidrug resistance and sensitize cancer cells to chemotherapy (Jaffrezou et al., 1995; Drinberg et al., 2014; Ellegaard et al., 2016; An et al., 2017), it would be interesting to study clemastine treatment in combination with TMZ chemotherapy in a preclinical setting to test whether the combination treatment would target both invasive cells and inhibit the growth of the tumor mass. Although clemastine is safe as a monotherapy (Turski et al., 2018), there are currently no reports available about combination of clemastine and TMZ chemotherapy. For the safety concerns, it would be important to study the combination treatment for possible side effects in a preclinical study before a clinical trial. Furthermore, the effect of clemastine on the BBB permeability could be studied. Tesmilifene, a drug with antihistamine action, increased the BBB permeability in a rat glioma model (Walter et al., 2015). Increased BBB permeability could enhance the delivery of chemotherapies to the tumor and improve anti-tumor efficacy.

In this study, we also demonstrated that physical interaction between CD109 and GP130 activates the STAT3 signaling pathway in GSCs. We further established the significance of CD109/STAT3 axis in the maintenance of stemness, plasticity, tumorigenicity, and chemoresistance of GSCs. Development of STAT3 inhibitors has been challenging and as an intracellular transcription factor STAT3 has been considered as an undruggable target (Johnson et al., 2018). Moreover, there are several concerns regarding STAT3 inhibition. STAT3 is essential for normal cell physiology and development as it promotes self-renewal and maintains pluripotency of embryonic stem cells (Niwa et al., 1998; Chen et al., 2015) as well as promotes differentiation of

neural stem/progenitor cells into astrocytes in the developing nervous system (Bonni et al., 1997; Nakanishi et al., 2007). Considering the concerns and difficulties regarding STAT3 inhibition, targeting the CD109/STAT3 axis at the level of CD109 represents a promising idea. However, specific inhibitors against CD109 are currently unavailable. Our future studies will concentrate on characterizing different approaches to specifically target CD109. A collaboration to develop an antibody-based method to inhibit CD109 has been recently established.

Our results suggest that targeting the CD109/STAT3 axis could reprogram GSCs into a less tumorigenic and drug-sensitive state. Increasing evidence from the recent singlecell RNA-sequencing studies show that GSCs seem not to be a functionally defined population but rather cell states that are highly plastic and dynamically transfer from one state to another thus generating intratumoral heterogeneity which makes their therapeutic targeting very challenging (Dirkse et al., 2019; Neftel et al., 2019). We demonstrated that silencing of CD109 expression induced cell differentiation and a shift towards the AC-like cell state. The AC-like cells were less proliferative, less tumorigenic, and more sensitive to chemotherapy treatment. Our results suggest a combinatorial approach of induction of AC-like cell state and TMZ chemotherapy as a potential strategy to target the GSCs and to overcome their therapy resistance. Importantly, another recent study shows that AC-like cells appear to be less tumorigenic and inducing the AC-like state in GBM could represent a potential strategy to target GSCs plasticity, thus supporting our findings (Suva and Tirosh, 2020).

Finally, studies about CD109 have been mostly focusing on cancer, although CD109 is also expressed by some normal cell types including for example activated T-cells and endothelial cells. The function of CD109 in normal cell types remains largely unexplored. CD109 expression by activated T-cells suggest a function for CD109 in the immune system or regulation of the immune response, but this remains to be explored. A recent study investigating tumor-associated endothelium in vivo, suggested that CD109 would promote blood vessel stability (Yamakawa et al., 2018). Our unpublished findings (Filppu et al., unpublished results) encourage to further investigate the role of CD109 in the TME and more specifically interactions and cellular crosstalk between tumor cells and stromal cells such as immune cells and endothelial cells. This thesis provides important insight into the molecular mechanisms underlying GBM progression and therapy resistance.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out in the laboratory of Professor Pirjo Laakkonen, at the Translational Cancer Medicine Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki during 2014-2021. First, I would like to thank the present director of the research program, Academy Professor Kari Alitalo for providing an excellent research environment and facilities.

I am deeply grateful to my thesis supervisor professor Pirjo Laakkonen for the opportunity to join your research group. Thank you for your excellent supervision, all the wonderful discussions, and support during these years.

I wish to thank Dr. Anna Golebiewska for accepting the invitation to be my opponent, and Professor Päivi Ojala for acting as custos at the public examination of this thesis. I would like to thank Professor Anna-Liisa Levonen and Dr. Giorgio Seano for carefully reviewing this thesis. I am grateful to my thesis committee members Assistant professor Liisa Kauppi and Professor Klaus Elenius for all the discussions and your advices during these years.

I want to express my gratitude to Dr. Vadim Le Joncour from the Laakkonen lab, my closest collaborator, co-author, friend, and "a partner in crime" since 2015. Your contribution to this research and your support have been invaluable for me during these years. Thank you for sharing your expertise.

I would also like to thank our scientific collaborators for all of their efforts and valuable advices with the manuscripts: Dr. Minna Holopainen, Dr. Reijo Käkelä, Dr. Hannu Haapasalo, Dr. Pauliina Turunen, Dr. Erika Gucciardo, Prof. Kaisa Lehti, Dr. Harri Sihto, Dr. Isabel Burghardt, Prof. Michael Weller, Prof. Heikki Joensuu, Dr. Olli Tynninen, Prof. Juha Jääskeläinen, and Prof. Matti Nykter.

I would like to thank our collaborator Docent Kirsi Granberg for founding the Finnish Brain Tumor Research Association (FiBTRA) in 2015. Thank you for the opportunity of being part of the FiBTRA during these years. Interacting with the colleagues and organizing the annual symposia and other events have been fun.

I would like to thank all the current and former members of the Laakkonen lab. A special thanks to Jayendrakishore Tanjore Ramanathan and Abioudun Ayo, my PhD student colleagues since 2015, thank you for your support and friendship during these years. I'm also very grateful for all your help and nice discussions. Maija Pfenniger, Piia-Riitta Karhemo, Anastasya Chernenko, Hector Monzo, Rym Ben Taleb, and Onerva Levälampi: thank you for your help and support. It has been a pleasure to work with you all. I want to thank Tapio Tainola for all your help and expertise in solving any sorts of problems that we have faced in the lab. Finally, I am thankful for all the fun times that we have had together outside the lab.

I would like to thank my current and former colleagues and friends in Saharinen, Wikström, Koistinaho, and Kivelä labs. Especially I want to thank Dr. Laura Hakanpää, Dr. Anita Kopperi, and Tuomas Sipilä for being great lab neighbors for several years and all the fun times outside the lab. I want to thank Dr. Irene Ylivinkka for all your support and friendship during these years. Marianna Hellén and Nebeyu Gizaw thank you for the unforgettable lunch breaks, all the great discussions, and your friendship.

I want to thank my parents Sari and Jari Tuomaala and my siblings Marianne and Juha for all your help and support throughout my life. Finally, thank you Topias and Bea for always being there for me. I'm grateful for having you in my life.

This research has been financially supported by the Doctoral Programme in Biomedicine (DPBM), the Finnish Cultural Foundation, the Finnish Cancer Foundation, the K. Albin Johanssons stiftelse, the Biomedicum Helsinki Foundation, the Ida Montin Foundation, and the Maud Kuistila Memorial Foundation.

Helsinki, December 2021 Pauliina Filppu

REFERENCES

- Abbott N. J., Patabendige A. A., Dolman D. E., Yusof S. R. and Begley D. J. (2010). Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier. Neurobiol Dis 37(1): 13-25.
- Aits S. and Jaattela M. (2013). Lysosomal cell death at a glance. J Cell Sci 126(Pt 9): 1905-1912.
- Aits S., Kricker J., Liu B., Ellegaard A. M., Hamalisto S., Tvingsholm S., Corcelle-Termeau E., Hogh S., Farkas T., Holm Jonassen A., Gromova I., Mortensen M. and Jaattela M. (2015). Sensitive detection of lysosomal membrane permeabilization by lysosomal galectin puncta assay. Autophagy 11(8): 1408-1424.

Al-Hajj M., Wicha M. S., Benito-Hernandez A., Morrison S. J. and Clarke M. F. (2003). Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(7): 3983-3988.

- Aldape K., Brindle K. M., Chesler L., Chopra R., Gajjar A., Gilbert M. R., Gottardo N., Gutmann D. H., Hargrave D., Holland E. C., Jones D. T. W., Joyce J. A., Kearns P., Kieran M. W., Mellinghoff I. K., Merchant M., Pfister S. M., Pollard S. M., Ramaswamy V., Rich J. N., Robinson G. W., Rowitch D. H., Sampson J. H., Taylor M. D., Workman P. and Gilbertson R. J. (2019). Challenges to curing primary brain tumours. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 16(8): 509-520.
- Allen M., Bjerke M., Edlund H., Nelander S. and Westermark B. (2016). Origin of the U87MG glioma cell line: Good news and bad news. Sci Transl Med 8(354): 354re353.
- An L., Li D. D., Chu H. X., Zhang Q., Wang C. L., Fan Y. H., Song Q., Ma H. D., Feng F. and Zhao Q. C. (2017). Terfenadine combined with epirubicin impedes the chemo-resistant human non-small cell lung cancer both in vitro and in vivo through EMT and Notch reversal. Pharmacol Res 124: 105-115.
- Appelqvist H., Waster P., Kagedal K. and Ollinger K. (2013). The lysosome: from waste bag to potential therapeutic target. J Mol Cell Biol 5(4): 214-226.
- Armulik A., Genove G. and Betsholtz C. (2011). Pericytes: developmental, physiological, and pathological perspectives, problems, and promises. Dev Cell 21(2): 193-215.
- Artetxe I., Ugarte-Uribe B., Gil D., Valle M., Alonso A., Garcia-Saez A. J. and Goni F. M. (2017). Does Ceramide Form Channels? The Ceramide-Induced Membrane Permeabilization Mechanism. Biophys J 113(4): 860-868.
- Ashburn T. T. and Thor K. B. (2004). Drug repositioning: identifying and developing new uses for existing drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov 3(8): 673-683.
- Auffinger B., Tobias A. L., Han Y., Lee G., Guo D., Dey M., Lesniak M. S. and Ahmed A. U. (2014). Conversion of differentiated cancer cells into cancer stem-like cells in a glioblastoma model after primary chemotherapy. Cell Death Differ 21(7): 1119-1131.
- Baluk P., Hashizume H. and McDonald D. M. (2005). Cellular abnormalities of blood vessels as targets in cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev 15(1): 102-111.
- Bao S., Wu Q., Li Z., Sathornsumetee S., Wang H., McLendon R. E., Hjelmeland A. B. and Rich J. N. (2008). Targeting cancer stem cells through L1CAM suppresses glioma growth. Cancer Res 68(15): 6043-6048.
- Bao S., Wu Q., McLendon R. E., Hao Y., Shi Q., Hjelmeland A. B., Dewhirst M. W., Bigner D. D. and Rich J. N. (2006). Glioma stem cells promote radioresistance by preferential activation of the DNA damage response. Nature 444(7120): 756-760.
- Bao S., Wu Q., Sathornsumetee S., Hao Y., Li Z., Hjelmeland A. B., Shi Q., McLendon R. E., Bigner D. D. and Rich J. N. (2006). Stem cell-like glioma cells promote tumor angiogenesis through vascular endothelial growth factor. Cancer Res 66(16): 7843-7848.
- Barak Y., Achiron A., Mandel M., Mirecki I. and Aizenberg D. (2005). Reduced cancer incidence among patients with schizophrenia. Cancer 104(12): 2817-2821.
- Basso J., Miranda A., Sousa J., Pais A. and Vitorino C. (2018). Repurposing drugs for glioblastoma: From bench to bedside. Cancer Lett 428: 173-183.
- Beauvarlet J., Nath Das R., Alvarez-Valadez K., Martins I., Muller A., Darbo E., Richard E., Soubeyran P., Kroemer G., Guillon J., Mergny J. L. and Djavaheri-Mergny M. (2020). Triarylpyridine Compounds and Chloroquine Act in Concert to Trigger Lysosomal Membrane Permeabilization and Cell Death in Cancer Cells. Cancers (Basel) 12(6).

- Beier D., Hau P., Proescholdt M., Lohmeier A., Wischhusen J., Oefner P. J., Aigner L., Brawanski A., Bogdahn U. and Beier C. P. (2007). CD133(+) and CD133(-) glioblastomaderived cancer stem cells show differential growth characteristics and molecular profiles. Cancer Res 67(9): 4010-4015.
- Bell H. S., Wharton S. B., Leaver H. A. and Whittle I. R. (1999). Effects of N-6 essential fatty acids on glioma invasion and growth: experimental studies with glioma spheroids in collagen gels. J Neurosurg 91(6): 989-996.
- Bensaad K., Favaro E., Lewis C. A., Peck B., Lord S., Collins J. M., Pinnick K. E., Wigfield S., Buffa F. M., Li J. L., Zhang Q., Wakelam M. J. O., Karpe F., Schulze A. and Harris A. L. (2014). Fatty acid uptake and lipid storage induced by HIF-1alpha contribute to cell growth and survival after hypoxia-reoxygenation. Cell Rep 9(1): 349-365.
- Bi J., Chowdhry S., Wu S., Zhang W., Masui K. and Mischel P. S. (2020). Altered cellular metabolism in gliomas - an emerging landscape of actionable co-dependency targets. Nat Rev Cancer 20(1): 57-70.
- Binas B., Danneberg H., McWhir J., Mullins L. and Clark A. J. (1999). Requirement for the heart-type fatty acid binding protein in cardiac fatty acid utilization. FASEB J 13(8): 805-812.
- Bizet A. A., Liu K., Tran-Khanh N., Saksena A., Vorstenbosch J., Finnson K. W., Buschmann M. D. and Philip A. (2011). The TGF-beta co-receptor, CD109, promotes internalization and degradation of TGF-beta receptors. Biochim Biophys Acta 1813(5): 742-753.
- Bohmer F. D., Kraft R., Otto A., Wernstedt C., Hellman U., Kurtz A., Muller T., Rohde K., Etzold G., Lehmann W. and et al. (1987). Identification of a polypeptide growth inhibitor from bovine mammary gland. Sequence homology to fatty acid- and retinoid-binding proteins. J Biol Chem 262(31): 15137-15143.
- Bohmer F. D., Lehmann W., Schmidt H. E., Langen P. and Grosse R. (1984). Purification of a growth inhibitor for Ehrlich ascites mammary carcinoma cells from bovine mammary gland. Exp Cell Res 150(2): 466-476.
- Bonnet D. and Dick J. E. (1997). Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med 3(7): 730-737.
- Bonni A., Sun Y., Nadal-Vicens M., Bhatt A., Frank D. A., Rozovsky I., Stahl N., Yancopoulos G. D. and Greenberg M. E. (1997). Regulation of gliogenesis in the central nervous system by the JAK-STAT signaling pathway. Science 278(5337): 477-483.
- Borchers T., Hohoff C., Buhlmann C. and Spener F. (1997). Heart-type fatty acid binding protein involvement in growth inhibition and differentiation. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 57(1): 77-84.
- Bowman R. L., Wang Q., Carro A., Verhaak R. G. and Squatrito M. (2017). GlioVis data portal for visualization and analysis of brain tumor expression datasets. Neuro Oncol 19(1): 139-141.
- Brennan C. W., Verhaak R. G., McKenna A., Campos B., Noushmehr H., Salama S. R., Zheng S., Chakravarty D., Sanborn J. Z., Berman S. H., Beroukhim R., Bernard B., Wu C. J., Genovese G., Shmulevich I., Barnholtz-Sloan J., Zou L., Vegesna R., Shukla S. A., Ciriello G., Yung W. K., Zhang W., Sougnez C., Mikkelsen T., Aldape K., Bigner D. D., Van Meir E. G., Prados M., Sloan A., Black K. L., Eschbacher J., Finocchiaro G., Friedman W., Andrews D. W., Guha A., Iacocca M., O'Neill B. P., Foltz G., Myers J., Weisenberger D. J., Penny R., Kucherlapati R., Perou C. M., Hayes D. N., Gibbs R., Marra M., Mills G. B., Lander E., Spellman P., Wilson R., Sander C., Weinstein J., Meyerson M., Gabriel S., Laird P. W., Haussler D., Getz G., Chin L. and Network T. R. (2013). The somatic genomic landscape of glioblastoma. Cell 155(2): 462-477.
- Brescia P., Richichi C. and Pelicci G. (2012). Current strategies for identification of glioma stem cells: adequate or unsatisfactory? J Oncol 2012: 376894.
- Broekman M. L., Maas S. L. N., Abels E. R., Mempel T. R., Krichevsky A. M. and Breakefield X. O. (2018). Multidimensional communication in the microenvirons of glioblastoma. Nat Rev Neurol 14(8): 482-495.
- Bruno M. J., Rusinova R., Gleason N. J., Koeppe R. E., 2nd and Andersen O. S. (2013). Interactions of drugs and amphiphiles with membranes: modulation of lipid bilayer elastic properties by changes in acyl chain unsaturation and protonation. Faraday Discuss 161: 461-480; discussion 563-489.

- Buckner J. C., Brown P. D., O'Neill B. P., Meyer F. B., Wetmore C. J. and Uhm J. H. (2007). Central nervous system tumors. Mayo Clin Proc 82(10): 1271-1286.
- Butowski N., Colman H., De Groot J. F., Omuro A. M., Nayak L., Wen P. Y., Cloughesy T. F., Marimuthu A., Haidar S., Perry A., Huse J., Phillips J., West B. L., Nolop K. B., Hsu H. H., Ligon K. L., Molinaro A. M. and Prados M. (2016). Orally administered colony stimulating factor 1 receptor inhibitor PLX3397 in recurrent glioblastoma: an Ivy Foundation Early Phase Clinical Trials Consortium phase II study. Neuro Oncol 18(4): 557-564.
- Calabrese C., Poppleton H., Kocak M., Hogg T. L., Fuller C., Hamner B., Oh E. Y., Gaber M. W., Finklestein D., Allen M., Frank A., Bayazitov I. T., Zakharenko S. S., Gajjar A., Davidoff A. and Gilbertson R. J. (2007). A perivascular niche for brain tumor stem cells. Cancer Cell 11(1): 69-82.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research N. (2008). Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature 455(7216): 1061-1068.
- Caren H., Stricker S. H., Bulstrode H., Gagrica S., Johnstone E., Bartlett T. E., Feber A., Wilson G., Teschendorff A. E., Bertone P., Beck S. and Pollard S. M. (2015). Glioblastoma Stem Cells Respond to Differentiation Cues but Fail to Undergo Commitment and Terminal Cell-Cycle Arrest. Stem Cell Reports 5(5): 829-842.
- Carro M. S., Lim W. K., Alvarez M. J., Bollo R. J., Zhao X., Snyder E. Y., Sulman E. P., Anne S. L., Doetsch F., Colman H., Lasorella A., Aldape K., Califano A. and Iavarone A. (2010). The transcriptional network for mesenchymal transformation of brain tumours. Nature 463(7279): 318-325.
- Chamberlain M. C., Baik C. S., Gadi V. K., Bhatia S. and Chow L. Q. (2017). Systemic therapy of brain metastases: non-small cell lung cancer, breast cancer, and melanoma. Neuro Oncol 19(1): i1-i24.
- Charles N., Ozawa T., Squatrito M., Bleau A. M., Brennan C. W., Hambardzumyan D. and Holland E. C. (2010). Perivascular nitric oxide activates notch signaling and promotes stem-like character in PDGF-induced glioma cells. Cell Stem Cell 6(2): 141-152.
- Chen H., Aksoy I., Gonnot F., Osteil P., Aubry M., Hamela C., Rognard C., Hochard A., Voisin S., Fontaine E., Mure M., Afanassieff M., Cleroux E., Guibert S., Chen J., Vallot C., Acloque H., Genthon C., Donnadieu C., De Vos J., Sanlaville D., Guerin J. F., Weber M., Stanton L. W., Rougeulle C., Pain B., Bourillot P. Y. and Savatier P. (2015). Reinforcement of STAT3 activity reprogrammes human embryonic stem cells to naivelike pluripotency. Nat Commun 6: 7095.
- Chen J., Li Y., Yu T. S., McKay R. M., Burns D. K., Kernie S. G. and Parada L. F. (2012). A restricted cell population propagates glioblastoma growth after chemotherapy. Nature 488(7412): 522-526.
- Chen Q., Boire A., Jin X., Valiente M., Er E. E., Lopez-Soto A., Jacob L., Patwa R., Shah H., Xu K., Cross J. R. and Massague J. (2016). Carcinoma-astrocyte gap junctions promote brain metastasis by cGAMP transfer. Nature 533(7604): 493-498.
- Cheng L., Huang Z., Zhou W., Wu Q., Donnola S., Liu J. K., Fang X., Sloan A. E., Mao Y., Lathia J. D., Min W., McLendon R. E., Rich J. N. and Bao S. (2013). Glioblastoma stem cells generate vascular pericytes to support vessel function and tumor growth. Cell 153(1): 139-152.
- Chinot O. L., Wick W., Mason W., Henriksson R., Saran F., Nishikawa R., Carpentier A. F., Hoang-Xuan K., Kavan P., Cernea D., Brandes A. A., Hilton M., Abrey L. and Cloughesy T. (2014). Bevacizumab plus radiotherapy-temozolomide for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 370(8): 709-722.
- Chou F. H., Tsai K. Y., Su C. Y. and Lee C. C. (2011). The incidence and relative risk factors for developing cancer among patients with schizophrenia: a nine-year follow-up study. Schizophr Res 129(2-3): 97-103.
- Chuang C. H., Greenside P. G., Rogers Z. N., Brady J. J., Yang D., Ma R. K., Caswell D. R., Chiou S. H., Winters A. F., Gruner B. M., Ramaswami G., Spencley A. L., Kopecky K. E., Sayles L. C., Sweet-Cordero E. A., Li J. B., Kundaje A. and Winslow M. M. (2017). Molecular definition of a metastatic lung cancer state reveals a targetable CD109-Janus kinase-Stat axis. Nat Med 23(3): 291-300.
- Clark A. J., Neil C., Gusterson B., McWhir J. and Binas B. (2000). Deletion of the gene encoding H-FABP/MDGI has no overt effects in the mammary gland. Transgenic Res 9(6): 439-444.

- Clarke L. and van der Kooy D. (2009). Low oxygen enhances primitive and definitive neural stem cell colony formation by inhibiting distinct cell death pathways. Stem Cells 27(8): 1879-1886.
- Collins A. T., Berry P. A., Hyde C., Stower M. J. and Maitland N. J. (2005). Prospective identification of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 65(23): 10946-10951.
- Coward J., Kulbe H., Chakravarty P., Leader D., Vassileva V., Leinster D. A., Thompson R., Schioppa T., Nemeth J., Vermeulen J., Singh N., Avril N., Cummings J., Rexhepaj E., Jirstrom K., Gallagher W. M., Brennan D. J., McNeish I. A. and Balkwill F. R. (2011). Interleukin-6 as a therapeutic target in human ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res 17(18): 6083-6096.
- Crabb J. W., Hu B., Crabb J. S., Triozzi P., Saunthararajah Y., Tubbs R. and Singh A. D. (2015). iTRAQ Quantitative Proteomic Comparison of Metastatic and Non-Metastatic Uveal Melanoma Tumors. PLoS One 10(8): e0135543.
- Cuddapah V. A., Robel S., Watkins S. and Sontheimer H. (2014). A neurocentric perspective on glioma invasion. Nat Rev Neurosci 15(7): 455-465.
- Daneman R. and Prat A. (2015). The blood-brain barrier. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 7(1): a020412.
- DeAngelis L. M. (2001). Brain tumors. N Engl J Med 344(2): 114-123.
- Dirkse A., Golebiewska A., Buder T., Nazarov P. V., Muller A., Poovathingal S., Brons N. H. C., Leite S., Sauvageot N., Sarkisjan D., Seyfrid M., Fritah S., Stieber D., Michelucci A., Hertel F., Herold-Mende C., Azuaje F., Skupin A., Bjerkvig R., Deutsch A., Voss-Bohme A. and Niclou S. P. (2019). Stem cell-associated heterogeneity in Glioblastoma results from intrinsic tumor plasticity shaped by the microenvironment. Nat Commun 10(1): 1787.
- Donnem T., Reynolds A. R., Kuczynski E. A., Gatter K., Vermeulen P. B., Kerbel R. S., Harris A. L. and Pezzella F. (2018). Non-angiogenic tumours and their influence on cancer biology. Nat Rev Cancer 18(5): 323-336.
- Dougherty J. D., Fomchenko E. I., Akuffo A. A., Schmidt E., Helmy K. Y., Bazzoli E., Brennan C. W., Holland E. C. and Milosevic A. (2012). Candidate pathways for promoting differentiation or quiescence of oligodendrocyte progenitor-like cells in glioma. Cancer Res 72(18): 4856-4868.
- Drinberg V., Bitcover R., Rajchenbach W. and Peer D. (2014). Modulating cancer multidrug resistance by sertraline in combination with a nanomedicine. Cancer Lett 354(2): 290-298.
- El Hallani S., Boisselier B., Peglion F., Rousseau A., Colin C., Idbaih A., Marie Y., Mokhtari K., Thomas J. L., Eichmann A., Delattre J. Y., Maniotis A. J. and Sanson M. (2010). A new alternative mechanism in glioblastoma vascularization: tubular vasculogenic mimicry. Brain 133(Pt 4): 973-982.
- Ellegaard A. M., Dehlendorff C., Vind A. C., Anand A., Cederkvist L., Petersen N. H. T., Nylandsted J., Stenvang J., Mellemgaard A., Osterlind K., Friis S. and Jaattela M. (2016). Repurposing Cationic Amphiphilic Antihistamines for Cancer Treatment. EBioMedicine 9: 130-139.
- Fabian D., Guillermo Prieto Eibl M. D. P., Alnahhas I., Sebastian N., Giglio P., Puduvalli V., Gonzalez J. and Palmer J. D. (2019). Treatment of Glioblastoma (GBM) with the Addition of Tumor-Treating Fields (TTF): A Review. Cancers (Basel) 11(2).
- Faustino-Rocha A. I., Ferreira R., Gama A., Oliveira P. A. and Ginja M. (2017). Antihistamines as promising drugs in cancer therapy. Life Sci 172: 27-41.
- Fecci P. E., Mitchell D. A., Whitesides J. F., Xie W., Friedman A. H., Archer G. E., Herndon J. E., 2nd, Bigner D. D., Dranoff G. and Sampson J. H. (2006). Increased regulatory T-cell fraction amidst a diminished CD4 compartment explains cellular immune defects in patients with malignant glioma. Cancer Res 66(6): 3294-3302.
- Ferrer V. P., Moura Neto V. and Mentlein R. (2018). Glioma infiltration and extracellular matrix: key players and modulators. Glia 66(8): 1542-1565.
- Finnson K. W., Tam B. Y., Liu K., Marcoux A., Lepage P., Roy S., Bizet A. A. and Philip A. (2006). Identification of CD109 as part of the TGF-beta receptor system in human keratinocytes. FASEB J 20(9): 1525-1527.

- Fournier N., Geoffroy M. and Deshusses J. (1978). Purification and characterization of a long chain, fatty-acid-binding protein supplying the mitochondrial beta-oxidative system in the heart. Biochim Biophys Acta 533(2): 457-464.
- Friedman H. S., Prados M. D., Wen P. Y., Mikkelsen T., Schiff D., Abrey L. E., Yung W. K., Paleologos N., Nicholas M. K., Jensen R., Vredenburgh J., Huang J., Zheng M. and Cloughesy T. (2009). Bevacizumab alone and in combination with irinotecan in recurrent glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol 27(28): 4733-4740.
- Ghildiyal R., Dixit D. and Sen E. (2013). EGFR inhibitor BIBU induces apoptosis and defective autophagy in glioma cells. Mol Carcinog 52(12): 970-982.
- Gil-Ad I., Shtaif B., Levkovitz Y., Dayag M., Zeldich E. and Weizman A. (2004). Characterization of phenothiazine-induced apoptosis in neuroblastoma and glioma cell lines: clinical relevance and possible application for brain-derived tumors. J Mol Neurosci 22(3): 189-198.
- Gilbert M. R., Dignam J. J., Armstrong T. S., Wefel J. S., Blumenthal D. T., Vogelbaum M. A., Colman H., Chakravarti A., Pugh S., Won M., Jeraj R., Brown P. D., Jaeckle K. A., Schiff D., Stieber V. W., Brachman D. G., Werner-Wasik M., Tremont-Lukats I. W., Sulman E. P., Aldape K. D., Curran W. J., Jr. and Mehta M. P. (2014). A randomized trial of bevacizumab for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 370(8): 699-708.
- Gimple R. C., Bhargava S., Dixit D. and Rich J. N. (2019). Glioblastoma stem cells: lessons from the tumor hierarchy in a lethal cancer. Genes Dev 33(11-12): 591-609.
- Glatz J. F. and van der Vusse G. J. (1996). Cellular fatty acid-binding proteins: their function and physiological significance. Prog Lipid Res 35(3): 243-282.
- Goff S. L., Morgan R. A., Yang J. C., Sherry R. M., Robbins P. F., Restifo N. P., Feldman S. A., Lu Y. C., Lu L., Zheng Z., Xi L., Epstein M., McIntyre L. S., Malekzadeh P., Raffeld M., Fine H. A. and Rosenberg S. A. (2019). Pilot Trial of Adoptive Transfer of Chimeric Antigen Receptor-transduced T Cells Targeting EGFRvIII in Patients With Glioblastoma. J Immunother 42(4): 126-135.
- Grabowski M. M., Sankey E. W., Ryan K. J., Chongsathidkiet P., Lorrey S. J., Wilkinson D. S. and Fecci P. E. (2021). Immune suppression in gliomas. J Neurooncol 151(1): 3-12.
- Graeber M. B., Scheithauer B. W. and Kreutzberg G. W. (2002). Microglia in brain tumors. Glia 40(2): 252-259.
- Green A. J., Gelfand J. M., Cree B. A., Bevan C., Boscardin W. J., Mei F., Inman J., Arnow S., Devereux M., Abounasr A., Nobuta H., Zhu A., Friessen M., Gerona R., von Budingen H. C., Henry R. G., Hauser S. L. and Chan J. R. (2017). Clemastine fumarate as a remyelinating therapy for multiple sclerosis (ReBUILD): a randomised, controlled, double-blind, crossover trial. Lancet 390(10111): 2481-2489.
- Griveau A., Seano G., Shelton S. J., Kupp R., Jahangiri A., Obernier K., Krishnan S., Lindberg O. R., Yuen T. J., Tien A. C., Sabo J. K., Wang N., Chen I., Kloepper J., Larrouquere L., Ghosh M., Tirosh I., Huillard E., Alvarez-Buylla A., Oldham M. C., Persson A. I., Weiss W. A., Batchelor T. T., Stemmer-Rachamimov A., Suva M. L., Phillips J. J., Aghi M. K., Mehta S., Jain R. K. and Rowitch D. H. (2018). A Glial Signature and Wnt7 Signaling Regulate Glioma-Vascular Interactions and Tumor Microenvironment. Cancer Cell 33(5): 874-889 e877.
- Gupta P. B., Pastushenko I., Skibinski Á., Blanpain C. and Kuperwasser C. (2019). Phenotypic Plasticity: Driver of Cancer Initiation, Progression, and Therapy Resistance. Cell Stem Cell 24(1): 65-78.
- Hagiwara S., Murakumo Y., Mii S., Shigetomi T., Yamamoto N., Furue H., Ueda M. and Takahashi M. (2010). Processing of CD109 by furin and its role in the regulation of TGFbeta signaling. Oncogene 29(15): 2181-2191.
- Hambardzumyan D. and Bergers G. (2015). Glioblastoma: Defining Tumor Niches. Trends Cancer 1(4): 252-265.
- Hambardzumyan D., Gutmann D. H. and Kettenmann H. (2016). The role of microglia and macrophages in glioma maintenance and progression. Nat Neurosci 19(1): 20-27.
- Hambardzumyan D., Parada L. F., Holland E. C. and Charest A. (2011). Genetic modeling of gliomas in mice: new tools to tackle old problems. Glia 59(8): 1155-1168.
- Hasegawa M., Moritani S., Murakumo Y., Sato T., Hagiwara S., Suzuki C., Mii S., Jijiwa M., Enomoto A., Asai N., Ichihara S. and Takahashi M. (2008). CD109 expression in basallike breast carcinoma. Pathol Int 58(5): 288-294.

- Hashimoto M., Ichihara M., Watanabe T., Kawai K., Koshikawa K., Yuasa N., Takahashi T., Yatabe Y., Murakumo Y., Zhang J. M., Nimura Y. and Takahashi M. (2004). Expression of CD109 in human cancer. Oncogene 23(20): 3716-3720.
- Hashimoto T., Kusakabe T., Sugino T., Fukuda T., Watanabe K., Sato Y., Nashimoto A., Honma K., Kimura H., Fujii H. and Suzuki T. (2004). Expression of heart-type fatty acidbinding protein in human gastric carcinoma and its association with tumor aggressiveness, metastasis and poor prognosis. Pathobiology 71(5): 267-273.
- Heddleston J. M., Hitomi M., Venere M., Flavahan W. A., Yang K., Kim Y., Minhas S., Rich J. N. and Hjelmeland A. B. (2011). Glioma stem cell maintenance: the role of the microenvironment. Curr Pharm Des 17(23): 2386-2401.
- Heddleston J. M., Li Z., McLendon R. E., Hjelmeland A. B. and Rich J. N. (2009). The hypoxic microenvironment maintains glioblastoma stem cells and promotes reprogramming towards a cancer stem cell phenotype. Cell Cycle 8(20): 3274-3284.
- Hegi M. E., Diserens A. C., Gorlia T., Hamou M. F., de Tribolet N., Weller M., Kros J. M., Hainfellner J. A., Mason W., Mariani L., Bromberg J. E., Hau P., Mirimanoff R. O., Cairncross J. G., Janzer R. C. and Stupp R. (2005). MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 352(10): 997-1003.
- Hemmati H. D., Nakano I., Lazareff J. A., Masterman-Smith M., Geschwind D. H., Bronner-Fraser M. and Kornblum H. I. (2003). Cancerous stem cells can arise from pediatric brain tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(25): 15178-15183.
- Henrik Heiland D., Ravi V. M., Behringer S. P., Frenking J. H., Wurm J., Joseph K., Garrelfs N. W. C., Strahle J., Heynckes S., Grauvogel J., Franco P., Mader I., Schneider M., Potthoff A. L., Delev D., Hofmann U. G., Fung C., Beck J., Sankowski R., Prinz M. and Schnell O. (2019). Tumor-associated reactive astrocytes aid the evolution of immunosuppressive environment in glioblastoma. Nat Commun 10(1): 2541.
- Hoang-Minh L. B., Siebzehnrubl F. A., Yang C., Suzuki-Hatano S., Dajac K., Loche T., Andrews N., Schmoll Massari M., Patel J., Amin K., Vuong A., Jimenez-Pascual A., Kubilis P., Garrett T. J., Moneypenny C., Pacak C. A., Huang J., Sayour E. J., Mitchell D. A., Sarkisian M. R., Reynolds B. A. and Deleyrolle L. P. (2018). Infiltrative and drugresistant slow-cycling cells support metabolic heterogeneity in glioblastoma. EMBO J 37(23).
- Hori Y. S., Hosoda R., Akiyama Y., Sebori R., Wanibuchi M., Mikami T., Sugino T., Suzuki K., Maruyama M., Tsukamoto M., Mikuni N., Horio Y. and Kuno A. (2015). Chloroquine potentiates temozolomide cytotoxicity by inhibiting mitochondrial autophagy in glioma cells. J Neurooncol 122(1): 11-20.
- Huang Y., Hoffman C., Rajappa P., Kim J. H., Hu W., Huse J., Tang Z., Li X., Weksler B., Bromberg J., Lyden D. C. and Greenfield J. P. (2014). Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells promote neovascularization in glioma by disrupting the blood-brain barrier. Cancer Res 74(4): 1011-1021.
- Hussain S. F., Kong L. Y., Jordan J., Conrad C., Madden T., Fokt I., Priebe W. and Heimberger A. B. (2007). A novel small molecule inhibitor of signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 reverses immune tolerance in malignant glioma patients. Cancer Res 67(20): 9630-9636.
- Hussain S. F., Yang D., Suki D., Aldape K., Grimm E. and Heimberger A. B. (2006). The role of human glioma-infiltrating microglia/macrophages in mediating antitumor immune responses. Neuro Oncol 8(3): 261-279.
- Huynh H., Alpert L. and Pollak M. (1996). Silencing of the mammary-derived growth inhibitor (MDGI) gene in breast neoplasms is associated with epigenetic changes. Cancer Res 56(21): 4865-4870.
- Huynh H. T., Larsson C., Narod S. and Pollak M. (1995). Tumor suppressor activity of the gene encoding mammary-derived growth inhibitor. Cancer Res 55(11): 2225-2231.
- Hyvonen M., Enback J., Huhtala T., Lammi J., Sihto H., Weisell J., Joensuu H., Rosenthal-Aizman K., El-Andaloussi S., Langel U., Narvanen A., Bergers G. and Laakkonen P. (2014). Novel target for peptide-based imaging and treatment of brain tumors. Mol Cancer Ther 13(4): 996-1007.
- Isakovic A., Harhaji L., Stevanovic D., Markovic Z., Sumarac-Dumanovic M., Starcevic V., Micic D. and Trajkovic V. (2007). Dual antiglioma action of metformin: cell cycle arrest and mitochondria-dependent apoptosis. Cell Mol Life Sci 64(10): 1290-1302.

- Jaattela M. and Nylandsted J. (2015). Quantification of Lysosomal Membrane Permeabilization by Cytosolic Cathepsin and beta-N-Acetyl-Glucosaminidase Activity Measurements. Cold Spring Harb Protoc 2015(11): 1017-1023.
- Jacob F., Salinas R. D., Zhang D. Y., Nguyen P. T. T., Schnoll J. G., Wong S. Z. H., Thokala R., Sheikh S., Saxena D., Prokop S., Liu D. A., Qian X., Petrov D., Lucas T., Chen H. I., Dorsey J. F., Christian K. M., Binder Z. A., Nasrallah M., Brem S., O'Rourke D. M., Ming G. L. and Song H. (2020). A Patient-Derived Glioblastoma Organoid Model and Biobank Recapitulates Inter- and Intra-tumoral Heterogeneity. Cell 180(1): 188-204 e122.
- Jaffrezou J. P., Chen K. G., Duran G. E., Muller C., Bordier C., Laurent G., Sikic B. I. and Levade T. (1995). Inhibition of lysosomal acid sphingomyelinase by agents which reverse multidrug resistance. Biochim Biophys Acta 1266(1): 1-8.
- Jain R. K. (2014). Antiangiogenesis strategies revisited: from starving tumors to alleviating hypoxia. Cancer Cell 26(5): 605-622.
- Jin X., Kim L. J. Y., Wu Q., Wallace L. C., Prager B. C., Sanvoranart T., Gimple R. C., Wang X., Mack S. C., Miller T. E., Huang P., Valentim C. L., Zhou Q. G., Barnholtz-Sloan J. S., Bao S., Sloan A. E. and Rich J. N. (2017). Targeting glioma stem cells through combined BMI1 and EZH2 inhibition. Nat Med 23(11): 1352-1361.
- Joensuu H., Puputti M., Sihto H., Tynninen O. and Nupponen N. N. (2005). Amplification of genes encoding KIT, PDGFRalpha and VEGFR2 receptor tyrosine kinases is frequent in glioblastoma multiforme. J Pathol 207(2): 224-231.
- Johnson D. E., O'Keefe R. A. and Grandis J. R. (2018). Targeting the IL-6/JAK/STAT3 signalling axis in cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 15(4): 234-248.
- Jones P. D., Carne A., Bass N. M. and Grigor M. R. (1988). Isolation and characterization of fatty acid binding proteins from mammary tissue of lactating rats. Biochem J 251(3): 919-925.
- Jones S. A., Scheller J. and Rose-John S. (2011). Therapeutic strategies for the clinical blockade of IL-6/gp130 signaling. J Clin Invest 121(9): 3375-3383.
- Joo K. M., Kim S. Y., Jin X., Song Š. Y., Kong D. S., Lee J. I., Jeon J. W., Kim M. H., Kang B. G., Jung Y., Jin J., Hong S. C., Park W. Y., Lee D. S., Kim H. and Nam D. H. (2008). Clinical and biological implications of CD133-positive and CD133-negative cells in glioblastomas. Lab Invest 88(8): 808-815.
- Joseph J. V., Conroy S., Pavlov K., Sontakke P., Tomar T., Eggens-Meijer E., Balasubramaniyan V., Wagemakers M., den Dunnen W. F. and Kruyt F. A. (2015).
 Hypoxia enhances migration and invasion in glioblastoma by promoting a mesenchymal shift mediated by the HIF1alpha-ZEB1 axis. Cancer Lett 359(1): 107-116.
- Kallunki T., Olsen O. D. and Jaattela M. (2013). Cancer-associated lysosomal changes: friends or foes? Oncogene 32(16): 1995-2004.
- Kalluri R. and Weinberg R. A. (2009). The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest 119(6): 1420-1428.
- Karhemo P. R., Ravela S., Laakso M., Ritamo I., Tatti O., Makinen S., Goodison S., Stenman U. H., Holtta E., Hautaniemi S., Valmu L., Lehti K. and Laakkonen P. (2012).
 An optimized isolation of biotinylated cell surface proteins reveals novel players in cancer metastasis. J Proteomics 77: 87-100.
- Keunen O., Johansson M., Oudin A., Sanzey M., Rahim S. A., Fack F., Thorsen F., Taxt T., Bartos M., Jirik R., Miletic H., Wang J., Stieber D., Stuhr L., Moen I., Rygh C. B., Bjerkvig R. and Niclou S. P. (2011). Anti-VEGF treatment reduces blood supply and increases tumor cell invasion in glioblastoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(9): 3749-3754.
- Kim M. M., Umemura Y. and Leung D. (2018). Bevacizumab and Glioblastoma: Past, Present, and Future Directions. Cancer J 24(4): 180-186.
- Kobayashi T., Beuchat M. H., Chevallier J., Makino A., Mayran N., Escola J. M., Lebrand C., Cosson P., Kobayashi T. and Gruenberg J. (2002). Separation and characterization of late endosomal membrane domains. J Biol Chem 277(35): 32157-32164.
- Koopman G., Reutelingsperger C. P., Kuijten G. A., Keehnen R. M., Pals S. T. and van Oers M. H. (1994). Annexin V for flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine expression on B cells undergoing apoptosis. Blood 84(5): 1415-1420.
- Korja M., Raj R., Seppa K., Luostarinen T., Malila N., Seppala M., Maenpaa H. and Pitkaniemi J. (2019). Glioblastoma survival is improving despite increasing incidence rates: a nationwide study between 2000 and 2013 in Finland. Neuro Oncol 21(3): 370-379.

- Kornhuber J., Tripal P., Reichel M., Muhle C., Rhein C., Muehlbacher M., Groemer T. W. and Gulbins E. (2010). Functional Inhibitors of Acid Sphingomyelinase (FIASMAs): a novel pharmacological group of drugs with broad clinical applications. Cell Physiol Biochem 26(1): 9-20.
- Kreisl T. N., Kim L., Moore K., Duic P., Royce C., Stroud I., Garren N., Mackey M., Butman J. A., Camphausen K., Park J., Albert P. S. and Fine H. A. (2009). Phase II trial of single-agent bevacizumab followed by bevacizumab plus irinotecan at tumor progression in recurrent glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol 27(5): 740-745.
- Kuczynski E. A., Vermeulen P. B., Pezzella F., Kerbel R. S. and Reynolds A. R. (2019). Vessel co-option in cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 16(8): 469-493.
- Lancaster M. A., Renner M., Martin C. A., Wenzel D., Bicknell L. S., Hurles M. E., Homfray T., Penninger J. M., Jackson A. P. and Knoblich J. A. (2013). Cerebral organoids model human brain development and microcephaly. Nature 501(7467): 373-379.
- Lapointe S., Perry A. and Butowski N. A. (2018). Primary brain tumours in adults. Lancet 392(10145): 432-446.
- Larsson I., Dalmo E., Elgendy R., Niklasson M., Doroszko M., Segerman A., Jornsten R., Westermark B. and Nelander S. (2021). Modeling glioblastoma heterogeneity as a dynamic network of cell states. Mol Syst Biol 17(9): e10105.
- Lathia J. D., Gallagher J., Heddleston J. M., Wang J., Eyler C. E., Macswords J., Wu Q., Vasanji A., McLendon R. E., Hjelmeland A. B. and Rich J. N. (2010). Integrin alpha 6 regulates glioblastoma stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 6(5): 421-432.
- Lathia J. D., Mack S. C., Mulkearns-Hubert E. E., Valentim C. L. and Rich J. N. (2015). Cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. Genes Dev 29(12): 1203-1217.
- Lauko A., Lo A., Ahluwalia M. S. and Lathia J. D. (2021). Cancer cell heterogeneity & plasticity in glioblastoma and brain tumors. Semin Cancer Biol.
- Le Joncour V., Filppu P., Hyvonen M., Holopainen M., Turunen S. P., Sihto H., Burghardt I., Joensuu H., Tynninen O., Jaaskelainen J., Weller M., Lehti K., Kakela R. and Laakkonen P. (2019). Vulnerability of invasive glioblastoma cells to lysosomal membrane destabilization. EMBO Mol Med 11(6).
- Le Rhun E., Preusser M., Roth P., Reardon D. A., van den Bent M., Wen P., Reifenberger G. and Weller M. (2019). Molecular targeted therapy of glioblastoma. Cancer Treat Rev 80: 101896.
- Lee J., Kotliarova S., Kotliarov Y., Li A., Su Q., Donin N. M., Pastorino S., Purow B. W., Christopher N., Zhang W., Park J. K. and Fine H. A. (2006). Tumor stem cells derived from glioblastomas cultured in bFGF and EGF more closely mirror the phenotype and genotype of primary tumors than do serum-cultured cell lines. Cancer Cell 9(5): 391-403.
- Lee S. W., Kim H. K., Lee N. H., Yi H. Y., Kim H. S., Hong S. H., Hong Y. K. and Joe Y. A. (2015). The synergistic effect of combination temozolomide and chloroquine treatment is dependent on autophagy formation and p53 status in glioma cells. Cancer Lett 360(2): 195-204.
- Li C., Heidt D. G., Dalerba P., Burant C. F., Zhang L., Adsay V., Wicha M., Clarke M. F. and Simeone D. M. (2007). Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 67(3): 1030-1037.
- Li Z., Bao S., Wu Q., Wang H., Eyler C., Sathornsumetee S., Shi Q., Cao Y., Lathia J., McLendon R. E., Hjelmeland A. B. and Rich J. N. (2009). Hypoxia-inducible factors regulate tumorigenic capacity of glioma stem cells. Cancer Cell 15(6): 501-513.
- Liddelow S. A., Guttenplan K. A., Clarke L. E., Bennett F. C., Bohlen C. J., Schirmer L., Bennett M. L., Munch A. E., Chung W. S., Peterson T. C., Wilton D. K., Frouin A., Napier B. A., Panicker N., Kumar M., Buckwalter M. S., Rowitch D. H., Dawson V. L., Dawson T. M., Stevens B. and Barres B. A. (2017). Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. Nature 541(7638): 481-487.
- Ligon K. L., Huillard E., Mehta S., Kesari S., Liu H., Alberta J. A., Bachoo R. M., Kane M., Louis D. N., Depinho R. A., Anderson D. J., Stiles C. D. and Rowitch D. H. (2007). Olig2regulated lineage-restricted pathway controls replication competence in neural stem cells and malignant glioma. Neuron 53(4): 503-517.
- Lin M., Sutherland D. R., Horsfall W., Totty N., Yeo E., Nayar R., Wu X. F. and Schuh A. C. (2002). Cell surface antigen CD109 is a novel member of the alpha(2) macroglobulin/C3, C4, C5 family of thioester-containing proteins. Blood 99(5): 1683-1691.

- Linge A., Kennedy S., O'Flynn D., Beatty S., Moriarty P., Henry M., Clynes M., Larkin A. and Meleady P. (2012). Differential expression of fourteen proteins between uveal melanoma from patients who subsequently developed distant metastases versus those who did Not. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 53(8): 4634-4643.
- Linkous A., Balamatsias D., Snuderl M., Edwards L., Miyaguchi K., Milner T., Reich B., Cohen-Gould L., Storaska A., Nakayama Y., Schenkein E., Singhania R., Cirigliano S., Magdeldin T., Lin Y., Nanjangud G., Chadalavada K., Pisapia D., Liston C. and Fine H. A. (2019). Modeling Patient-Derived Glioblastoma with Cerebral Organoids. Cell Rep 26(12): 3203-3211 e3205.
- Litvinov I. V., Bizet A. A., Binamer Y., Jones D. A., Sasseville D. and Philip A. (2011). CD109 release from the cell surface in human keratinocytes regulates TGF-beta receptor expression, TGF-beta signalling and STAT3 activation: relevance to psoriasis. Exp Dermatol 20(8): 627-632.
- Liu C., Sage J. C., Miller M. R., Verhaak R. G., Hippenmeyer S., Vogel H., Foreman O., Bronson R. T., Nishiyama A., Luo L. and Zong H. (2011). Mosaic analysis with double markers reveals tumor cell of origin in glioma. Cell 146(2): 209-221.
- Liu G., Yuan X., Zeng Z., Tunici P., Ng H., Abdulkadir I. R., Lu L., Irvin D., Black K. L. and Yu J. S. (2006). Analysis of gene expression and chemoresistance of CD133+ cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. Mol Cancer 5: 67.
- Liu T., Li A., Xu Y. and Xin Y. (2019). Momelotinib sensitizes glioblastoma cells to temozolomide by enhancement of autophagy via JAK2/STAT3 inhibition. Oncol Rep 41(3): 1883-1892.
- Louis D. N., Ohgaki H., Wiestler O. D., Cavenee W. K., Burger P. C., Jouvet A., Scheithauer B. W. and Kleihues P. (2007). The 2007 WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system. Acta Neuropathol 114(2): 97-109.
- Louis D. N., Perry A., Reifenberger G., von Deimling A., Figarella-Branger D., Cavenee W. K., Ohgaki H., Wiestler O. D., Kleihues P. and Ellison D. W. (2016). The 2016 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary. Acta Neuropathol 131(6): 803-820.
- Louis D. N., Perry A., Wesseling P., Brat D. J., Cree I. A., Figarella-Branger D., Hawkins C., Ng H. K., Pfister S. M., Reifenberger G., Soffietti R., von Deimling A. and Ellison D. W. (2021). The 2021 WHO Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary. Neuro Oncol 23(8): 1231-1251.
- Mani S. A., Guo W., Liao M. J., Eaton E. N., Ayyanan A., Zhou A. Y., Brooks M., Reinhard F., Zhang C. C., Shipitsin M., Campbell L. L., Polyak K., Brisken C., Yang J. and Weinberg R. A. (2008). The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. Cell 133(4): 704-715.
- McGranahan T., Therkelsen K. E., Ahmad S. and Nagpal S. (2019). Current State of Immunotherapy for Treatment of Glioblastoma. Curr Treat Options Oncol 20(3): 24.
- McKillop I. H., Girardi C. A. and Thompson K. J. (2019). Role of fatty acid binding proteins (FABPs) in cancer development and progression. Cell Signal 62: 109336.
- Meacham C. E. and Morrison S. J. (2013). Tumour heterogeneity and cancer cell plasticity. Nature 501(7467): 328-337.
- Medikonda R., Dunn G., Rahman M., Fecci P. and Lim M. (2021). A review of glioblastoma immunotherapy. J Neurooncol 151(1): 41-53.
- Mii S., Murakumo Y., Asai N., Jijiwa M., Hagiwara S., Kato T., Asai M., Enomoto A., Ushida K., Sobue S., Ichihara M. and Takahashi M. (2012). Epidermal hyperplasia and appendage abnormalities in mice lacking CD109. Am J Pathol 181(4): 1180-1189.
- Minata M., Audia A., Shi J., Lu S., Bernstock J., Pavlyukov M. S., Das A., Kim S. H., Shin Y. J., Lee Y., Koo H., Snigdha K., Waghmare I., Guo X., Mohyeldin A., Gallego-Perez D., Wang J., Chen D., Cheng P., Mukheef F., Contreras M., Reyes J. F., Vaillant B., Sulman E. P., Cheng S. Y., Markert J. M., Tannous B. A., Lu X., Kango-Singh M., Lee L. J., Nam D. H., Nakano I. and Bhat K. P. (2019). Phenotypic Plasticity of Invasive Edge Glioma Stem-like Cells in Response to Ionizing Radiation. Cell Rep 26(7): 1893-1905 e1897.
- Mitchell D. A., Batich K. A., Gunn M. D., Huang M. N., Sanchez-Perez L., Nair S. K., Congdon K. L., Reap E. A., Archer G. E., Desjardins A., Friedman A. H., Friedman H. S., Herndon J. E., 2nd, Coan A., McLendon R. E., Reardon D. A., Vredenburgh J. J., Bigner D. D. and Sampson J. H. (2015). Tetanus toxoid and CCL3 improve dendritic cell vaccines in mice and glioblastoma patients. Nature 519(7543): 366-369.

Molinaro A. M., Taylor J. W., Wiencke J. K. and Wrensch M. R. (2019). Genetic and molecular epidemiology of adult diffuse glioma. Nat Rev Neurol 15(7): 405-417.

Murphy E. J., Ówada Y., Kitanaka N., Kondo H. and Glatz J. F. (2005). Brain arachidonic acid incorporation is decreased in heart fatty acid binding protein gene-ablated mice. Biochemistry 44(16): 6350-6360.

Murray L. J., Bruno E., Uchida N., Hoffman R., Nayar R., Yeo E. L., Schuh A. C. and Sutherland D. R. (1999). CD109 is expressed on a subpopulation of CD34+ cells enriched in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Exp Hematol 27(8): 1282-1294.

Nagy J. A., Chang S. H., Shih S. C., Dvorak A. M. and Dvorak H. F. (2010). Heterogeneity of the tumor vasculature. Semin Thromb Hemost 36(3): 321-331.

Nakanishi M., Niidome T., Matsuda S., Akaike A., Kihara T. and Sugimoto H. (2007). Microglia-derived interleukin-6 and leukaemia inhibitory factor promote astrocytic differentiation of neural stem/progenitor cells. Eur J Neurosci 25(3): 649-658.

Nayak T., Trotter J. and Sakry D. (2018). The Intracellular Cleavage Product of the NG2 Proteoglycan Modulates Translation and Cell-Cycle Kinetics via Effects on mTORC1/FMRP Signaling. Front Cell Neurosci 12: 231.

Nduom E. K., Weller M. and Heimberger A. B. (2015). Immunosuppressive mechanisms in glioblastoma. Neuro Oncol 17 Suppl 7: vii9-vii14.

- Neffel C., Laffy J., Filbin M. G., Hara T., Shore M. E., Rahme G. J., Richman A. R., Silverbush D., Shaw M. L., Hebert C. M., Dewitt J., Gritsch S., Perez E. M., Gonzalez Castro L. N., Lan X., Druck N., Rodman C., Dionne D., Kaplan A., Bertalan M. S., Small J., Pelton K., Becker S., Bonal D., Nguyen Q. D., Servis R. L., Fung J. M., Mylvaganam R., Mayr L., Gojo J., Haberler C., Geyeregger R., Czech T., Slavc I., Nahed B. V., Curry W. T., Carter B. S., Wakimoto H., Brastianos P. K., Batchelor T. T., Stemmer-Rachamimov A., Martinez-Lage M., Frosch M. P., Stamenkovic I., Riggi N., Rheinbay E., Monje M., Rozenblatt-Rosen O., Cahill D. P., Patel A. P., Hunter T., Verma I. M., Ligon K. L., Louis D. N., Regev A., Bernstein B. E., Tirosh I. and Suva M. L. (2019). An Integrative Model of Cellular States, Plasticity, and Genetics for Glioblastoma. Cell 178(4): 835-849 e821.
- Nevo J., Mai A., Tuomi S., Pellinen T., Pentikainen O. T., Heikkila P., Lundin J., Joensuu H., Bono P. and Ivaska J. (2010). Mammary-derived growth inhibitor (MDGI) interacts with integrin alpha-subunits and suppresses integrin activity and invasion. Oncogene 29(49): 6452-6463.
- Nevo J., Mattila E., Pellinen T., Yamamoto D. L., Sara H., Iljin K., Kallioniemi O., Bono P., Heikkila P., Joensuu H., Warri A. and Ivaska J. (2009). Mammary-derived growth inhibitor alters traffic of EGFR and induces a novel form of cetuximab resistance. Clin Cancer Res 15(21): 6570-6581.
- Nguyen T. D. and DeAngelis L. M. (2007). Brain metastases. Neurol Clin 25(4): 1173-1192, x-xi.
- Ni T., He Z., Dai Y., Yao J., Guo Q. and Wei L. (2017). Oroxylin A suppresses the development and growth of colorectal cancer through reprogram of HIF1alpha-modulated fatty acid metabolism. Cell Death Dis 8(6): e2865.

Niwa H., Burdon T., Chambers I. and Smith A. (1998). Self-renewal of pluripotent embryonic stem cells is mediated via activation of STAT3. Genes Dev 12(13): 2048-2060.

- Ntambi J. M. (1999). Regulation of stearoyl-CoA desaturase by polyunsaturated fatty acids and cholesterol. J Lipid Res 40(9): 1549-1558.
- O'Brien C. A., Pollett A., Gallinger S. and Dick J. E. (2007). A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice. Nature 445(7123): 106-110.
- O'Rourke D. M., Nasrallah M. P., Desai A., Melenhorst J. J., Mansfield K., Morrissette J. J. D., Martinez-Lage M., Brem S., Maloney E., Shen A., Isaacs R., Mohan S., Plesa G., Lacey S. F., Navenot J. M., Zheng Z., Levine B. L., Okada H., June C. H., Brogdon J. L. and Maus M. V. (2017). A single dose of peripherally infused EGFRvIII-directed CAR T cells mediates antigen loss and induces adaptive resistance in patients with recurrent glioblastoma. Sci Transl Med 9(399).
- Ohgaki H. and Kleihues P. (2013). The definition of primary and secondary glioblastoma. Clin Cancer Res 19(4): 764-772.
- Osswald M., Jung E., Sahm F., Solecki G., Venkataramani V., Blaes J., Weil S., Horstmann H., Wiestler B., Syed M., Huang L., Ratliff M., Karimian Jazi K., Kurz F. T., Schmenger T., Lemke D., Gommel M., Pauli M., Liao Y., Haring P., Pusch S., Herl V., Steinhauser

C., Krunic D., Jarahian M., Miletic H., Berghoff A. S., Griesbeck O., Kalamakis G., Garaschuk O., Preusser M., Weiss S., Liu H., Heiland S., Platten M., Huber P. E., Kuner T., von Deimling A., Wick W. and Winkler F. (2015). Brain tumour cells interconnect to a functional and resistant network. Nature 528(7580): 93-98.

- Ostenfeld M. S., Fehrenbacher N., Hoyer-Hansen M., Thomsen C., Farkas T. and Jaattela M. (2005). Effective tumor cell death by sigma-2 receptor ligand siramesine involves lysosomal leakage and oxidative stress. Cancer Res 65(19): 8975-8983.
- Ostrom Q. T., Patil N., Cioffi G., Waite K., Kruchko C. and Barnholtz-Sloan J. S. (2020). CBTRUS Statistical Report: Primary Brain and Other Central Nervous System Tumors Diagnosed in the United States in 2013-2017. Neuro Oncol 22(12 Suppl 2): iv1-iv96.
- Pan J., Tristram-Nagle S. and Nagle J. F. (2009). Effect of cholesterol on structural and mechanical properties of membranes depends on lipid chain saturation. Phys Rev E Stat Nonlin Soft Matter Phys 80(2 Pt 1): 021931.
- Park N. I., Guilhamon P., Desai K., McAdam R. F., Langille E., O'Connor M., Lan X., Whetstone H., Coutinho F. J., Vanner R. J., Ling E., Prinos P., Lee L., Selvadurai H., Atwal G., Kushida M., Clarke I. D., Voisin V., Cusimano M. D., Bernstein M., Das S., Bader G., Arrowsmith C. H., Angers S., Huang X., Lupien M. and Dirks P. B. (2017). ASCL1 Reorganizes Chromatin to Direct Neuronal Fate and Suppress Tumorigenicity of Glioblastoma Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell 21(3): 411.
- Patel A. P., Tirosh I., Trombetta J. J., Shalek A. K., Gillespie S. M., Wakimoto H., Cahill D. P., Nahed B. V., Curry W. T., Martuza R. L., Louis D. N., Rozenblatt-Rosen O., Suva M. L., Regev A. and Bernstein B. E. (2014). Single-cell RNA-seq highlights intratumoral heterogeneity in primary glioblastoma. Science 344(6190): 1396-1401.
- Petersen N. H., Kirkegaard T., Olsen O. D. and Jaattela M. (2010). Connecting Hsp70, sphingolipid metabolism and lysosomal stability. Cell Cycle 9(12): 2305-2309.
- Piccirillo S. G., Reynolds B. A., Zanetti N., Lamorte G., Binda E., Broggi G., Brem H., Olivi A., Dimeco F. and Vescovi A. L. (2006). Bone morphogenetic proteins inhibit the tumorigenic potential of human brain tumour-initiating cells. Nature 444(7120): 761-765.
- Piccirillo S. G. M., Colman S., Potter N. E., van Delft F. W., Lillis S., Carnicer M. J., Kearney L., Watts C. and Greaves M. (2015). Genetic and functional diversity of propagating cells in glioblastoma. Stem Cell Reports 4(1): 7-15.
- Prados M. D., Byron S. A., Tran N. L., Phillips J. J., Molinaro A. M., Ligon K. L., Wen P. Y., Kuhn J. G., Mellinghoff I. K., de Groot J. F., Colman H., Cloughesy T. F., Chang S. M., Ryken T. C., Tembe W. D., Kiefer J. A., Berens M. E., Craig D. W., Carpten J. D. and Trent J. M. (2015). Toward precision medicine in glioblastoma: the promise and the challenges. Neuro Oncol 17(8): 1051-1063.
- Prager B. C., Bhargava S., Mahadev V., Hubert C. G. and Rich J. N. (2020). Glioblastoma Stem Cells: Driving Resilience through Chaos. Trends Cancer 6(3): 223-235.
- Prager B. C., Xie Q., Bao S. and Rich J. N. (2019). Cancer Stem Cells: The Architects of the Tumor Ecosystem. Cell Stem Cell 24(1): 41-53.
- Preusser M., de Ribaupierre S., Wohrer A., Erridge S. C., Hegi M., Weller M. and Stupp R. (2011). Current concepts and management of glioblastoma. Ann Neurol 70(1): 9-21.
- Priego N., Zhu L., Monteiro C., Mulders M., Wasilewski D., Bindeman W., Doglio L., Martinez L., Martinez-Saez E., Ramon Y. C. S., Megias D., Hernandez-Encinas E., Blanco-Aparicio C., Martinez L., Zarzuela E., Munoz J., Fustero-Torre C., Pineiro-Yanez E., Hernandez-Lain A., Bertero L., Poli V., Sanchez-Martinez M., Menendez J. A., Soffietti R., Bosch-Barrera J. and Valiente M. (2018). STAT3 labels a subpopulation of reactive astrocytes required for brain metastasis. Nat Med 24(7): 1024-1035.
- Puputti M., Tynninen O., Sihto H., Blom T., Maenpaa H., Isola J., Paetau A., Joensuu H. and Nupponen N. N. (2006). Amplification of KIT, PDGFRA, VEGFR2, and EGFR in gliomas. Mol Cancer Res 4(12): 927-934.
- Pyonteck S. M., Akkari L., Schuhmacher A. J., Bowman R. L., Sevenich L., Quail D. F., Olson O. C., Quick M. L., Huse J. T., Teijeiro V., Setty M., Leslie C. S., Oei Y., Pedraza A., Zhang J., Brennan C. W., Sutton J. C., Holland E. C., Daniel D. and Joyce J. A. (2013). CSF-1R inhibition alters macrophage polarization and blocks glioma progression. Nat Med 19(10): 1264-1272.
- Qiu W., Song S., Chen W., Zhang J., Yang H. and Chen Y. (2019). Hypoxia-induced EPHB2 promotes invasive potential of glioblastoma. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 12(2): 539-548.

- Quail D. F. and Joyce J. A. (2017). The Microenvironmental Landscape of Brain Tumors. Cancer Cell 31(3): 326-341.
- Ransohoff R. M. (2016). A polarizing question: do M1 and M2 microglia exist? Nat Neurosci 19(8): 987-991.
- Reifenberger G., Wirsching H. G., Knobbe-Thomsen C. B. and Weller M. (2017). Advances in the molecular genetics of gliomas implications for classification and therapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 14(7): 434-452.
- Ricci-Vitiani L., Lombardi D. G., Pilozzi E., Biffoni M., Todaro M., Peschle C. and De Maria R. (2007). Identification and expansion of human colon-cancer-initiating cells. Nature 445(7123): 111-115.
- Ricci-Vitiani L., Pallini R., Biffoni M., Todaro M., Invernici G., Cenci T., Maira G., Parati E. A., Stassi G., Larocca L. M. and De Maria R. (2010). Tumour vascularization via endothelial differentiation of glioblastoma stem-like cells. Nature 468(7325): 824-828.
- Rich J. N. (2016). Cancer stem cells: understanding tumor hierarchy and heterogeneity. Medicine (Baltimore) 95(1 Suppl 1): S2-S7.
- Rich J. N., Reardon D. A., Peery T., Dowell J. M., Quinn J. A., Penne K. L., Wikstrand C. J., Van Duyn L. B., Dancey J. E., McLendon R. E., Kao J. C., Stenzel T. T., Ahmed Rasheed B. K., Tourt-Uhlig S. E., Herndon J. E., 2nd, Vredenburgh J. J., Sampson J. H., Friedman A. H., Bigner D. D. and Friedman H. S. (2004). Phase II trial of gefitinib in recurrent glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol 22(1): 133-142.
- Richieri G. V., Ogata R. T., Zimmerman A. W., Veerkamp J. H. and Kleinfeld A. M. (2000). Fatty acid binding proteins from different tissues show distinct patterns of fatty acid interactions. Biochemistry 39(24): 7197-7204.
- Robertson F. L., Marques-Torrejon M. A., Morrison G. M. and Pollard S. M. (2019). Experimental models and tools to tackle glioblastoma. Dis Model Mech 12(9).
- Rosenfeld M. R., Ye X., Supko J. G., Desideri S., Grossman S. A., Brem S., Mikkelson T., Wang D., Chang Y. C., Hu J., McAfee Q., Fisher J., Troxel A. B., Piao S., Heitjan D. F., Tan K. S., Pontiggia L., O'Dwyer P. J., Davis L. E. and Amaravadi R. K. (2014). A phase I/II trial of hydroxychloroquine in conjunction with radiation therapy and concurrent and adjuvant temozolomide in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma multiforme. Autophagy 10(8): 1359-1368.
- Roth P. and Weller M. (2014). Challenges to targeting epidermal growth factor receptor in glioblastoma: escape mechanisms and combinatorial treatment strategies. Neuro Oncol 16 Suppl 8: viii14-19.
- Rysman E., Brusselmans K., Scheys K., Timmermans L., Derua R., Munck S., Van Veldhoven P. P., Waltregny D., Daniels V. W., Machiels J., Vanderhoydonc F., Smans K., Waelkens E., Verhoeven G. and Swinnen J. V. (2010). De novo lipogenesis protects cancer cells from free radicals and chemotherapeutics by promoting membrane lipid saturation. Cancer Res 70(20): 8117-8126.
- Saha D., Martuza R. L. and Rabkin S. D. (2017). Macrophage Polarization Contributes to Glioblastoma Eradication by Combination Immunovirotherapy and Immune Checkpoint Blockade. Cancer Cell 32(2): 253-267 e255.
- Said B. and Schulz H. (1984). Fatty acid binding protein from rat heart. The fatty acid binding proteins from rat heart and liver are different proteins. J Biol Chem 259(2): 1155-1159.
- Sampson J. H., Choi B. D., Sanchez-Perez L., Suryadevara C. M., Snyder D. J., Flores C. T., Schmittling R. J., Nair S. K., Reap E. A., Norberg P. K., Herndon J. E., 2nd, Kuan C. T., Morgan R. A., Rosenberg S. A. and Johnson L. A. (2014). EGFRvIII mCAR-modified T-cell therapy cures mice with established intracerebral glioma and generates host immunity against tumor-antigen loss. Clin Cancer Res 20(4): 972-984.
- Sato T., Murakumo Y., Hagiwara S., Jijiwa M., Suzuki C., Yatabe Y. and Takahashi M. (2007). High-level expression of CD109 is frequently detected in lung squamous cell carcinomas. Pathol Int 57(11): 719-724.
- Saygin C., Matei D., Majeti R., Reizes O. and Lathia J. D. (2019). Targeting Cancer Stemness in the Clinic: From Hype to Hope. Cell Stem Cell 24(1): 25-40.
- Schaap F. G., Binas B., Danneberg H., van der Vusse G. J. and Glatz J. F. (1999). Impaired long-chain fatty acid utilization by cardiac myocytes isolated from mice lacking the hearttype fatty acid binding protein gene. Circ Res 85(4): 329-337.

- Schran H. F., Petryk L., Chang C. T., O'Connor R. and Gelbert M. B. (1996). The pharmacokinetics and bioavailability of clemastine and phenylpropanolamine in single-component and combination formulations. J Clin Pharmacol 36(10): 911-922.
- Schumacher T., Bunse L., Pusch S., Sahm F., Wiestler B., Quandt J., Menn O., Osswald M., Oezen I., Ott M., Keil M., Balss J., Rauschenbach K., Grabowska A. K., Vogler I., Diekmann J., Trautwein N., Eichmuller S. B., Okun J., Stevanovic S., Riemer A. B., Sahin U., Friese M. A., Beckhove P., von Deimling A., Wick W. and Platten M. (2014). A vaccine targeting mutant IDH1 induces antitumour immunity. Nature 512(7514): 324-327.
- Seano G. and Jain R. K. (2020). Vessel co-option in glioblastoma: emerging insights and opportunities. Angiogenesis 23(1): 9-16.
- Seliger C., Genbrugge E., Gorlia T., Chinot O., Stupp R., Nabors B., Weller M., Hau P. and Group E. B. T. (2020). Use of metformin and outcome of patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma: Pooled analysis. Int J Cancer 146(3): 803-809.
- Seliger C., Meyer A. L., Renner K., Leidgens V., Moeckel S., Jachnik B., Dettmer K., Tischler U., Gerthofer V., Rauer L., Uhl M., Proescholdt M., Bogdahn U., Riemenschneider M. J., Oefner P. J., Kreutz M., Vollmann-Zwerenz A. and Hau P. (2016). Metformin inhibits proliferation and migration of glioblastoma cells independently of TGF-beta2. Cell Cycle 15(13): 1755-1766.
- Serrano-Puebla A. and Boya P. (2018). Lysosomal membrane permeabilization as a cell death mechanism in cancer cells. Biochem Soc Trans 46(2): 207-215.
- Shaifer C. A., Huang J. and Lin P. C. (2010). Glioblastoma cells incorporate into tumor vasculature and contribute to vascular radioresistance. Int J Cancer 127(9): 2063-2075.
- Sherry M. M., Reeves A., Wu J. K. and Cochran B. H. (2009). STAT3 is required for proliferation and maintenance of multipotency in glioblastoma stem cells. Stem Cells 27(10): 2383-2392.
- Shiraki Y., Mii S., Enomoto A., Momota H., Han Y. P., Kato T., Ushida K., Kato A., Asai N., Murakumo Y., Aoki K., Suzuki H., Ohka F., Wakabayashi T., Todo T., Ogawa S., Natsume A. and Takahashi M. (2017). Significance of perivascular tumour cells defined by CD109 expression in progression of glioma. J Pathol 243(4): 468-480.
- Siegelin M. D., Schneider E., Westhoff M. A., Wirtz C. R. and Karpel-Massler G. (2021). Current state and future perspective of drug repurposing in malignant glioma. Semin Cancer Biol 68: 92-104.
- Sihto H., Tynninen O., Butzow R., Saarialho-Kere U. and Joensuu H. (2007). Endothelial cell KIT expression in human tumours. J Pathol 211(4): 481-488.
- Singh S. K., Clarke I. D., Terasaki M., Bonn V. E., Hawkins C., Squire J. and Dirks P. B. (2003). Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Res 63(18): 5821-5828.
- Singh S. K., Hawkins C., Clarke I. D., Squire J. A., Bayani J., Hide T., Henkelman R. M., Cusimano M. D. and Dirks P. B. (2004). Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 432(7015): 396-401.
- Snaebjornsson M. T., Janaki-Raman S. and Schulze A. (2020). Greasing the Wheels of the Cancer Machine: The Role of Lipid Metabolism in Cancer. Cell Metab 31(1): 62-76.
- Soda Y., Myskiw C., Rommel A. and Verma I. M. (2013). Mechanisms of neovascularization and resistance to anti-angiogenic therapies in glioblastoma multiforme. J Mol Med (Berl) 91(4): 439-448.
- Sofroniew M. V. (2020). Astrocyte Reactivity: Subtypes, States, and Functions in CNS Innate Immunity. Trends Immunol 41(9): 758-770.
- Sofroniew M. V. and Vinters H. V. (2010). Astrocytes: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol 119(1): 7-35.
- Son M. J., Woolard K., Nam D. H., Lee J. and Fine H. A. (2009). SSEA-1 is an enrichment marker for tumor-initiating cells in human glioblastoma. Cell Stem Cell 4(5): 440-452.
- Song L., Smith M. A., Doshi P., Sasser K., Fulp W., Altiok S. and Haura E. B. (2014). Antitumor efficacy of the anti-interleukin-6 (IL-6) antibody siltuximab in mouse xenograft models of lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 9(7): 974-982.
- Sottoriva A., Spiteri I., Piccirillo S. G., Touloumis A., Collins V. P., Marioni J. C., Curtis C., Watts C. and Tavare S. (2013). Intratumor heterogeneity in human glioblastoma reflects cancer evolutionary dynamics. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(10): 4009-4014.
- Spitzner M., Roesler B., Bielfeld C., Emons G., Gaedcke J., Wolff H. A., Rave-Frank M., Kramer F., Beissbarth T., Kitz J., Wienands J., Ghadimi B. M., Ebner R., Ried T. and

Grade M. (2014). STAT3 inhibition sensitizes colorectal cancer to chemoradiotherapy in vitro and in vivo. Int J Cancer 134(4): 997-1007.

- Stepanenko A. A. and Chekhonin V. P. (2018). Recent Advances in Oncolytic Virotherapy and Immunotherapy for Glioblastoma: A Glimmer of Hope in the Search for an Effective Therapy? Cancers (Basel) 10(12).
- Strobel H., Baisch T., Fitzel R., Schilberg K., Siegelin M. D., Karpel-Massler G., Debatin K. M. and Westhoff M. A. (2019). Temozolomide and Other Alkylating Agents in Glioblastoma Therapy. Biomedicines 7(3).
- Stupp R., Hegi M. E., Gorlia T., Erridge S. C., Perry J., Hong Y. K., Aldape K. D., Lhermitte B., Pietsch T., Grujicic D., Steinbach J. P., Wick W., Tarnawski R., Nam D. H., Hau P., Weyerbrock A., Taphoorn M. J., Shen C. C., Rao N., Thurzo L., Herrlinger U., Gupta T., Kortmann R. D., Adamska K., McBain C., Brandes A. A., Tonn J. C., Schnell O., Wiegel T., Kim C. Y., Nabors L. B., Reardon D. A., van den Bent M. J., Hicking C., Markivskyy A., Picard M., Weller M., European Organisation for R., Treatment of C., Canadian Brain Tumor C. and team C. s. (2014). Cilengitide combined with standard treatment for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma with methylated MGMT promoter (CENTRIC EORTC 26071-22072 study): a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 15(10): 1100-1108.
- Stupp R., Hegi M. E., Mason W. P., van den Bent M. J., Taphoorn M. J., Janzer R. C., Ludwin S. K., Allgeier A., Fisher B., Belanger K., Hau P., Brandes A. A., Gijtenbeek J., Marosi C., Vecht C. J., Mokhtari K., Wesseling P., Villa S., Eisenhauer E., Gorlia T., Weller M., Lacombe D., Cairncross J. G., Mirimanoff R. O., European Organisation for R., Treatment of Cancer Brain T., Radiation Oncology G. and National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials G. (2009). Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. Lancet Oncol 10(5): 459-466.
- Stupp R., Mason W. P., van den Bent M. J., Weller M., Fisher B., Taphoorn M. J., Belanger K., Brandes A. A., Marosi C., Bogdahn U., Curschmann J., Janzer R. C., Ludwin S. K., Gorlia T., Allgeier A., Lacombe D., Cairncross J. G., Eisenhauer E., Mirimanoff R. O., European Organisation for R., Treatment of Cancer Brain T., Radiotherapy G. and National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials G. (2005). Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 352(10): 987-996.
- Stupp R., Taillibert S., Kanner A., Read W., Steinberg D., Lhermitte B., Toms S., Idbaih A., Ahluwalia M. S., Fink K., Di Meco F., Lieberman F., Zhu J. J., Stragliotto G., Tran D., Brem S., Hottinger A., Kirson E. D., Lavy-Shahaf G., Weinberg U., Kim C. Y., Paek S. H., Nicholas G., Bruna J., Hirte H., Weller M., Palti Y., Hegi M. E. and Ram Z. (2017). Effect of Tumor-Treating Fields Plus Maintenance Temozolomide vs Maintenance Temozolomide Alone on Survival in Patients With Glioblastoma: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 318(23): 2306-2316.
- Sukhai M. A., Prabha S., Hurren R., Rutledge A. C., Lee A. Y., Sriskanthadevan S., Sun H., Wang X., Skrtic M., Seneviratne A., Cusimano M., Jhas B., Gronda M., MacLean N., Cho E. E., Spagnuolo P. A., Sharmeen S., Gebbia M., Urbanus M., Eppert K., Dissanayake D., Jonet A., Dassonville-Klimpt A., Li X., Datti A., Ohashi P. S., Wrana J., Rogers I., Sonnet P., Ellis W. Y., Corey S. J., Eaves C., Minden M. D., Wang J. C., Dick J. E., Nislow C., Giaever G. and Schimmer A. D. (2013). Lysosomal disruption preferentially targets acute myeloid leukemia cells and progenitors. J Clin Invest 123(1): 315-328.
- Sung H., Ferlay J., Siegel R. L., Laversanne M., Soerjomataram I., Jemal A. and Bray F. (2021). Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin 71(3): 209-249.
- Sutherland D. R., Yeo E., Ryan A., Mills G. B., Bailey D. and Baker M. A. (1991). Identification of a cell-surface antigen associated with activated T lymphoblasts and activated platelets. Blood 77(1): 84-93.
- Suva M. L., Rheinbay E., Gillespie S. M., Patel A. P., Wakimoto H., Rabkin S. D., Riggi N., Chi A. S., Cahill D. P., Nahed B. V., Curry W. T., Martuza R. L., Rivera M. N., Rossetti N., Kasif S., Beik S., Kadri S., Tirosh I., Wortman I., Shalek A. K., Rozenblatt-Rosen O., Regev A., Louis D. N. and Bernstein B. E. (2014). Reconstructing and reprogramming the tumor-propagating potential of glioblastoma stem-like cells. Cell 157(3): 580-594.

- Suva M. L. and Tirosh I. (2020). The Glioma Stem Cell Model in the Era of Single-Cell Genomics. Cancer Cell 37(5): 630-636.
- Takahashi K., Tanabe K., Ohnuki M., Narita M., Ichisaka T., Tomoda K. and Yamanaka S. (2007). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131(5): 861-872.
- Takahashi K. and Yamanaka S. (2006). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126(4): 663-676.
- Tang Z., Shen Q., Xie H., Zhou X., Li J., Feng J., Liu H., Wang W., Zhang S. and Ni S. (2016). Elevated expression of FABP3 and FABP4 cooperatively correlates with poor prognosis in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Oncotarget 7(29): 46253-46262.
- Tate M. C. and Aghi M. K. (2009). Biology of angiogenesis and invasion in glioma. Neurotherapeutics 6(3): 447-457.
- Tirosh I., Venteicher A. S., Hebert C., Escalante L. E., Patel A. P., Yizhak K., Fisher J. M., Rodman C., Mount C., Filbin M. G., Neftel C., Desai N., Nyman J., Izar B., Luo C. C., Francis J. M., Patel A. A., Onozato M. L., Riggi N., Livak K. J., Gennert D., Satija R., Nahed B. V., Curry W. T., Martuza R. L., Mylvaganam R., Iafrate A. J., Frosch M. P., Golub T. R., Rivera M. N., Getz G., Rozenblatt-Rosen O., Cahill D. P., Monje M., Bernstein B. E., Louis D. N., Regev A. and Suva M. L. (2016). Single-cell RNA-seq supports a developmental hierarchy in human oligodendroglioma. Nature 539(7628): 309-313.
- Tunici P., Bissola L., Lualdi E., Pollo B., Cajola L., Broggi G., Sozzi G. and Finocchiaro G. (2004). Genetic alterations and in vivo tumorigenicity of neurospheres derived from an adult glioblastoma. Mol Cancer 3: 25.
- Turner M. C. (2012). Epidemiology: allergy history, IgE, and cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother 61(9): 1493-1510.
- Turski C. A., Turski G. N., Chen B., Wang H., Heidari M., Li L., Noguchi K. K., Westmark C., Duncan I. and Ikonomidou C. (2018). Clemastine effects in rat models of a myelination disorder. Pediatr Res 83(6): 1200-1206.
- Ulrich T. A., de Juan Pardo E. M. and Kumar S. (2009). The mechanical rigidity of the extracellular matrix regulates the structure, motility, and proliferation of glioma cells. Cancer Res 69(10): 4167-4174.
- van den Bent M. J., Brandes A. A., Rampling R., Kouwenhoven M. C., Kros J. M., Carpentier A. F., Clement P. M., Frenay M., Campone M., Baurain J. F., Armand J. P., Taphoorn M. J., Tosoni A., Kletzl H., Klughammer B., Lacombe D. and Gorlia T. (2009). Randomized phase II trial of erlotinib versus temozolomide or carmustine in recurrent glioblastoma: EORTC brain tumor group study 26034. J Clin Oncol 27(8): 1268-1274.
- Veerkamp J. H., Paulussen R. J., Peeters R. A., Maatman R. G., van Moerkerk H. T. and van Kuppevelt T. H. (1990). Detection, tissue distribution and (sub)cellular localization of fatty acid-binding protein types. Mol Cell Biochem 98(1-2): 11-18.
- Venkataramani V., Tanev D. I., Strahle C., Studier-Fischer A., Fankhauser L., Kessler T., Korber C., Kardorff M., Ratliff M., Xie R., Horstmann H., Messer M., Paik S. P., Knabbe J., Sahm F., Kurz F. T., Acikgoz A. A., Herrmannsdorfer F., Agarwal A., Bergles D. E., Chalmers A., Miletic H., Turcan S., Mawrin C., Hanggi D., Liu H. K., Wick W., Winkler F. and Kuner T. (2019). Glutamatergic synaptic input to glioma cells drives brain tumour progression. Nature 573(7775): 532-538.
- Venkatesh H. S., Johung T. B., Caretti V., Noll A., Tang Y., Nagaraja S., Gibson E. M., Mount C. W., Polepalli J., Mitra S. S., Woo P. J., Malenka R. C., Vogel H., Bredel M., Mallick P. and Monje M. (2015). Neuronal Activity Promotes Glioma Growth through Neuroligin-3 Secretion. Cell 161(4): 803-816.
- Venkatesh H. S., Morishita W., Geraghty A. C., Silverbush D., Gillespie S. M., Arzt M., Tam L. T., Espenel C., Ponnuswami A., Ni L., Woo P. J., Taylor K. R., Agarwal A., Regev A., Brang D., Vogel H., Hervey-Jumper S., Bergles D. E., Suva M. L., Malenka R. C. and Monje M. (2019). Electrical and synaptic integration of glioma into neural circuits. Nature 573(7775): 539-545.
- Venkatesh H. S., Tam L. T., Woo P. J., Lennon J., Nagaraja S., Gillespie S. M., Ni J., Duveau D. Y., Morris P. J., Zhao J. J., Thomas C. J. and Monje M. (2017). Targeting neuronal activity-regulated neuroligin-3 dependency in high-grade glioma. Nature 549(7673): 533-537.

Venneti S. and Thompson C. B. (2017). Metabolic Reprogramming in Brain Tumors. Annu Rev Pathol 12: 515-545.

Venteicher A. S., Tirosh I., Hebert C., Yizhak K., Neftel C., Filbin M. G., Hovestadt V., Escalante L. E., Shaw M. L., Rodman C., Gillespie S. M., Dionne D., Luo C. C., Ravichandran H., Mylvaganam R., Mount C., Onozato M. L., Nahed B. V., Wakimoto H., Curry W. T., Iafrate A. J., Rivera M. N., Frosch M. P., Golub T. R., Brastianos P. K., Getz G., Patel A. P., Monje M., Cahill D. P., Rozenblatt-Rosen O., Louis D. N., Bernstein B. E., Regev A. and Suva M. L. (2017). Decoupling genetics, lineages, and microenvironment in IDH-mutant gliomas by single-cell RNA-seq. Science 355(6332).

- Verhaak R. G., Hoadley K. A., Purdom E., Wang V., Qi Y., Wilkerson M. D., Miller C. R., Ding L., Golub T., Mesirov J. P., Alexe G., Lawrence M., O'Kelly M., Tamayo P., Weir B. A., Gabriel S., Winckler W., Gupta S., Jakkula L., Feiler H. S., Hodgson J. G., James C. D., Sarkaria J. N., Brennan C., Kahn A., Spellman P. T., Wilson R. K., Speed T. P., Gray J. W., Meyerson M., Getz G., Perou C. M., Hayes D. N. and Cancer Genome Atlas Research N. (2010). Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. Cancer Cell 17(1): 98-110.
- Wakimoto H., Kesari S., Farrell C. J., Curry W. T., Jr., Zaupa C., Aghi M., Kuroda T., Stemmer-Rachamimov A., Shah K., Liu T. C., Jeyaretna D. S., Debasitis J., Pruszak J., Martuza R. L. and Rabkin S. D. (2009). Human glioblastoma-derived cancer stem cells: establishment of invasive glioma models and treatment with oncolytic herpes simplex virus vectors. Cancer Res 69(8): 3472-3481.
- Walter F. R., Veszelka S., Pasztoi M., Peterfi Z. A., Toth A., Rakhely G., Cervenak L., Abraham C. S. and Deli M. A. (2015). Tesmilifene modifies brain endothelial functions and opens the blood-brain/blood-glioma barrier. J Neurochem 134(6): 1040-1054.
- Wang H., Lathia J. D., Wu Q., Wang J., Li Z., Heddleston J. M., Eyler C. E., Elderbroom J., Gallagher J., Schuschu J., MacSwords J., Cao Y., McLendon R. E., Wang X. F., Hjelmeland A. B. and Rich J. N. (2009). Targeting interleukin 6 signaling suppresses glioma stem cell survival and tumor growth. Stem Cells 27(10): 2393-2404.
- Wang J., Sakariassen P. O., Tsinkalovsky O., Immervoll H., Boe S. O., Svendsen A., Prestegarden L., Rosland G., Thorsen F., Stuhr L., Molven A., Bjerkvig R. and Enger P. O. (2008). CD133 negative glioma cells form tumors in nude rats and give rise to CD133 positive cells. Int J Cancer 122(4): 761-768.
- Wang Q., Hu B., Hu X., Kim H., Squatrito M., Scarpace L., deCarvalho A. C., Lyu S., Li P., Li Y., Barthel F., Cho H. J., Lin Y. H., Satani N., Martinez-Ledesma E., Zheng S., Chang E., Sauve C. G., Olar A., Lan Z. D., Finocchiaro G., Phillips J. J., Berger M. S., Gabrusiewicz K. R., Wang G., Eskilsson E., Hu J., Mikkelsen T., DePinho R. A., Muller F., Heimberger A. B., Sulman E. P., Nam D. H. and Verhaak R. G. W. (2017). Tumor Evolution of Glioma-Intrinsic Gene Expression Subtypes Associates with Immunological Changes in the Microenvironment. Cancer Cell 32(1): 42-56 e46.
- Wang R., Chadalavada K., Wilshire J., Kowalik U., Hovinga K. E., Geber A., Fligelman B., Leversha M., Brennan C. and Tabar V. (2010). Glioblastoma stem-like cells give rise to tumour endothelium. Nature 468(7325): 829-833.
- Wang Y., Huang N., Li H., Liu S., Chen X., Yu S., Wu N., Bian X. W., Shen H. Y., Li C. and Xiao L. (2017). Promoting oligodendroglial-oriented differentiation of glioma stem cell: a repurposing of quetiapine for the treatment of malignant glioma. Oncotarget 8(23): 37511-37524.
- Watkins S., Robel S., Kimbrough I. F., Robert S. M., Ellis-Davies G. and Sontheimer H. (2014). Disruption of astrocyte-vascular coupling and the blood-brain barrier by invading glioma cells. Nat Commun 5: 4196.
- Watt M. J., Clark A. K., Selth L. A., Haynes V. R., Lister N., Rebello R., Porter L. H., Niranjan B., Whitby S. T., Lo J., Huang C., Schittenhelm R. B., Anderson K. E., Furic L., Wijayaratne P. R., Matzaris M., Montgomery M. K., Papargiris M., Norden S., Febbraio M., Risbridger G. P., Frydenberg M., Nomura D. K. and Taylor R. A. (2019). Suppressing fatty acid uptake has therapeutic effects in preclinical models of prostate cancer. Sci Transl Med 11(478).
- Weller M., Butowski N., Tran D. D., Recht L. D., Lim M., Hirte H., Ashby L., Mechtler L., Goldlust S. A., Iwamoto F., Drappatz J., O'Rourke D. M., Wong M., Hamilton M. G., Finocchiaro G., Perry J., Wick W., Green J., He Y., Turner C. D., Yellin M. J., Keler T.,

Davis T. A., Stupp R., Sampson J. H. and investigators A. I. t. (2017). Rindopepimut with temozolomide for patients with newly diagnosed, EGFRvIII-expressing glioblastoma (ACT IV): a randomised, double-blind, international phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 18(10): 1373-1385.

Weyerhauser P., Kantelhardt S. R. and Kim E. L. (2018). Re-purposing Chloroquine for Glioblastoma: Potential Merits and Confounding Variables. Front Oncol 8: 335.

- Woroniecka K. I., Rhodin K. E., Chongsathidkiet P., Keith K. A. and Fecci P. E. (2018). Tcell Dysfunction in Glioblastoma: Applying a New Framework. Clin Cancer Res 24(16): 3792-3802.
- Wurth R., Pattarozzi A., Gatti M., Bajetto A., Corsaro A., Parodi A., Sirito R., Massollo M., Marini C., Zona G., Fenoglio D., Sambuceti G., Filaci G., Daga A., Barbieri F. and Florio T. (2013). Metformin selectively affects human glioblastoma tumor-initiating cell viability: A role for metformin-induced inhibition of Akt. Cell Cycle 12(1): 145-156.
- Yamakawa D., Jia W., Kidoya H., Hosojima S., Torigata M., Zhang L. and Takakura N. (2018). Visualization of Proliferative Vascular Endothelial Cells in Tumors in Vivo by Imaging Their Partner of Sld5-1 Promoter Activity. Am J Pathol 188(5): 1300-1314.
- Yan H., Parsons D. W., Jin G., McLendon R., Rasheed B. A., Yuan W., Kos I., Batinic-Haberle I., Jones S., Riggins G. J., Friedman H., Friedman A., Reardon D., Herndon J., Kinzler K. W., Velculescu V. E., Vogelstein B. and Bigner D. D. (2009). IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in gliomas. N Engl J Med 360(8): 765-773.
- Yang Y., Spitzer E., Kenney N., Zschiesche W., Li M., Kromminga A., Muller T., Spener F., Lezius A., Veerkamp J. H. and et al. (1994). Members of the fatty acid binding protein family are differentiation factors for the mammary gland. J Cell Biol 127(4): 1097-1109.
- Ye T. H., Yang F. F., Zhu Y. X., Li Y. L., Lei Q., Song X. J., Xia Y., Xiong Y., Zhang L. D., Wang N. Y., Zhao L. F., Gou H. F., Xie Y. M., Yang S. Y., Yu L. T., Yang L. and Wei Y. Q. (2017). Inhibition of Stat3 signaling pathway by nifuroxazide improves antitumor immunity and impairs colorectal carcinoma metastasis. Cell Death Dis 8(1): e2534.
- Yu H., Lee H., Herrmann A., Buettner R. and Jove R. (2014). Revisiting STAT3 signalling in cancer: new and unexpected biological functions. Nat Rev Cancer 14(11): 736-746.
- Yung W. K., Vredenburgh J. J., Cloughesy T. F., Nghiemphu P., Klencke B., Gilbert M. R., Reardon D. A. and Prados M. D. (2010). Safety and efficacy of erlotinib in first-relapse glioblastoma: a phase II open-label study. Neuro Oncol 12(10): 1061-1070.
- Zagzag D., Lukyanov Y., Lan L., Ali M. A., Esencay M., Mendez O., Yee H., Voura E. B. and Newcomb E. W. (2006). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 and VEGF upregulate CXCR4 in glioblastoma: implications for angiogenesis and glioma cell invasion. Lab Invest 86(12): 1221-1232.
- Zhou B. B., Zhang H., Damelin M., Geles K. G., Grindley J. C. and Dirks P. B. (2009). Tumour-initiating cells: challenges and opportunities for anticancer drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 8(10): 806-823.